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Continental Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an
investment holding company. The principal activities of
its subsidiaries (the Company and the subsidiaries are
hereinafter referred to as the “Group”) are the designing,
manufacturing, marketing and trading of fine jewellery and
diamonds. Also, the Group maintains an investment portfolio
including property investment and development, mining and
other investments.

On the manufacturing side, Continental Jewellery (Mfg.)
Limited, the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary, mainly
engages in the product development, manufacture
and marketing of fine jewellery primarily for export
and is regarded as one of the leaders in fine jewellery
manufacturing. A substantial share of our jewellery products
is currently directed at the middle to upper segments of the
market. We specialise in manufacturing fine jewellery in
precious metal set with diamond, ruby, emerald, sapphire,
pearl and other semiprecious stones.

The Group has fully-integrated production plant in China
with around 321 staff as at 30 June 2023. Our facility is
best known for their quality with extensive capabilities in
jewellery design, direct stone sourcing, lapidary, alloying and
gold refining. The management of the Group is known for its
commitment to quality, and its finished products are visible
testaments to that commitment.
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Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor
Group Chairman

| am pleased to present the annual report of Continental
Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) for the financial year ended 30 June 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the fiscal year ended 30 June 2023, the Group's
consolidated revenue recorded a decrease of approximately
HK$148.3 million or 24.56 % from last year's HK$603.9
million to HK$455.6 million. During the year, loss attributable
to owners of the Company was HK$98.3 million as
compared to last year's profit of HK$12.1 million. The loss
for the year was mainly resulting from (i) decrease in revenue
and gross profit of approximately HK$148.3 million and
approximately HK$78.9 million respectively, the substantial
decrease in gross profit was mainly attributable to the write-
down of approximately HK$49.9 million for properties
under development affected by the current property market
conditions, (i) recognition of loss of approximately HK$27.8
million arising from the change in fair value of investment
properties for the fiscal year as compared to a gain of
approximately HK$98.5 million in previous fiscal year, and (jii)
increase in finance cost of approximately HK$29.1 million as
significant portion of such finance costs was not capitalised
as part of the property development costs but being recorded
directly as expenses in the current year after the completion
of “One Continental” in July 2022 and increase in interest
rate during the year under review. The basic loss per share
was HK14.39 cent (2022: basic earnings per share of HK1.78
cent).






Annual Report 2023 “F ¥

Chairman’s Statement m =/FH{E

TR -FURFEEI SR
BEzmmENEEENIE R
Covid-19R AR 1T 1& - T A9 4 48 [
THERAMBEEITRNENHE-
TERERICEENE BRNE
Ko B AR PN B 7 hn B = DR B - 3
BUBTHEEESEIT SRl®
RIEETE - B T R BERR
XEHHBEENBEERELARE
WEHEEEFEDER T E -
PIEREBE N REEETRRETS
MEERE TR EPNHEXMRE

K- Eit BEHEBRS Kmz
BRIV ET-

At M8 2T _=ZF A=+
HIEFE AEEXRBHREDE 2
Y& 25 B 2= & 2592,200,0007% 7T A
4> #7157,300,0007% 7T 26.6% =
434,900,000 7T c TRE » B A8 =
TEC=FXNAZTHIEFEEHES
i A 92,700,000/ 7T 1 Z& & 4 F
% #935,600,0007% 7T ° 1 ) 6L 4> T5
FEHRR WD K] 58
B E & &M T

The financial year 2023 has been another period of
broad and sustained uncertainty. We continue to see re-
adjustment in working patterns and consumer behaviour
following the Covid-19 pandemic. Major economies are
facing the challenge of interest rate hiking, rising inflation
and compounding cost-of-living pressures. Geopolitical
uncertainty remains elevated, and the conflict in Ukraine
continues. A downturn in the economies and the disruption
of business conditions impacted consumer’s willingness to
purchase and adversely affected consumer confidence. In
certain key markets, such as the United States and the United
Kingdom, we are seeing decline in retail traffic as well as
a dampened sell through rate among our customers. As a
result, the buying in take has become weak, thus impacting
our business.

Consequently, the Group’s revenue from jewellery segment
recorded a decrease of approximately HK$157.3 million
or 26.6 % from last year's HK$592.2 million to HK$434.9
million for the year ended 30 June 2023. Jewellery segment
recorded a profit of approximately HK$2.7 million for the
year ended 30 June 2023 as compared to last year's profit
of approximately HK$35.6 million. Such decrease in profit
was mainly attributable to the decrease in revenue and
unavoidable fixed operating expenses.
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In property, revenue from rental income during the year
amounted to approximately HK$15.7 million, representing an
increase of HK$7.4 million from the corresponding year of
2022 of HK$8.3 million. The increase in revenue was mainly
because more units were leased out at One Continental
during the year. With a diverse and balanced portfolio, the
Group believes that these investments and projects will
generate steady income and return in the long run.

“One Continental (fEEA/3) “ is located at No. 232 Wan
Chai Road, Hong Kong. The Group currently holds 75%
of the interests in “One Continental”, a premium grade
office and retail composite building of 28-storey tall with
a gross floor area of approximately 86,970 sq.ft. Since the
border reopened in February, the leasing market has been
anticipating an improvement in overall investment sentiment,
and the Group managed to secure additional quality tenants
during the 1st half of 2023.

The Group owns 90% interests of sites at Nos. 7, 7A, 9, and
9A of Cheung Wah Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, with
a site area of approximately 3,240 sq.ft. The site has been
developed into a 25-storey residential development with
2-storey of retail podium/high-rise composite building, with
a gross floor area of approximately 29,147 sq.ft. The project
has been named “Amber Place (1€3H) " and the occupation
permit has been obtained in July 2023.
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In December 2021, the Group has acquired six properties
located at No. 164-164A Boundary Street, Kowloon, with
a site area of approximately 5,054 sq.ft. and a developable
gross floor area of approximately 25,270 sq.ft. Demolition of
the old building has been completed, and the land is planned
to be redeveloped into a luxury residential development.

The Group holds certain investment properties comprising
12 floors of commercial properties located at No. 65 Castle
Peak Road, Yuen Long, and 2 shops with several office units
located at No. 19-23 Hart Avenue, Kowloon. The investment
properties are fully let and generating a stable rental income
to the Group during the year.

In the mining segment, operation at Hongzhuang Gold
Mine was minimised. The Company was focused on the
exploration at the north eastern of Yuanling. Meanwhile, we
will continue developing new shaft and re-visiting the old
shaft in the Yuanling mine site. No revenue was recorded for
the year under review as these mines did not carry out any
production activities. Apart from the minimal operations on
both mines, no large-scale capital investment was carried out
during the year under review.
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Ushering into Q3 2023 with a number of adverse factors
including persistently high inflation and unresolved
geopolitical tension, the Group expects to see a continuous
challenging macro backdrop in the second half of 2023 with
a modest recovery in 2024. To keep ahead, our strategy is
to build strong relationships globally with select customers.
As part of the long-term strategy, we strive to look for
opportunities in providing cost effective products and services
while monitoring the effects of the global macroeconomic
environment, regulatory matters including the imposition
of taxes & duties and geopolitical tensions. In addition, as
international trade shows have largely returned to the same
formats as before 2020, the Group will continue to explore
and expand the customer database to drive future growth.

Though jewellery segment remains challenging, we are
providing more value added services from helping customers
and retailers to migrate from offline to more online
marketing support. We continue to work with them not just
as a product solutions provider but a personalised business
partner in providing retail support in growing their business
locally and regionally, while maintaining our position as
preferred supplier.

The real estate market in Hong Kong faced challenges in
financial year of 2023 due to rising interest rates and a
slower economic recovery in China. This had a negative
impact on the residential, investment, and land sectors.
However, there was a notable improvement in the retail
sector following the reopening of borders in February.
Throughout the first half of 2023, our focus remained on
securing high-quality tenants, which resulted in consistent
rental income and enhanced the value of the Group’s real
estate portfolio. Looking ahead to the second half of 2023,
The Group will adopt a prudent approach in terms of real
estate business development and financial positions, aiming
to provide stable returns to shareholders.
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REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT LOSS/(IMPAIRMENT
LOSS) ON MINING RIGHT AND PROPERTY, PLANT
AND EQUIPMENT

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the directors of
the Company appointed an independent professional
valuer, BMI Appraisals Limited, to perform a valuation
with respect to Hongzhuang Gold Mine situated at Henan
Province, China. Based on the valuation of recoverable
amount of Hongzhuang Gold Mine, reversal of impairment
loss on mining right and property, plant and equipment
amounting to HK$22,728,000 (2022: impairment loss of
HK$81,838,000) and HK$419,000 (2022: impairment loss
of HK$1,553,000) respectively was recognized as the result,
which primarily due to the change of market gold price
during the year ended 30 June 2023.

The fair value of Hongzhuang Gold Mine was estimated
based on the Market Based Approach with reference to
comparable transactions, in which such approach was
consistent with mining right valuation as at 30 June 2022.

The key inputs used in the valuation were the consideration-
to-resources multiples obtained from comparable
transactions, the adjusted contained gold metal based on the
technical review report prepared by SRK Consulting China
Limited under Chinese standard.
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The Chinese standard resources estimates as reported by SRK
Consulting China Limited were risk with uncertainty. The
estimated fair value of the Hongzhuang Gold Mine has been
assigned a lower or no credit to those resources with high
resources risks.

As at 30 June 2023, the directors of the Company also
conducted an impairment assessment on certain of the
Group's property, plant and equipment under Yuanling
mine site based on the estimation of discount cash flow
of current stage of mining explorations and gold price as
at 30 June 2023. Accordingly, no reversal of impairment
loss or impairment loss of property, plant and equipment
(2022: impairment loss HK$4,794,000) was recognized and
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

All the above-mentioned reversal of impairment loss on
mining right and property, plant and equipment was
included in the Group’s mining segment in the reportable
and operating segment of the Group.
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RIZ LA AI 58 18.154% » ANNUAL UPDATE ON DETAILS OF RESOURCES
F18.171% K F18.181% B EZ IR AND/OR RESERVES UNDER RULES OF 18.15, 18.17
BR/HREHEZEEEMN AND 18.18 OF THE LISTING RULES
AEEZERER/ ZHFERFR There has been no material change on the resources and/or
WEEREH  TREIAEER reserves of the Group during the year. The following table
—EC=FRNAZTHZERER shows the details of resources and/or reserves of the Group
S UEEZHE as at 30 June 2023:
HBLAF BE mE  BERH BLER ELERE  HEEl EERM
Type of
Reporting mining Gold  Reporting
Subsidiary Mine field Area  date operation resources  Standard Gold grade
(FAT%) (K) (%/%)
(km?) (t (1)
AE\TBXERAR  AH 109 —B-ZFE T 1073 REREI2L 558
Henan Hongzhuang ~AZtTH Underground PRC 122b
Multi-Resources 30 June 2023 546 HEIEES 189
Mining Company Limited* PRC 332
266 PEEZES3 446
PRC 333
T8 457 —E-=E  #T - HEERED -
Yuanling ~A=TH Underground PRC 122b
30 June 2023 - PERER -
PRC 333

HHEERER RHERCDEERS Factors and assumptions such as gold grade, ore body

tmi BEEELREREKER thickness and shape of vein were considered for estimating
ZRBEHR-BHERER HFEE the resources and/or reserves. Please refer to Section 8
MEZE—FPEHFL2HEARAA of Appendix VII of the circular of the Company dated 25
AT —TF—H-THAZBE January 2010 for further information of the resources and/or
BRI P 8% = 25 85f reserves estimation.

* The unofficial English translations or transliterations of Chinese

names are for identification purpose only.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING

As of 30 June 2023, the Group's gearing ratio was 0.3215
(2022: 0.2903), which is calculated on net debt divided by
total equity plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as the sum
of bank and other borrowings less cash and cash equivalents
and time deposit with original maturities over three months.
The cash and cash equivalents and time deposit with original
maturities over three months of HK$97,101,000 (2022:
HK$144,008,000) which were mainly denominated in Hong
Kong Dollar, US Dollar, Renminbi and British Pound. Other
borrowings in respect of amounts due to joint ventures,
amounts due to related companies, loan from a controlling
shareholder, amounts due to non-controlling interests and
lease liabilities were approximately of HK$122,007,000
(2022: HK$117,216,000). Bank loans denominated in HK$
and US$ were approximately HK$1,058,377,000 (2022:
HK$1,027,421,000). Details of pledge of assets in respect of
bank loans are set out in the section PLEDGE OF ASSETS.

The decrease in the Group’s cash and cash equivalent and
the increase in bank loans as at 30 June 2023 were mainly
due to the payment of the finance costs and construction
costs for the projects at Cheung Wah Street, Wan Chai
Road and Boundary Street. In line with the Group’s prudent
financial management, the directors of the Company
considered that the Group has sufficient working capital to
meet its ongoing operational requirements.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of 30 June 2023, the Group’s bank loans denominated
in HK$ of HK$1,036,213,000 (2022: HK$998,962,000)
are secured by the Group’s certain property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, certain right-of-use assets,
properties under development, pledged by ordinary shares
of certain subsidiaries of the Company and guaranteed by
corporate guarantees executed by the Company. Whereas,
a bank loan denominated in US$ in the equivalent amount
of HK$22,164,000 (2022: HK$28,459,000) is secured by all
the assets of a subsidiary of the Company and guaranteed by
corporate guarantees executed by the Company.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

All the Group’s borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong
Dollar, US Dollar and Renminbi. Interest is determined with
reference to Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate or Prime
Rate for Hong Kong Dollar borrowings, US Prime Rate for
US Dollar borrowings and the benchmark lending rate of the
People’s Bank of China for Renminbi borrowings. The Group
also made use of foreign exchange forward contract in order
to minimise exchange rate risk as a result of fluctuation in
British Pound. There was no change to the Group’s capital
structure during the year ended 30 June 2023. In light of the
current financial position of the Group and provided there is
no unforeseeable circumstance, the management does not
anticipate the need to change the capital structure.
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ADVANCE FROM A CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

As at 30 June 2023, late Dr. Chan Sing Chuk, Charles has
advanced a loan in the amount of RMB4,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$4,306,000) to a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, the loan is unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on 25 October 2023.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2023, the Company has provided guarantees
to the extent of HK$863,695,000 (2022: HK$837,742,000)
with respect to bank loans to its subsidiaries. Under the
guarantees, the Company would be liable to pay the banks
if the banks are unable to recover the loans. At the reporting
date, no provision for the Company’s obligation under
the guarantee contracts has been made as the Directors
considered that it was unlikely the repayment of the loans
would be in default.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At 30 June 2023, the Group had outstanding capital
commitment of approximately HK$15,858,000 (2022:
HK$48,667,000), which was mainly the capital commitment
for the investment property undertaken by the Group.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

There are no other significant event after the reporting
period and up to the date of the Annual Report.
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NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

The Group employs a total of approximately 502 employees
with the majority in the PRC. The Group’s remuneration to its
employees is largely based on common industrial practice. In
order to attract, retain and motivate the eligible employees,
including the Directors, the Company have adopted share
option schemes.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 13
July 2010 (“the “2010 Share Option Scheme”), which was
valid for a period of ten years commencing on the date
of adoption 13 July 2010. Under which, the Company
may grant options to eligible person including directors
and employees (as explained hereinafter). The 2010 Share
Option Scheme was expired on 12 July 2020. Therefore, the
Company has adopted a new share option on 22 December
2020 (the "“2020 Share Option Scheme”). Subsequent to
the expiry of the 2010 Share Option Scheme, no further
option can be granted thereunder but in all other respects,
the provisions of the 2010 Share Option Scheme shall remain
in force and all options granted prior to such expiry shall
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the
terms of the 2010 Share Option Scheme.

On 31 May 2021, every ten (10) issued shares of the
Company were consolidated into one (1) share of the
Company (the “Share Consolidation™). As such, adjustments
were made to the exercise prices and the number of shares
of the Company falling to be issued in respect of the
outstanding share options in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the 2010 Share Option Scheme and the
Listing Rules. As at 30 June 2023, there were options for
12,200,000 shares (after Share Consolidation) were valid
and outstanding under the 2010 Share Option Scheme. No
share option has been granted under the 2020 Share Option
Scheme since it has been adopted.
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Summary of the principal terms of the 2010 Share Option
Scheme and 2020 Share Option Scheme is as follows:

(a)

2010 Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the 2010 Share Option Scheme is
(i) to recruit and retain high caliber eligible persons
and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group; (ii) to recognise the contributions of eligible
persons to the growth of the Group by rewarding
them with opportunities to obtain ownership interest
in the Company and (iii) to motivate and to give
incentives to these eligible persons to continue to
contribute to the long-term success and prosperity of
the Group.

Under the 2010 Share Option Scheme, options might
be granted to any employee, senior executive or
officer, manager, director (including executive, non-
executive and independent non-executive director) or
consultant of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or
any invested entity who, as determined by the Board,
have contributed or will contribute to the growth
and development of the Group or any invested entity
are eligible to participate the scheme. The number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each eligible person in any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the Company’s
shares in issue at the adoption date.

The eligible person must accept any such offer notified
to him or her within ten business days from the offer
date. Upon acceptance of the offer, the grantee shall
pay HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration for the
grant.
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The exercise price of a share option to subscribe for
shares of the Company shall be the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the daily quotations sheet of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
the date of grant; and (ii) the average closing price
of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of
grant.

As at 30 June 2023, 13,200,000 share options
(after Share Consolidation) have been granted to
certain directors and employees of the Company at
an exercise price of HK$1.38, HK$1.21, HK$2.45,
HK$1.49 or HK$0.52 each (after Share Consolidation)
subject to the terms of the 2010 Share Option
Scheme. 1,000,000 share options (after Share
Consolidation) had been exercised during the year
ended 30 June 2015 since the grant of the 2010
Share Options.
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BEE-Z-_=%,HA=+H Details of movement of the 2010 Share Options up to
Rl T -TFERECE 30 June 2023 are set out below:
B FEINT
BREYA
Number of share options
) ) REEY  RZFIZF RZIEZZ%
REAEAS RHAY AfEER tA-HZ ~AZtHHEZ
B (R/R/%) (8 ERTERD WHE @e REREH RERTE 1]
Closing price
per Share
Name or immediately Balance Granted Exercised Balance
category Date of Grant  Exercisable Exercise Price before the as at During During as at
of Grantee (dd/mm/yyyy)  Period per Share™  date of grant 1 July 2022 the Year the Year 30 June 2023
(87) (87)
(HK$) (HK$)
REURE 19/06/2014 19/06/2014 - 138 138 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Mr. Chan Wai Lap, 18/06/2024
it 07077015 0072015 - 245 200 1,000000 - - 1000000
06/07/2025
03/11/2016 03/11/2016 - 149 150 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
02112026
RELT 19/06/2014 19/06/2014 - 138 138 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Ms. Chan Wai Kei, 18/06/2024
Ve 07/07/2015 07/07/2015 - 245 2.00 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
06/07/2025
03/11/2016 03/11/2016 - 149 150 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
02112026
fis et Sk 07/07/2015 07/07/2015 - 2.45 2.00 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Mr. Yam Tat Wing 06/07/2025
03/11/2016 03/11/2016 - 149 150 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
02/11/2026
RERRE 25072014 25072014 - 121 120 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Mr. Wong Edward 2410712024
Guon-hing 07072015 0700772015 - 245 200 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
06/07/2025
03/11/2016 03/11/2016 - 149 150 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
02112026
RfER 22/06/2020 22/06/2020 - 052 051 1,200,000 - - 1,200,000
Other Employees 21/06/2030
12,200,000 - - 12,200,000
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(b)

Note: (1) Due to Share Consolidation, adjustments were made
to the number of outstanding share options and the
exercise price on 31 May 2021. The exercise price per
share of the share options granted on 19 June 2014
was adjusted from HK$0.138 to HK$1.38; the exercise
price per share of the share options granted on 25 July
2014 was adjusted from HK$0.121 to HK$1.21; the
exercise price per share of the share options granted on
7 July 2015 was adjusted from HK$0.245 to HK$2.45;
the exercise price per share of the share options granted
on 3 November 2016 was adjusted from HK$0.149 to
HK$1.49 and the exercise price per share of the share
options granted on 22 June 2020 was adjusted from
HK$0.052 to HK$0.52.

2020 Share Option Scheme

The 2010 Share Option Scheme was expired on 12
July 2020. Therefore, the Company has adopted the
2020 Share Option Scheme, which should be valid
for a period of ten years commencing on the date of
adoption 22 December 2020.

The purpose of the 2020 Share Option Scheme is
(i) to provide eligible persons with the opportunity
to acquire proprietary interests in the Company;
(i) to encourage eligible persons to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company; (iii) shares for
the benefit of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole and (iv) provide the Company with
flexible means of retaining, incentivising, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits
to eligible persons.
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Under the 2020 Share Option Scheme, options might
be granted to any employee, senior executive or
officer, manager, director (including executive, non-
executive and independent non-executive director)
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries who, as
determined by the Board, have contributed or will
contribute to the growth and development of the
Group.

The total number of shares available for issue under
the 2020 Share Option Scheme was 68,311,825
shares which represented 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue as at 26 September 2023.

The eligible person must accept any such offer notified
to him or her within ten business days from the offer
date. Upon acceptance of the offer, the grantee shall
pay HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration for the
grant.

The exercise price of a share option to subscribe for
shares of the Company shall be the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant; and (ii) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of
grant.

No share option has been granted under the 2020
Share Option Scheme since it has been adopted.

$ AR S E—THBH
AR A B TS ¥R P 7E40 -

Further details of the Company’s share option scheme are set
out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.
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EXPOSURE TO FINANCIAL RISK AND RELATED
HEDGE

The Group utilises conservative strategies on its financial
risk management and the market risk had been kept to
minimum. With the exception of the UK subsidiaries,
all transactions and the borrowings of the Group are
primarily denominated in US Dollar, Hong Kong Dollar and
Renminbi. During the year, the Group had entered into
foreign exchange forward contract in order to minimise the
exchange rate risk as a result of fluctuation in British Pound.
Management will continue to monitor the foreign exchange
risk in British Pound and recent fluctuation in Renminbi and
will take appropriate actions when necessary.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”)
will be held on Tuesday, 12 December 2023 and the Notice
of AGM will be published and despatched in the manner as
required by the Listing Rules in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the AGM, the Register of Members of the Company will
be closed from Thursday, 7 December 2023 to Tuesday,
12 December 2023, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to
be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers
of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates
and appropriate transfer forms must be lodged with the
Company's Share Registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wan
Chai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 6 December 2023.
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Bt ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

BE - AAZELIBERRES Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take
g2 ROBFARERMOBRE -FP R this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to our
ERBH —BEURIFEREEAE shareholders, customers and business partners for their
WHRBRARMNEEREZE continuous supports and trust, and extend my heartiest
BIR N TR TIE EEE thanks and appreciation to our directors, to all staffs, for
ATER3R - BRI - BPIG BB their relentless efforts, dedication and resilience during this
FARAR R B TR BREL - RAFMPIETR challenging period. Looking ahead, we will continue our
ZfEBE- endeavor to overcome the future challenges and enhance

the value of our business.

RREFS On behalf of the Board

FE Chan Wai Lap, Victor

PR 12 3L Chairman

BA T =FNAAZ=+XAH Hong Kong, 26 September 2023
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Biographical details of the Directors and senior management
of the Group are set out as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor, was appointed as Chairman of
the Group since 2017. He joined the Group in 2000 and was
appointed as an Executive Director of the Company in 2006.
He currently strategises the direction of the Group and also
provides leadership to the Board. He manages and oversees
the overall Group operations and is responsible in leading
the management on various aspects of the Group such
as sales and marketing, product development, investment
and financing activities, as well as corporate and business
development, etc.

Mr. Chan holds a number of public and honorary positions,
such as Vice Chairman of The Hong Kong Jewellery & Jade
Manufacturers Association; a member of the 10th Executive
Committee of the Diamond Federation of Hong Kong
China Ltd.; Founding Chairman of the Youth Chapter of
the Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council; Member of
the Jewellery Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Trade
Development Council; Executive Committee member of
Federation of Hong Kong Industries. He was also President
of Entrepreneurs’ Organization (Hong Kong and China
South Chapters) and Director of Hong Kong United Youth
Association.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chan had worked in both
banking and manufacturing industry for several years. He
holds a Bachelor of Science degree with double majors in
Entrepreneurial Studies and Finance from Babson College in
Boston, Massachusetts. Mr. Chan is the son of the late Dr.
Chan Sing Chuk, Charles and Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley.
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Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley, is the Managing Director
and Co-Founder of the Group. Ms. Cheng is an Executive
Director of the Company and holds directorship in various
subsidiaries of the Company. She is responsible for the daily
operations, financial management, corporate development,
sales and marketing as well as strategic planning of the
Group. Ms. Cheng has over 50 years of experience in the
jewellery industry and has been actively involved in the
business development of the Group since the beginning. Ms.
Cheng also plays an active role in the community, currently
Director and Treasurer of Zonta Club of Hong Kong (2022-
2024), and Vice Chairman, Executive Committee and
Honorary Vice President of the Hong Kong Federation of
Women. In addition, she was awarded as one of the “100
Chinese Outstanding Women Entrepreneurs” in 2006 and
was a Committee Member of the City of Jiangmen Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference. Ms. Cheng is the
wife of the late Dr. Chan Sing Chuk, Charles.

Ms. Chan Wai Kei, Vicki, joined the Group in 1995. She
is an Executive Director of the Company and is responsible
for property development in Hong Kong, retail operation
and the business administration functions in the Group.
Ms. Chan graduated from University of California, Berkeley
with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics. Ms. Chan
is a Graduate Gemologist of the Gemological Institute of
America. She was Charter President of Zonta Club of Hong
Kong Il and Area Director of Zonta International (2010-
2012), actively involved in the Zonta Community. Ms. Chan
is Honorary Vice Presidents of the Hong Kong Federation
of Women. She was also an awardee of the 4th Golden
Bauhinia Women Entrepreneur Award. She is the daughter
of the late Dr. Chan Sing Chuk, Charles and Ms. Cheng Siu
Yin, Shirley.
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Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing, joined the Group in
1998, and has been appointed as Executive Director of
the Company since 1 March 2014. He is also the General
Manager of Continental Jewellery (Mfg.) Limited. Mr. Wong
has over 30 years’ experience in manufacturing, sales
marketing and management in jewellery industry. Mr. Wong
is responsible for overall development and management of
the Group's jewellery business.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Yam Tat Wing, joined the Group in 2011 as General
Manager — Business Development and Mining of the Group,
was appointed as Executive Director on 1 March 2014
and was re-designated as Non-executive Director of the
Company on 1 January 2017. Mr. Yam was educated up
to matriculation and he obtained a certificate in Personnel
Management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known
as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University).

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yam had served in the Hong
Kong Police Force (the “Force”) for over 37 years, he was
previously Deputy Commissioner, Operations from January
2007 to March 2010. Mr. Yam has extensive experience in
leadership, public administration and crisis management.

During his career in the Force, Mr. Yam was awarded
the Silver Bauhinia Star Medal, Colonial Police Long
Service Medal with 3rd clasp, the Colonial Police Medal
for Meritorious Service, the Hong Kong Police Medal for
Distinguished Service and Chief Executives Commendation.
In August 2011, he was appointed an affiliated Fellow of Wu
Yee Sun College of The Chinese University of Hong Kong for
a term of five years. The appointment has been extended
for another five years in August 2016. Mr. Yam ceased being
an Affiliated Fellow of the Wu Yee Sun College since August
2021. Mr. Yam was appointed an Honorary Chairman of
International Legal Commercial Elites Association in 2021.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, BBS, MBE, JP was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 25 April 2005. Mr.
Yu is a businessman who has been actively engaged in the
construction business both in the public and private sectors
in Hong Kong for the last 40 years. He is a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers. Other
than his working experience in managing a construction
company, he has also actively involved in the community
services of Hong Kong and has served several advisory
bodies of Hong Kong Government for over 30 years. He was
subsequently awarded as an unofficial Justice of the Peace by
the Hong Kong Government in the year 1989 and awarded
the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region in the year 2007. From
March 2016 to August 2018, Mr. Yu was the Chairman and
an Executive Director of K. H. Group Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 1557), a company listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 7 March 2008. Mr.
Chan has more than 30 years’ experience in logistics industry
and possesses extensive experience in distribution. Mr. Chan
was a Founder and Director of various logistic companies and
was a Director of a private company engaging in logistics and
forwarding.
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Mr. Sze Irons, BBS, JP was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 2 October 2008. Mr. Sze
graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in Science from
University of Wisconsin-La Crosse, United States in 1985. Mr.
Sze has extensive experience in investment and corporate
management and is currently an Independent Non-executive
Director of Chevalier International Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 25), ST International Holdings Company Limited
(Stock Code: 8521), Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 2360), Jianzhong Construction Development Limited
(Stock Code: 589), Redco Healthy Living Company Limited
(Stock Code: 2370), Forward Fashion (International) Holdings
Company Limited (Stock Code: 2528) and Tongda Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 698), all of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange. He has resigned as Non-executive
Director of China Weaving Materials Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 3778) and Bel Global Resources Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 761) (listing of which shares on the Stock
Exchange has been cancelled with effect from 24 August
2018), with effect from 6 June 2019 and 21 August 2019
respectively. He is also an Executive Director of a private
company, Hang Tung Resources Holding Limited, and holds
directorship in various private companies.

Mr. Sze is a Standing Member of the 14th National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (“CPPCC"), a Standing Committee Member,
Convenor of Beijing Regional Committee (Hong Kong
Region) of The CPPCC and the Permanent Honorary
President of the Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong
Kong. He is also elected as a member of Election Committee
of the Chief Executive of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region. Mr. Sze was appointed Justice of the Peace and
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2011 and 2015
respectively.
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Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director and a member of
the Audit Committee of the Board on 7 April 2010.
Mr. Cheung is currently the Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of China Weaving Materials Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 3778), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange. He has over 25 years of experience in accounting,
finance and administration and has held senior positions
in multinational companies. He obtained his MBA from
University of Technology, Sydney, Australia and is an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants.

From March 2016 to August 2018, Mr. Cheung was an
Independent Non-Executive Director of K. H. Group Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 1557), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange. From March 2009 to July 2011, he was a part-
time tutor at the Open University of Hong Kong (now known
as Hong Kong Metropolitan University). From March 2004
to November 2007, he was an Executive Director of Sun
Innovation Holdings Limited (now known as Digital Domain
Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 547), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange, and was also the Chief Financial Officer
from March 2007 to February 2008. He was an Independent
Director of L International Inc. (NASDAQ: JADE), a company
listed on NASDAQ from June 2007 to October 2007. From
January 2001 to December 2003, he was a Director of e-Lux
(Hong Kong) Limited (now known as Quants Capital (Hong
Kong) Limited), a subsidiary of e-Lux Corporation (JASDAQ:
6811) (now known as Quants Inc.), in charge of value-added
telecommunications services in Hong Kong, Taiwan and
China. He was the group financial controller and a director
of New Media Corporation, a subsidiary of e-New Media
Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 128) (now known as ENM Holdings Limited)
from 1995 to 1999 and 1999 to 2000, respectively.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Choi Wing Cheong, Eric, FGA, DGA, FGAHK, CG (Diamond),
joined the Group in 1987, is currently the Director of
Operations. With over 30 years of experience in application
system implementation and supply chain management in the
jewellery industry, he also holds gemmologist qualification
— a fellow member of The Gemmological Association of
Great Britain and director of The Gemmological Association
of Hong Kong, and is appointed as RPL Assessor at
Qualifications Framework of jewellery industry by Vocational
Training Council. Mr. Choi now oversees the daily operation
in logistic support, factory production and Information
Technology, and administration and human resources of
the Group. He was in charge of the implementation of ISO
Quality Management System and best practices project.
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The board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of the
Company is pleased to present this Corporate Governance
Report for the year ended 30 June 2023.

CORPORATE STRATEGY

The Group's vision continues to be the leader in the jewellery
industry by developing trusted, creative solutions to the
global jewellery industry, and dedicating to innovative
designs, excellent craftsmanship, and high-quality service.
The provision of quality jewellery product to customers has
always been a fundamental value of the Group.

A healthy corporate culture is important to good corporate
governance which is crucial for achieving sustainable long-
term success of the Group. The Board considers that the
corporate culture and the purpose, value and strategy of the
Group are aligned.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance practices. The Board considers
shareholders can maximise their benefits from good
corporate governance.

Compliance with the Code Provisions

The Company has adopted code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. During the year ended
30 June 2023, the Company has complied with the Code,
except for the deviations from Code provisions C.2.1 and
D.2.5 which are explained below:

Code provision C.2.1
Under Code provision C.2.1, the roles of the chairman and

the chief executive officer should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.
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Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor (“Mr. Victor Chan") is an Executive
Director and the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Victor Chan
currently strategizes the direction of the Group and provides
leadership for the Board. He ensures that the Board works
effectively and discharges its responsibilities, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner. Mr. Victor Chan is also responsible for ensuring that
all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings and that all Directors receive adequate information,
which must be complete and reliable, in a timely manner.

Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley ("Ms. Cheng”) is the Managing
Director of the Company. She is responsible for day-to-day
management and marketing activities of the Group.

Although the Company does not have a post for Chief
Executive Officer, the Board considers that there is adequate
segregation of duties within the Board to ensure a balance of
power and authority.

Code provision D.2.5

Code Provision D.2.5 provides that the issuer should have
an internal audit function. Issuers without an internal audit
function should review the need for one on an annual basis
and should disclose the reasons for the absence of such a
function.

The Company does not have an internal audit function
for the year ended 30 June 2023. Taking into account the
size and complexity of the operations of the Group, the
Company considers that the existing organisation structure
and the close supervision of the management could provide
sufficient internal control and risk management for the
Group. The audit committee of the Board regularly reviews
the effectiveness of the internal control systems and risk
management of the Group. The Board would review the
need to set up an internal audit function on an annual basis.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility of
managing the Company’s business and affairs. Chairman
ensures that the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely manner.

As at 30 June 2023, the Board comprises four Executive
Directors, namely Mr. Victor Chan, Ms. Cheng, Ms. Chan
Wai Kei, Vicki ("Ms. Vicki Chan”) and Mr. Wong Edward
Gwon-hing; one Non-executive Director, namely Mr. Yam
Tat Wing; four Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek, Mr.
Sze Irons and Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank. All Directors are
expressly identified by categories of Executive Directors, Non-
executive Director and Independent Non-executive Directors,
in all corporate communications that disclose the names of
Directors of the Company.

Mr. Victor Chan is the brother of Ms. Vicki Chan. They are
the son and daughter of Ms. Cheng.

Biographies which include relationships of Directors are
set out in pages 28 to 34 of the annual report, which
demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise, experience and
qualifications among members of the Board.

A list containing the names of the Directors and their roles
and functions is published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company at www.continental.com.hk.
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All Directors are given the opportunity to put items on
the agenda for regular Board meetings. All Directors have
access to advice and services of the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) to ensure that all
Board procedures and rules and regulations are followed.
Full minutes of Board meetings are kept by the Company
Secretary and are available for inspection on reasonable
notice. Any Director may, in furtherance of his duties, take
independent professional advice where necessary at the
expense of the Company.

The Board is responsible for setting the strategic direction
and policies of the Group and supervising the management.
Some functions including, inter alia, the monitoring and
approval of material transactions, matters involving a conflict
of interest for a substantial shareholder of the Company
or Director, the approval of the interim and final results,
adequate resources for finance department to perform its
role in financial reporting, other disclosures to the public or
regulators and the internal control systems are reserved by
the Board and the decisions relating to such matters shall be
subject to the decision of the Board. Matters not specifically
reserved to the Board and necessary for the daily operations
of the Company are delegated to the management under
the supervision of the respective Directors and the leadership
of the Chairman.

The roles of the Chairman and the chief executive officer are
not separate and the explanation in connection with such
deviation from Code provision C.2.1 is set out in the section
headed “Compliance with the Code Provisions” of this
report. The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership
to the Board, effective running of the Board, ensuring all
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner and formulating business strategies. The Chairman
has ensured that all Directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board meetings and all Directors receive adequate,
complete and reliable information.
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During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Board at all
times complied with Rules 3.10(1), (2) and 3.10A of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
Independent Non-executive Directors representing at least
one-third of the Board; one of the Independent Non-
executive Directors is required to possess appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors has made an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all Independent Non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance
with the terms of the guidelines.

Each of Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek, Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul,
Mr. Sze Irons and Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank have served
as Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
for more than 9 years and all of them have met the criteria
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has
received from each of them a confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and they have
not engaged in any daily executive management of the
Group. They continue to demonstrate the attributes of
an Independent Non-executive Director by providing
independent views and advice and there is no evidence that
their tenure have had any impact on their independence.
Taking into consideration their independent scope of work
in the past years, the Directors consider Mr. Chan Ping Kuen,
Derek, Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, Mr. Sze Irons and Mr. Cheung
Chi Fai, Frank to be independent under Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rule. Having considering their valuable knowledge
and experiences in the Group'’s business, the Board considers
the re-election of Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek, Mr. Yu Shiu
Tin, Paul, Mr. Sze Irons and Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank as
Independent Non-Executive Directors are in the best interest
of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.



N

Corporate Governance Report m (¥ E A

KRB ZIFMITES KB IFNTT
EFVERETEH EERRAR
AEBERARNE -8 —THAEK
RE-—A-—THEOKRIB=FK
ARABRRBFARE LWESE—
RN BITESRE -

ERARRNRIMERYIERNITEEY
EEBBALF ARAEE R
&3B.2.40b) EBRE S =_=%F
+A—HRRBNMBREERNRT
— BB IERITES -

THEXEBR
BIETFRIEXCI4 FRIEEEHRE

D2IMFEZXERUNBRNENRK
FZAH N

Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company do not have a specific term of
appointment but are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the Company's AGM at least once every three
years in accordance with articles 115(A) and 115(D) of the
Articles of Association of the Company.

In view that all the Independent Non-executive Directors
of the Company have served for more than 9 years, the
Company has already considered the Code provision B.2.4(b)
and will appoint a new Independent Non-executive Director
within the financial year commencing from 1 July 2023.

Continuous Professional Development
Under Code provision C.1.4, all Directors should participate

in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills.
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HEE IS ETE they received to the Company Secretary for record.
BAREMH
FEREMN
EE R
Reading
materials/
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= Directors updates*
HITEE Executive Directors
PRIZS S Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor v
EPREE)EIE £ 0 BBS AF 4+ Late Dr. Chan Sing Chuk, Charles, BB, Jp
(M—Z——%+A—HEHT) (resigned on 1 October 2022) v
B/ Btz Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley v
[REHL L Ms. Chan Wai Kei, Vicki v
HEERESLA Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing v
FHHITESE Non-executive Director
FiELEE Mr. Yam Tat Wing v
BN TEE Independent Non-executive Directors
RIE XA 8BS MBE- AT#+ M. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, BBS, MBE, JP v
PRANHE e = Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek v
ﬁ@éé RS BRS AT ML Mr. Sze Irons, BBS, JP v
SRS A Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank v
# HEBEAHETEE TR R I&EME # Reading materials concerning latest developments in
B EBEERETER2ME corporate governance practices, relevant legal and regulatory
developments.
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L3y Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley 404 - " - 11
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FEREE Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing 44 - - - "
FHTES Non-executive Director
fFEREE M. Yam Tat Wing 44 - - - "
BUknnES Independent Non-executive Directors
SBRJE 98- MBE £ T4+ Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, 885, MBE, o 34 1 0/ - "
RS E Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek 404 0 " 1 11
HRERE s AF#L  Mr Szelrons, Bgs, P 34 n i - i
RHELE M. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank 404 0 - 1 11

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities Insurance

Appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’
liabilities in respect of legal actions against the Directors and
officers of the Company and its subsidiaries arising out of
corporate activities of the Group has been arranged by the
Group.

BOARD OPERATION

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Board held four
Board meetings. The attendance records of each member of
the Board at Board meetings and the attendance records of
the respective members of the Board at the audit committee
meetings, nomination committee meetings, remuneration
committee meetings and the general meetings are set out
below:
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Directors are consulted to include matters in the agenda for
regular Board meetings.

Dates of regular Board meetings are scheduled at least
14 days in advance to provide sufficient notice to give all
Directors an opportunity to attend. For all other Board
meetings, reasonable notice will be given.

Minutes of the Board meetings and the Board Committee
meetings are duly kept and such minutes are open for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by
any Director.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee
meetings have recorded in sufficient detail the matters
considered and decisions reached, including any concerns
raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed. Draft and
final versions of minutes are sent to all Directors for their
comment and records respectively.

Should Directors need independent professional advice, the
Board will appoint professional advisors to render the advice.
The costs associated with such professional services will be
borne by the Company.

According to the current Board practice, any material
transaction which involves a conflict of interest for a
substantial shareholder or a Director, will be considered and
dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting.
Independent Non-executive Directors who have no material
interest in the transaction will be present at such Board
meeting.
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Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with
specific written terms of reference which states clearly
with its authority and duties. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee have included the duties set out in Code
provisions D.3.3(a) to (n) of the Code, with appropriate
modifications where necessary. The revised terms of
reference setting out the Audit Committee’s authority and its
duties and responsibilities are published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Audit Committee
comprises four Independent Non-executive Directors of the
Company and is chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank. The
Audit Committee meets with the external auditor at least
twice a year.

As set out in the terms of reference, the Audit Committee
is responsible for oversight of financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control systems, and for
reviewing the financial information of annual report, financial
statements and interim report. As required by Code provision
D.3.7, the Audit Committee would review arrangements for
employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The
Audit Committee would ensure that proper arrangements
are in place for fair and independent investigation of these
matters and for appropriate follow up action and acting as
the key representation body for overseeing the Company’s
relations with the external auditor.

All issues raised by the Audit Committee have been
addressed by management. The work and findings of the
Audit Committee have been reported to the Board. During
the year, no issues brought to the attention of management
and the Board were of sufficient importance to require
disclosure in the Annual Report.



Annual Report 2023 “F ¥

Corporate Governance Report m {EEERIRE

EZEZ B EC EARRE XA
HABFAEEBRNFEE G B
WR UWERARNFESES P HRE
6B A a2 R K £ AR RIPY %
TARZERE Bt ERRE g
HEESSHERFERE MR
%o

ERZEEVERRARRRER
BRI ZAIEABA-BERZEER
BTEBERCERHENER
BB ZBE B R

REZES

AprlittREe ([RBREEE))
BB HITEFRELE MM
B FMITEERMELELENERSE
BREEK -REZEETR AR
TE-REZBEZHMAERBRER
R EEGRME SR MR BE
e EMEHE R L EHE A
CRAVNCIPA/NCIE RN 10 )N
EEENEZIELRR WERE
RRXREFEKREZABEAE B
BERAHEFET Z ALHBUR
ExgRbES FEBILIFENT
EEZBEYM REFZEHEHN
REREFETHIRNESSRY
B MEEEFEKREZ TR
Rz BITX BRI B BRI
EREAMM -REEZESRESR
B 2 Bl AN A P AR B 48 Ko B <2 B
HuEH - RELZEEEFELA

AR —Xg&-

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the Year in conjunction with the
Company’s independent auditor and was satisfied that
the consolidation financial statements for the Year were
complied with the applicable accounting standards and
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee
therefore resolved to recommend the consolidation financial
statements for the Year be approved by the Board.

The Audit Committee does not have a former partner of
the Company’s existing auditor. The Audit Committee is
provided with sufficient resources, including the advice of an
independent auditor, to perform its duties.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) currently comprises one Executive
Director, Mr. Victor Chan, and two Independent Non-
executive Directors, Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek and Mr.
Cheung Chi Fai, Frank. The chairman of the Nomination
Committee is Mr. Victor Chan. The role and function of
the Nomination Committee is to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board, make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy, with due regard to the
board diversity policy, identify individuals suitably qualified to
become Board members, select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships, assess the independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors and make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and succession planning for Directors, and monitor the
implementation of the board diversity policy and review such
policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness. A copy
of the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
is available on the Company's website and the Stock
Exchange’s website. The Nomination Committee shall meet
at least once a year.
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During the year ended 30 June 2023, one meeting was held
by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee
reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and assessed
the independence of all the Independent Non-executive
Directors.

Appointment and Re-election of Director

The appointment of a new Director is made on the
recommendation by the Nomination Committee or
by shareholders in a general meeting. The nomination
procedures by shareholders are published on the website of
the Company at www.continental.com.hk. All candidates
must be able to meet the standards as set forth in Rules
3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules. A candidate who is to be
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director should
also meet the independent criteria set out in Rules 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

Any Director who is appointed by the Board shall hold office
only until the first general meeting after their appointment
and shall be subject to re-election by shareholders in a
general meeting. All Directors, including those appointed
for a specific term, are subject to retirement by rotation
and eligible to offer themselves for re-election at the
AGM at least once every three years in accordance with
articles 115(A) and 115(D) of the Articles of Association
of the Company. To further enhance accountability under
code provision B.2.3, any further re-appointment of an
Independent Non-executive Director who has served the
Company’s Board for more than nine years will be subject to
a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee
with specific written terms of reference as set out in Code
provisions E.1.2(a) to (i) of the Code. The Remuneration
Committee, with delegated responsibility, is responsible
for annually reviewing the existing remuneration policy
including the remuneration packages of individual Executive
Directors and senior management whereas the Board as a
whole is responsible for determining the remuneration of
Non-executive Directors with recommendations from the
Remuneration Committee, if any. Terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

A majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee
are Independent Non-executive Directors. This Committee is
chaired by Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul. The other members are Ms.
Cheng, Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek and Mr. Sze Irons. The
Remuneration Committee met once during the year ended
30 June 2023 to discuss remuneration related matters and to
review and approve the remuneration policy of the Directors
and of the Group.

The emoluments of the senior management by band for the
year ended 30 June 2023 is set out below:

A
Number of persons
Emolument bands 2023 2022
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 1

Further particulars regarding Directors’ emoluments as
required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the
Listing Rules are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient
resources, including access to independent professional
advice, to perform its duties if considered necessary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognises that corporate governance should
be the collective responsibility of the Directors and their
corporate governance duties include:

(a

developing, reviewing and implementing the
Company’s policy and practices on corporate
governance;

reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

developing, reviewing and monitoring the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; for re-election;

developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the above corporate
governance function has been performed and executed
by the Board and the Board has reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the Code.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Hui Chun Lam is an employee
of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary reports to the
Chairman and his appointment and removal is subject to
Board approval. The Company Secretary is accountable to
the Board for matters relating to Director’s duties, such as
by giving advice on corporate governance development
and facilitating the professional development program of
Directors. All Directors have access to the advice and service
of the Company Secretary to ensure that Board procedures,
and all applicable law, rules and regulations, are followed.
During the fiscal year 2023, the Company Secretary has
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by Directors. The Company
has made specific enquiries with all of the Directors, each
of whom has confirmed that he has, throughout the year
ended 30 June 2023, complied with the required standards
set out therein.

Share Interests of Senior Management

On 22 June 2020, the Company resolved to grant the share
options to subscribe for a total of 1,200,000 shares to certain
eligible persons under the 2010 Share Option Scheme.
Among the 1,200,000 options granted, 200,000 options
were granted to a senior management of the Company.
During the year ended 30 June 2023, no options (2022: Nil)
were lapsed and no options were exercised and cancelled
(2022: Nil).
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Save for the Options granted, as at 30 June 2023, none of
senior management of the Company (whose biographical
details are disclosed on page 28 of this annual report) had
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has through the Audit Committee reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. The Board requires management to establish
and maintain appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. Evaluation of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems covering financial,
operational and compliance controls had been done on
an on going basis. Review of internal controls on different
systems will be done on a systematic rotational basis based
on the risk assessments of the operations and controls.
The Board has confirmed that there was no significant
weakness and area of improvement have been identified and
appropriate measures taken. The Group currently does not
have an internal audit function for the year ended 30 June
2023 and the explanation in connection with such deviation
from Code provision D.2.5 is set out in the section handed
“Compliance with the Code Provisions” of this report.
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Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy
("Whistleblowing Policy”) on 14 June 2023 which is available
on the website of the Company. The purpose of the
Whistleblowing Policy is to establish a mechanism to enable
staff and other members of the Group to voice concerns
in a responsible and effective manner so as to promote the
highest standards of openness, probity and accountability,
and encourage the reporting of misconduct, unlawful and
unethical behaviour. The Whistleblowing Policy shall be
review regularly by the Board to ensure its implementation
and continued effectiveness.

Anti-corruption Policy

The Company has adopted an anti-corruption policy (“Anti-
corruption Policy”) on 14 June 2023 which is available on the
website of the Company. The Anti-corruption Policy sets out
the specific behavioural guidelines that the Group’s personnel
and business partners must follow to combat corruption
and demonstrates the Group’s commitment to the practice
of ethical business conduct and the compliance of the anti-
corruption laws and regulations that apply to its operations.
The Anti-corruption Policy is reviewed by the Board and the
Audit Committee as and when appropriate to ensure its
continued effectiveness.
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AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The Company's external auditor is BDO Limited. There has
been no change in the Company's external auditors for the
preceding three financial years. The Board agrees with the
Audit Committee’'s recommendation for the re-appointment
of BDO Limited as the Company’s independent auditor.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the remuneration paid
and payable to BDO Limited is set out as below:

2023

FET

HK$'000

FET RS Audit service 1,220
EEERESTILER BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
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The Board adopted a board diversity policy on 5 September
2013 (“Board Diversity Policy”). The Company recognises
and embraces the benefits of diversity of its Board
members. While all Board appointments will continue to
be made on meritocracy, the Company will ensure that
the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the needs of the Company’s
business. Selection of candidates will be based on a range
of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
Board will consider setting measurable objectives for
achieving diversity on the Board at an appropriate time.
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The Nomination Committee monitors the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy and the progress on achieving
those measurable objectives and will review the Board
Diversity Policy on a regular basis to ensure its continuing
effectiveness. Such policy is available on the website of the
Company.

The Group is committed to maintain diversity (including
gender diversity) across all levels of the Group. The
Group ensures fair employment practices and offer equal
employment opportunities to recruit, promote and deploy
employees based on their skillset, abilities and how they
fit the job requirements and future development of our
businesses. As at 30 June 2023, the Board has two female
Directors out of nine Directors (approximately 22%). The
ratio of female to male in the workforce of the Group is
approximately 1 to 1.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Board recognises the importance of effective
communication with the shareholders and investors.
The Company’s AGM is one of the principal channels of
communication between the Board and its shareholders.
The Group encourages its Shareholders to attend and
participate in AGM to ensure a high level of accountability
and to keep Shareholders informed of the Group's strategy
and goals. The Company arranges for the notice for AGM
to be sent to shareholders at least 20 clear business days
before the meeting. It has been the practice, the Chairman
of the Board and the Chairmen of the Board Committees,
together with the external auditor, shall attend the AGM
to answer questions of shareholders. Apart from the
direct interaction with the shareholders at the AGM,
the Company has established different communication
channels with its shareholders. We maintain a corporate
website www.continental.com.hk to publish our final and
interim results announcements, financial reports, public
announcements and other relevant shareholder information.
The announcements and the Articles of Association of
the Company are published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The Board always ensures that shareholders’ and investors’
views are heard and understood, and welcomes their
questions and concerns relating to the Group’s management
and governance. Shareholders and investors may also at
any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing to the Company Secretary by post or by email
and contact information also set as below procedures for
enquiries to the Board.



Annual Report 2023 “F ¥

Corporate Governance Report m (¥ ERRE

RERASREERROESSEER
REHZEF

IRERAAME R ERARRRELE
mER R ERAREIFR I
ARARFARESTE RO AW
EEBEEEIRARAIMEZFA
SR ERIT

NaEmE
EMKESEBR R A
BB

BEATHY
BEAE115%
gLEE TR0 E = B
THEMENE
T : info@continental.com.hk
T 3% ¢ (852) 2363 8882
f8E : (852) 2765 7516

BRERABMBRREBAE 22T

RIBEB ARG ERRRER
D5%H AR AR Al BB XF
KEEARRZEMPER T A A
WE BRAFBRERIRE - Wik
HERER 2B AMEARAE
MR R BERAERD25% " 3
RIATRBEEBERMEATH
BRBFREG EMZORBERROME
MEAR R BIRIR - Al BB EERFEK
EEARRZEMPER T AR
EREFEUNEREARFBRERK
SLEBE - BRRREEFHEEAZ
RFIFEEARRRZ U ETIE IR
HARERH -

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meetings and Directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their written requests,
proposals, enquiries and concerns to the Company for
the attention of Chairman of the Board or the Company
Secretary whose contact details are:

The Company Secretary
Continental Holdings Limited
Flats M & N, 1st Floor

Kaiser Estate, Phase |ll

11 Hok Yuen Street

Hunghom, Kowloon

Hong Kong

E-mail: info@continental.com.hk
Tel no.: (852) 2363 8882

Fax no.: (852) 2765 7516

Procedures by which Shareholders may Convene a Special
General Meeting

Pursuant to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
shareholders of the Company representing at least 5% of
the total voting rights may call for an extraordinary general
meeting and put forward agenda items by sending a
written request to the Company Secretary at the Company’s
registered office. Shareholders of the Company representing
at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the shareholders
who have a right to vote or at least 50 members who have a
right to vote on the resolution of the annual general meeting
to which the requests relate, may put forward proposal
for consideration at a general meeting of the Company by
sending a written request to the Company Secretary at the
Company's registered office. Procedures on how shareholders
can propose a person for election as a Director are available
at the Company’s website for shareholders’ information.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company seeks to provide stable and sustainable
returns to the shareholders. The Company has adopted a
dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in deciding whether
to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend
amount. Under the Dividend Policy, the Board shall, where
appropriate, take into account, among others, the following
factors (i) the Group's overall results of operation, financial
condition, expected working capital requirements and capital
expenditure requirements, liquidity position and future
expansions plans; (i) the amount of retained profits and
distributable reserves of the Company; (iii) general economic
conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business and other
internal or external factors that may have an impact on
the business or financial performance and position of the
Group; (iv) interim dividend paid, if any; (v) interests of the
Shareholders; (vi) statutory and regulatory restrictions; and
(vii) any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy as appropriate from
time to time.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company maintains a website at http/Amww.continental.com.hk
where information and updates on the Company's business
developments and operations, list of directors and their role
and function, constitutional documents, terms of reference
of the Board committees, procedures for nomination of
directors for election, announcements, circulars and reports
released to the Stock Exchange and other information are
posted. Information on the Company's website will be
updated from time to time. Full text of the Anti-Corruption
Policy, and Whistleblowing Policy are also available on the
Company’s website (http://www.continental.com.hk).
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Constitutional Document

There were no significant changes in the Company’s
Articles of Association during the year. The full text of the
Articles of Association is available on the websites of Stock
Exchange news (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(http:/Awww.continental.com.hk).

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no other significant
change in the Company’s constitutional documents during
the year ended 30 June 2023.

GENERAL

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility in preparing
the Group's financial statements for each financial period
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. In preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 30 June 2023, the Directors
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistently, made judgments and estimates that are
prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis. The responsibilities of
the auditor with respect to the financial reporting are set
out in the Independent Auditor's Report on page 73 of this
annual report.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 30 June 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out
in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s financial performance for the year ended 30
June 2023 and the financial position of the Group at that
date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 84 to 274.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 30 June 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Company and a discussion and
analysis of the Group's performance during the year and the
material factors underlying its results and financial position
are set out in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 7 to 27 of
this Annual Report.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

1. Economic climate and individual market performance

As jewellery and diamonds are luxury consumer
products, the impact of global financial and economic
conditions on consumer confidence and purchasing
power would affect sales and results of the Group.
The economic growth or decline in our geographical
markets that affected consumer spending on jewellery
would also affect the revenue of the Group. In
addition, economic environment would affect the
production cost of jewellery business such as rent,
labour cost, packaging and transportation cost etc.
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In property side, economic climate directly affects
the value of properties and investors' interest in
our property projects and rental income. Rising
construction costs, labour costs, material prices and
interest rate will affect the budget and the timing for
completion of the property projects.

The Group’s mining business requires substantial
investment and may not achieve expected financial
results. The fluctuation in price of mineral ores may
affect prospects of the investments and impairment
of the mining business may affect the valuation of
mining assets.

Market risk

The Group is exposed to certain market risks such
as interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
details are set out in note 48.2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank loans
with floating interest rates. As at 30 June 2023, it
is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100
basis points in interest rates, with all other variables
remaining constant, net loss for the year would have
increased/decreased and retained profits decreased/
increased by approximately HK$7.7 million.
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FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The financial key performance indicators are analysed as

below:

2023 2022 +()
FET FET &

HK$'000 HK$'000 Change

BMBEE FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
HEH Turnover 455,608 603,926 -24.6%
HEMA Cost of Sales (389,355) (458,813) -15.1%
EF Gross Profit 66,253 145,113 -54.3%
EME(%) Gross profit margin (%) 14.5% 240%  95pp BN H

AREENEG (BB)/ (Loss)/profit attributable to owners of

A the Company (98,286) 12,142 -909.5%
(FE8), /A= %) Net (loss)/profit margin (%) -21.6% 20% -236pp BAE
MBRF B R FTERAI 2R ([EBIT]) EBIT (68,627) 23,339 -394.0%
EBITH: (%) EBIT margin (%) -15.1% 3.9% -19p B
488 FE 015 (%) Return on total assets (%) -1.8% 0.6% 2.4%

TEMBEE KEY FINANCIAL INDICATOR
Be RETHES Cash and bank balance 90,695 144,008 -37.0%
RBEEFE Net current assets 4,904 46,224 -89.4%
EEEE Total assets 3,724,643 3,865,024 -3.6%
BAEET Total liabilities 1,438,710 1,418,658 1.4%
RITER Bank loans 1,058,377 1,027,421 3.0%

AREHE AEA#ER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 2,079,737 2,223,165 -6.5%
REE (R %) Quick ratio (Cash ratio) 0.09 0.14 -35.7%
MENLE (£2) Current ratio (times) 1.00 1.04 -3.8%
BEEARLE%) Gearing ratio (%) 32.15% 29.03%  312pp ELH
R B A 22 [0 %R (%) Return on shareholders’ equity (%) -4.7% 05%  -52pp ENH
BREA (BR) /AR (BL) Basic (loss)/earnings per share (HK cents) (14.39) 1.78 -908.4%
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

1.

Environmental Protection

The Group promotes environmental protection by
raising the employees’ awareness of resources saving
and efficient use of energy. In recent years, the
Group has implemented several policies to encourage
employees for saving energy and paper. All these
policies aim at reducing resources and saving costs
which are beneficial to the environment and meet the
commercial goals of the Group.

Operating Practices

The Group upholds high standards of operating
practices and complies with stringent jewellery
manufacturing standards. One of the subsidiaries
of the Company is a certified member of the
Responsible Jewellery Council (“RJC™). RIC is a not-
for-profit organization which promotes responsible
ethical, social and environmental practices, respect
human rights throughout the Diamond, Gold and
Platinum Group Metals jewellery supply chain. As
a certified member of the RIC, the subsidiary had
undergone independent, third party auditing to
show our business practices at all facilities within
the certification scope conform to RJC's Code of
Practices for business ethics, labour rights and working
conditions, social and environmental performance.
The Group has stringent requirements to maintain
high levels of quality control and responsible business
practices.

For further information about the environment
policies and performance of the Company during
the year, please refer to the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report (“ESG Report”) prepared in
accordance with Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules to
be issued within four months after 30 June 2023.
The ESG Report will be available on the Company’s
website at www.continental.com.hk and the Stock
Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group believes that employees are important assets and
provides competitive remuneration packages to attract and
retain employees. The management regularly reviews the
Group's remuneration of its employees and ensures that it is
up to prevailing market standard.

The Group values mutually-beneficial and long-standing
relationships with its suppliers and customers. The Group
aims at delivering high quality products to its customers and
developing mutual trust with its suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities
during the year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company
and the Group during the year are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 30 June 2023, the Company's reserves available
for distribution amounted to HK$1,182,197,000 (2022:
HK$1,230,531,000).

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
276.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions
totaling HK$465,000.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for 35.3% of the total sales for the
year and sales to the largest customer included therein
amounted to 12.2%. The largest supplier and the five largest
suppliers accounted for 23.7% and 67%, respectively, of the
Group’s total purchases for the year.

As far as the Directors of the Company are aware, neither
the Directors, their respective associates nor any shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor (Chairman)

Late Dr. Chan Sing Chuk, Charles, BBS, JP
(resigned with effect from 1 October 2022)
Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley (Managing Director)

Ms. Chan Wai Kei, Vicki
Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Yam Tat Wing

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, BBS, MBE, JP

Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek

Mr. Sze Irons, BBS, JP

Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank
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In accordance with Articles 109, 115(A), 115(B) and 115(D)
of the Articles of Association, Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing,
Mr. Yam Tat Wing, Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek and Mr. Sze
Irons shall retire from office by rotation and all of them are
eligible for re-election at the AGM.

Each of the four Independent Non-executive Directors has
submitted written confirmation in respect of the factors
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules concerning his
independence. The Board considers each of the four
Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The name of all directors who have served on the boards of
the subsidiaries of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report are available on the website of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 28 to
34 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for directors’ and senior management’s liabilities in respect
of legal actions against its directors and senior management
arising from corporate activities. The permitted indemnity
provision is in force for the benefit of the directors as
required by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) when the Directors'’
Report prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance
with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set
out on pages 20 to 25 and in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B OF THE
LISTING RULES

1. Mr. Sze Irons, an independent non-executive
director of the Company, was also appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Tongda Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 698) which is listed on
the Stock Exchange with effect from 29 May 2023.

2. The remuneration packages of the following directors
have been revised after taking consideration of their
responsibilities and the prevailing market rates:

With effect from 1 January 2023, the monthly
remunerations of Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor, Ms. Chan
Wai Kei, Vicki and Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing
have been revised to HK$220,000, HK$100,000 and
HK$140,000 respectively.

3. Late Dr. Chan Sing Chuk, Charles resigned as a
Director of the Company with effect from 1 October
2022. Dr. Chan passed away on 19 January 2023.
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MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report and
in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company’s holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of
the Company or an entity connected with a director had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
during or at the end of the financial year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules, the interests
of directors of the Company in businesses which might
compete with the Group during the year ended 30 June
2023 and as at 30 June 2023 were as follows:

Late Dr. Chan, a Director of the Company, has held interest
and directorship in companies engaged in the same
businesses of property investments in Hong Kong and
gold mining activities in Sichuan Province of the PRC and
Indonesia. Although some of the businesses carried out by
these companies are similar to those of the Group, they are
of different scale and/or at different locations. Therefore, the
Board is of the view that the businesses of those companies
did not compete with the businesses of the Group.
The transfer of such interest and directorship is in legal
proceeding.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group were entered into or in existence
during the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and their associates in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company under Section 352 of
Part XV of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were
set out below:
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BRET ([REE]) Chan Wai Lap, Victor
("Mr. Victor Chan")

gpm([8at]) Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley

("Ms. Cheng")
B ([Rat)) Chan Wai Kei, Vicki
("Ms. Vicki Chan")
BmE Chan Ping Kuen, Derek
FEL Yam Tat Wing
BER Wong Edward Gwon-hing
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)
1. Interests in the Company

» (ZU%
KAAZLERKE (BhHEHE) aEf
Number of ordinary shares of the Company BATME
(after Share Consolidation) Percentage of
fANER DNEAER ARk R the Company's
Personal Corporate Underlying @5t issued share
interest interest interest Total capital
270,000 - 3,000,000 3,270,000 0.48%

(MEE2) (Note 2)
- 506,339,522 - 506,339,522 74.12%

(JfF31) (Note 1)

- - 3,000,000 3,000,000 0.44%

(F3E2) (Note 2)
20,000 - - 20,000 0.003%
240,000 - 2,000,000 2,240,000 0.33%

(F3E2) (Note 2)
- - 3,000,000 3,000,000 0.44%

(F3E2) (Note 2)

Note 1. Such interests are held by Tamar Investments Group
Limited, which is a company owned as to 35% by the
late Dr. Chan and 35% by Ms. Cheng. Ms. Cheng and
Mr. Victor Chan are directors of Tamar Investments
Group Limited. Dr. Chan passed away and ceased to
be a director of Tamar on 19 January 2023.

Note 2: These interests represented the interests in underlying

shares of the Company in respect of share options
granted to the Directors.



Directors’ Report m EE 2%}

For the year ended 30 June 2023
HE_Z-_=F A=THILFE

EERERM - HERRM RESF
ZRERER (&)

2. REBEE 2R

Tamar Investments Group

Limited
EEpa Name of Directors
RET Chan Wai Lap, Victor
i Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley
REH Chan Wai Kei, Vicki
TERFRA Name of Substantial

Shareholder

BHREE Late Chan Sing Chuk, Charles
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)

2. Interests in associated corporation

Tamar Investments Group Limited

)

g#f

BARAR

AREEZEERYA Percentage

Number of ordinary shares of the associated corporation of the issued
AN NAER HRER share capital of
Personal Corporate Underlying @5t the associated
interest interest interest Total corporation
16 - - 16 16%

35 - - 35 35%

7 - - 7 7%

35 - - 35 35%

Except as disclosed above, as at the reporting date, none of
the Directors or their respective associates had any personal,
family, corporate or other interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of
Part XV of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements, no time during the year were the rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18
years of age to acquire such rights in any other corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 30 June 2023, no person, other than Mr. Victor Chan,
Ms. Cheng and Ms. Vicki Chan, whose interests are set
out in the section “Directors’ interests and short positions
in shares, underlying shares and debentures” above, had
registered an interest in 5% or more of the issued share
capital of the Company that was required to be recorded
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the connected party transactions, which also
constituted as related party transactions are set out in note
45 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least
25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by
the public as at the date of this report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

There are no other significant event after the reporting
period and up to the date of the Annual Report.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company to re-appoint the auditor, BDO Limited.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Wai Lap, Victor
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 September 2023
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Tel : +852 2218 8288 25t Floor Wing On Centre
Fax: +852 2815 2239 111 Connaught Road Central
www.bdo.com.hk Hong Kong

EEE 1 +852 2218 8288 BB
{2E : +852 2815 2239 FesEh11188
www.bdo.com.hk FkZ2rhi254&

TO THE MEMBERS OF CONTINENTAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Continental Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 84 to 274, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
30 June 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
30 June 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Impairment assessment of mining right and related non-financial
assets

(Refer to notes 3.8, 3.9, 3.11, 3.13, 4, 14, 15 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements)

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had carrying amounts (before
current year's reversal of impairment) in relation to mining right
and non-financial assets of approximately HK$454.8 million and
HK$29.7 million respectively relating to one of the cash-generating
units within the mining operation segment (the “Mining CGU II”).

Management has performed an impairment assessment in
accordance with the Group's accounting policies and recognised
reversal of impairment losses of mining right and property, plant
and equipment of approximately HK$22.7 million and HK$0.4
million respectively for the year ended 30 June 2023. Management
engaged an independent valuation firm to estimate the recoverable
amount of the Mining CGU Il using market approach with reference
to recent comparable transactions undertaken in the mining
industry.

We identified the impairment assessment of mining right and
related non-financial assets as a key audit matter because of its
significance to the consolidated financial statements and because
the selection of recent comparable transactions involve significant
judgement and estimates with respect to the underlying market
approach.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Our response:

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment
of mining right and non-financial assets attributable to the Mining
CGU II'included:

- evaluating the independent valuation firm's competence,
expertise and objectivity;

- assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology
used by management and the independent valuation firm;

- reviewing and challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions and critical judgement areas which underpin
the fair value estimation;

- engaging an auditor's expert to assist us to assess the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology and the
reasonableness of the inputs, assumptions and estimations
used by management and the independent valuation firm
which underpin the fair value estimation; and

- checking the accuracy and the relevance of the input data
used.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Valuation of investment properties
(Refer to notes 3.12, 4 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements)

The carrying amounts of the Group's investment properties at 30
June 2023 was HK$2,078.1 million. Investment properties are
measured at cost on initial recognition, and thereafter are carried
at fair value, with any changes therein recognised in profit or loss.
During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group recognised a fair
value loss on its investment properties of HK$27.8 million. The
valuation of investment properties involves significant judgement
and estimates and is underpinned by a number of key assumptions.
The Group carries out a valuation of its investment properties by
using income capitalisation method or direct comparison method,
as appropriate. To assist management in this area which involves
significant judgements and estimates, the Group engaged an
independent valuation firm to perform the property valuation.

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key audit
matter because of its significance to the consolidated financial
statements and because the valuation of investment properties can
be inherently subjective and requires significant judgement.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Our response:

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment properties
included:

- evaluating the independent valuation firm's competence,
expertise and objectivity;

- assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology
used by management and the independent valuation firm;

- reviewing and challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions and critical judgement areas which underpin
the fair value estimation;

- engaging an auditor's expert to assist us to assess the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology and the
reasonableness of the inputs, assumptions and estimation
used by management and the independent valuation firm
which underpin the fair value estimation; and

- checking the accuracy and the relevance of the input data
used.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Assessment of the net realisable value of the properties under
development

(Refer to notes 3.15, 4 and 24 to the consolidated financial
statements)

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had carrying amounts of property
under development of approximately HK$657.8 million.

Management has performed a net realisable value (“NRV")
assessment of the properties under development in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policies and recognised a write-down
of the properties under development of approximately HK$49.9
million for the year ended 30 June 2023. The NRV assessment
involves significant judgement and estimates and is underpinned by
a number of key assumptions including determining open market
value and/or the market evidence of transaction prices for similar
properties in the same locations and conditions and the estimated
costs to completion. To assist management in this area which
involves significant judgements and estimates, the Group engaged
an independent valuation firm to perform the NRV assessment.

We identified the NRV assessment of the properties under
development as a key audit matter because of its significance to the
consolidated financial statements and because the NRV assessment
of the properties under development can be inherently subjective
and requires significant judgement.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Our response:

Our procedures in relation to the NRV assessment of the properties
under development included:

- evaluating the independent valuation firm's competence,
expertise and objectivity;

- assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology
used by management and the independent valuation firm;

- reviewing and challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions and critical judgement areas which underpin
the NRV assessment;

- engaging an auditor's expert to assist us to assess the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology and the
reasonableness of the inputs, assumptions and estimation
used by management and the independent valuation firm
which underpin the NRV assessment; and

- checking the accuracy and the relevance of the input data
used.

Other Information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
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Other Information in the Annual Report (continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor's report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (continued)

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

. evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lui Chi Kin
Practising Certificate Number P06162

Hong Kong, 26 September 2023
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For the year ended 30 June 2023
BHE_Z_=—F A=1THILFE

LA

Sak 2 ElER

2023 2022
k=3 F#T FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
W & Revenue 6 455,608 603,926
BHE R A Cost of sales (389,355) (458,813)
EF Gross profit 66,253 145,113
HE R HEK A Selling and distribution costs (20,639) (15,495)
1THE A Administrative expenses (115,133) (117,410)
Hiplg A - HbUkzS K E5#8  Other income, other gains and losses 7,392 249
B 5 fEUGRIE R E A FE U IA  Reversal of impairment loss
R B E R R on trade receivables and
other receivables, net 4,785 270
REMEANFEZE Change in fair value of investment
properties 16 (27,797) 98,485
Y% RS N R 2 BEETIE  Reversal of impairment loss/
B[, CREEE) (Impairment loss) on property,
plant and equipment 14 419 (6,347)
RER 2z RERsERR Reversal of impairment loss/

CREEE) (Impairment loss) on mining right 20 22,728 (81,838)
BATE RN Finance costs 7 (34,281) (5,182)
BliEE&EhEER Share of results of joint ventures ) )
AN Share of results of associates (6,633) 313
MRETEHAT (B1E) EF (Loss)/Profit before income tax 8 (102,908) 18,157
s (A¥) #H%e Income tax (expense)/credit 9 (12,501) 20,305
£N (BE/) EH (Loss)/Profit for the year (115,409) 38,462
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income m ZF&1Ea R 2 ERGEE

For the year ended 30 June 2023
HE_Z-_=F A=1THILFE

2023 2022
Mt et FiET FET
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
Hitt = EU s R HIE Other comprehensive income,
net of tax
HEAEMNEZEEZEZ Items that may be subsequently
HE: reclassified to profit or loss:
IAFER AHMEEWEZ 2 Change in fair value of debt
B TAAFEZE instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (373) (392)
RHEEAAFEF AEMEE Reclassified to profit or loss upon
Wamz BRI ARES  disposal of debt financial
NEEEEE instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income 460 (108)
BMEBINEB ELZR Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations (30,577) (11,540)
HETEEHMHPEEHEEZ  Items that will not be
IHER: subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss:
AR EFAEMEEmWZZ Change in fair value of equity
BRATAEQAFEZE instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (872) (5,915)
ENHMmEEWE MBRBIE  Other comprehensive income
for the year, net of tax (31,362) (17,955)
FR2EK AR Total comprehensive income
for the year (146,771) 20,507
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For the year ended 30 June 2023
BHE_Z_=—F A=1THILFE

LA

Sak 2 ElER

2023 2022
k=3 F#T FET
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
FE(RE P (BEHR) i Fl: (Loss)/Profit for the year
attributable to:
ViN/NETEZZ =N Owners of the Company (98,286) 12,142
JEFE M 2 Non-controlling interests (17,123) 26,320
(115,409) 38,462
Bl ENEHE H=4E%E: Total comprehensive income for
the year attributable to:
NARER A Owners of the Company (129,766) (5,621)
FE 42 il e 2 Non-controlling interests (17,005) 26,128
(146,771) 20,507
B JBN
HK cents HK cents
AABBEE AR (BHE),~  (Loss)/Earnings per share for
Rz (EE) BT (loss)/profit attributable to
the owners of the Company 11
— =R — Basic (14.39) 1.78
—#E - Diluted (14.39) 1.78
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As at 30 June 2023
R-ZZE_=FA=1H

AR
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2023 2022
Hiat F#T FHETT
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
BEERERE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
ERBEE Non-current assets
I EN S Property, plant and equipment 14 27,072 30,251
EAEEE Right-of-use assets 15 38,295 41,049
B Investment properties 16 2,078,100 2,092,900
S Goodwill 17 8,124 8,124
mIEE Intangible assets 18 8,291 8,300
PRI RE Mining right 20 477,531 494,940
P RNl = Interests in associates 21 23,562 30,195
REEEE s Interests in joint ventures 22 1,039 1,041
LA’&%@%)\&WJ%@WEZ Financial assets at fair value through
TREE other comprehensive income 23 24,492 34,630
NEEFABZZEBMEE Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 27 10,048 10,860
FEETIBE E Deferred tax assets 37 1,023 2,728
2,697,577 2,755,018
MENEE Current assets
SRR YIS Properties under development 24 657,777 632,485
FE Inventories 25 183,173 209,081
2 5 e W KIE Trade receivables 26 64,591 108,755
SELNE/CER Bzi& Prepayments, deposits and other
/H%TEHSZ/TAIE receivables 15,262 11,790
N ifﬁﬁ)\ﬁﬁﬁiﬁ”& 52 Financial assets at fair value through
TREE other comprehensive income 23 2,308 =
AR 1@&)\%%&2%%&%3% Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 27 6,854 3,887
REH A A=MF LA LZEE Time deposit with original maturities
T over three months 28 6,406 =
fﬁ‘i\&fﬁﬁﬁgﬁ Cash and cash equivalents 29 90,695 144,008
1,027,066 1,110,006
REAE Current liabilities
B Z PN 7B Trade payables 30 (75,679) (106,595)
H ftn e ERIB R RE T B Other payables and accruals 30 (71,040) (57,916)
aHBIE Contract liabilities 31 (354) (268)
RITERK Bank loans 32 (854,387) (884,621)
HEBE Lease liabilities 33 (4,179) (4,168)
TWXHX?%ET#Z%“TJK Loan from a controlling shareholder 36 (4,306) =
& 1~ B HSE 1 B 3008 Due to related companies 35 (8,859) (6,877)
)Eﬁ/\ N1 AIE Due to joint ventures 22 (1,036) (1,036)
ﬁfﬁ?‘)\?ﬁ $Z%mAME Finandal liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss 27 (18) -
TRIE R Provision for tax (2,304) (2,301)
(1,022,162) (1,063,782)
REEEFE Net current assets 4,904 46,224
BEERTHER Total assets less current liabilities 2,702,481 2,801,242




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position =

As at 30 June 2023
R-ZZE-=F"A=1H

VAN
o=

BRI AR

2023 2022
it FETT FET
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
RITERK Bank loans 32 (203,990) (142,800)
HEAE Lease liabilities 33 (12,111) (11,550)
FEAS FEF2E I 2 TN 0E Due to non-controlling interests 34 (63,529) (56,275)
P& B HSE A | 5RIR Due to related companies 35 (27,987) (32,624)
TR AR IRt 2 B 3K Loan from a controlling shareholder 36 = (4,686)
BEFIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 37 (108,931) (106,941)
(416,548) (354,876)
BEFE Net assets 2,285,933 2,446,366
&= EQUITY
(&N Share capital 38 560,673 560,673
s Reserves 39 1,519,064 1,662,492
AARHEE ANEGES Equity attributable to the owners
of the Company 2,079,737 2,223,165
e HE = Non-controlling interests 206,196 223,201
SR Total equity 2,285,933 2,446,366
REREEZ On behalf of the Board
R {2 3L Chan Wai Lap, Victor
EZE Director
B ) 3 Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley
EZ Director
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HE_Z-_=F A=1THILFE

2023 2022
k=3 F#ET FAET
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
RETHHRERE Cash flows from operating
activities
BrETISEL R (BE),HH (Loss)/Profit before income tax (102,908) 18,157
B T3IIEE AR Adjustments for:
B R AN Finance costs 34,281 5,182
EhaEREER Share of results of joint ventures 2 1
il N e Share of results of associates 6,633 (313)
Y R E KRR ETE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 3,905 4,137
FHREESENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 5,902 6,015
st 2 CRfER 188 E )~  (Reversal of impairment loss)/

BEEE Impairment loss on mining right (22,728) 81,838
WE EMEEZ (Reversal of impairment loss)/

CREEERR), Impairment loss on property,

BEEE plant and equipment (419) 6,347
FE#E Provision for inventories 507 7,388
2 5 FE W SR IE F2 H th fE U Reversal of impairment loss

RIE 2 REBERLFE on trade receivables and

other receivables, net (4,785) (270)
WOREE R YE Write-down of properties under

development 49,859 -
HEWE BENMEZBEUAK  Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property,

EAEEEZ plant and equipment and

BB () right-of-use assets 70 (33)
S AT EFAEAD Loss/(Gain) on disposal of

THERZEBeRIAEZ debt financial instruments

B (M) at fair value through other

comprehensive income 460 (108)
REMERNTEZED Change in fair value of
investment properties 27,797 (98,485)
AT ERABR 22/ Fair value loss on financial assets
BEZ N HEER at fair value through
profit or loss 2,299 5,142
R EIR SN E5 18 Unrealised foreign exchange loss 1,648 537
BLRE —[E R B A Rl 5B Gain on debt modification on
1EEEIE 2 Wz amount due to a related
company (1,293) (1,407)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows m RS ERER

For the year ended 30 June 2023
HE_Z_=F A=1THILFE

2023 2022
it Fi#ET FET
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
EELESEHAZLEER  Operating profit before
working capital changes 1,230 34,128
BRBPYIEIEM Increase in properties under
development (64,390) (294,493)
FEERL, (1) Decrease/(Increase) in inventories 25,401 (2,052)
B S RWFHIE R,/ (#101)  Decrease/(Increase) in trade
receivables 47,546 (6,892)
TARTFRIE iR e R HA Increase in prepayments,
JE YR IE N deposits and other receivables (2,004) (2,749)
AR EGT AERm SR (Increase)/Decrease in
BEKBE (M), R financial assets and liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (4,436) 7,534
B 5 R H B RIE K& Decrease in trade and
JEETE AR other payables and accruals (17,792) (22,487)
AHBaEEM, CRd) Increase/(Decrease) in contract
liabilities 86 (452)
REMAZRE Cash used in operations (14,359) (287,463)
ERHE Interest paid (44,064) (14,778)
B ATSH Income tax paid (165) (961)
BEEBTRZH £ F8H Net cash used in operating
activities (58,588) (303,202)
BREFHRERE Cash flows from investing
activities
REWE HEREE Additions to property,
plant and equipment (2,405) (2,078)
NBEREYE Additions to investment properties (11,990) (56,479)
HEYE  BEMEZMBEAK  Proceeds from disposal of
ERREEZFI1SRIE property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets - 33
HENATFEFAEMEE  Proceeds from disposal of financial
Wiz &mMEEZATSFIE  assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income 6,585 3,826
GFRREH A A={EH LA £ Placement of time deposits
TEHFER with original maturities
over three months (6,406) -
BEARAFEFABRZ Purchase of financial assets at fair
TREE value through profit or loss = (3,8698)
BEUAAFEF AEMEE  Purchase of financial assets
W2z & mEE at fair value through other
comprehensive income - (6,818)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows m ZRSIRERER
For the year ended 30 June 2023
HEZZE-_=FX A=1THLFE
2023 2022
k=3 F#ET FET
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000

REZBHAZHEFHE Net cash used in investing

activities (14,216) (65,384)
METBRERE Cash flow from financing

activities 47
EIRE Dividend paid (13,662) (13,662)
FE1% Il 7 2R E K Advance from non-controlling

interests 7,254 7,490
WHE FEIE R EE A 2 Cash outflows arising from

R acquisition of non-controlling

interests - (6,987)
BRASEEBELREESHE Repayment of principal and interest

amount of lease liabilities (5,303) (5,242)
FMILIRITER New bank loans 1,145,015 598,786
ERIFITTER Repayment of bank loans (1,114,018) (407,815)
HEFBFZREFH Net cash generated from

financing activities 19,286 172,570
RERREERAELER Net decrease in cash and

cash equivalents (53,518) (196,016)
FHMZRERREEH Cash and cash equivalents

at beginning of year 144,008 340,207
INEEREE L E FH Effect of foreign exchange rate

changes, net 205 (183)
ERZBRERAEER Cash and cash equivalents

at end of year 90,695 144,008




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity m ZR S E R

For the year ended 30 June 2023
HE_Z-_=F A=THILFE

K0TREARRES
Fquity attibutable to the owners of the Compeny
HATE
ARH
Rt ERERE TUARER B izl ] HARE EXROBRE REEGER REAGER REEH R 5]
Fair value
Share Non- Capial Eichange Assets through other Non-
Share opton  distibutable Other Specdl  contrbuton fluctuation revaugion  comprehensive: Retaned contoling
aptdl resene fesene fesene fesene Tesene fesene fesene  income resene frofts Toal inferest
i FEr 7Hr FEr FET FET i FEr A 7Hr FEr
o s S0 S0 S0 S0 ey S0 HS009 S0 s
RZBZ-§ARAZTAR Balance as at 30 June 2021 and
ZRC-5tA-HIER 1July 2021 560,673 6,609 213606 (5610) 2103 28567 1085 3,385 33%9 1331909 2244251 202257 2446508
“Ro-FREER (M) 2021 fel didend e 10 - - - - - - - - - (13662 (13662) - (13662
BHERERLRELT Changes i onnership nerest i a
EaEERY subsidry withoutchangein contol - - - (1,786) - - (1 - - - (1803 (5,184 (6987)
HEEALRS Tansacions vith owners - - - (1,78) - - ] - - (13662 (15465) (5,184 (20649)
£ Profit forthe year - - - - - - - - - 114 1,14 630 346
Eh2Eka: Other comprehensive income:
BEENER BN 2R Bxchange difeences on ranaton of
oregn operations - - - - - - (11,34) - - - (11,348) (19) (11,540)
WATEAZb2ENEZ Changes in fairvalue of fiencil
SHEENTELRY asels i vle through fher
comprehensive income - - - - - - - - (6307) - (6307) - (6,307)
IMHENATEARIREREZ  Redassfi toprofit oross upon diposal
ERERIARENRERE o debtfnandl instrument at fa
vale through other comprefiensive
income - - - - - - - - (108) - (108) - (108)
FneERELR Total comprehensive income
for the year = = = = = = (11.348) = (6:415) 1214 (5621) %18 20507

RIBZZERAZTAZER Balance at 30 June 2022 560673 6,60 173606 (139" (2103 867 (509 36385 (B0sgr  1330389F 223165 previl 2446366
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For the year ended 30 June 2023
HE_Z-_=F A=THILFE

KRAREARERE
Equity attributable to the owners o the Company
IWATE
AR
B BRERE TUAREE LhER HHRE HERE  ERNORE EEEGEE 2ENERA REEH g FEsER Ea4E
Fair value
Share Non- Capital Exchange Assets  through other Non-
Share option ~ distrbutable: Other Specal  contnbution  fluctuation  revaluation ~ comprehensive Retained controling Total
capital Teserve reserve eserve Teserve reserve reserve Teserve  income reserve profits Total interests equity
FEL FEi k23 7L FEL FEr 7L 7L FEi bz 7L FEi Fér
HKS000 HKS 000 HKS0no HS00 HKS 000 HKSono HES00 HKS00 S0 HKS000 HKS00 HKS 000 HSono
RZBZZERRZTAR Balance as at 30 June 2022 and
ZRCIEYR-HZER 1 uly 202 560,673 6,609 13606 (1:3%) (2103) 2,561 (509) 36,385 (3056) 1330389 2203165 w0 2,446,366
“E-CERERS (Ki) 200 il diicend e 10 - - - - - (B6) (3R - (13662)
BEEALRS Tensacions vith owners - - - - - (13662) (13662) - (13662)
ERER Loss for the year - - - - - (98.286) (08.286) (11123 (115,409)
Efe2dEhz: Other comprehensive income:
BEENER BN ER Fichange diferences on trangaton o
foreign operations - - - (30,699) - - (30,69) 118 (30577)
Changes in far value offiandal
asets at fairvale through other
Comprehensie income = © = o (1245) (1.285) = (1.245)
Redlasfied to profit oross upon disposal
of debtfiancl insrument at fair
vlue through other comprefensie
ncome - - - - 40 40 - 40
EREEREGR Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - (30,699) - (785) (98,286) (129,766) (17,005) (146,771)
REENATEAAZBAENEZ  Transfor with equity upon disposal of
BEIAREREE equity instruments at far value
through other comprehensive
income - - - - B 3 -
RIBZZERAZTRZER Balance at 30 June 2023 560673 6,609* 273,606 (7.3%)* (2103 8,567 (31,204 36385* (3ar 1218444 2019131 206,1% 208593
* ZEFBERBIERE M BHRRART * These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of

2R A FE1,519,064,000 T (=&
= — % :1,662,492,000/ 7T ) °

HK$1,519,064,000 (2022: HK$1,662,492,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023
BHE_Z_=—F A=1THILFE

— —RRER 1. GENERAL INFORMATION

BEMHEEBBERQR ([AQ
all) B —ERE B MK
NEB Bz BR AR A
AR EE 2 i R EBE
EMmBABEBNEAHMBES
11558V IE TR R O & = EEM
RNE - RRBRHDREBEE
REMAERRAR ([BRFT]) £

N

mo
AREREKEAR (HHE R
SE ) EERBATER:

. R HE BRERREE
HEE M RBE (KR
#75))

. MERE RBER

. P

. B’E

EERR ARNE 2 &EER
A Bl ATamar Investments Group
Limited ' ZZ ARl A —EREBRE

o83 Ei]D AVAPA/NCIK

e MBmMRABT (KREIZ
MREE®)2H-

Continental Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated and domiciled in Hong
Kong. The address of the Company’s registered office and
principal place of business is Flats M & N, 1st Floor, Kaiser
Estate, Phase Ill, 11 Hok Yuen Street, Hunghom, Kowloon,
Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the following

activities:

o Design, manufacturing, marketing and trading
of fine jewellery and diamonds (the “Jewellery
Business”)

o Property investment and development

o Mining operation

° Investment

In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s ultimate
holding company is Tamar Investments Group Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023
HE_Z-_=F A=1THILFE
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GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 84 to
274 have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (""HKFRSs”) which collective
terms include all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs")
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (""HKICPA") and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial
statements also include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules"”).

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs

(a) Adoption of revised HKFRSs - effective from
1 July 2022

The Group has adopted the following revised
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA that are relevant
to its operations and effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2022.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform - Pillar Two
Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfillng a
Contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

20182020 Cycle

The adoption of these amended HKFRSs has
no material impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023
HE_Z_=FA=THILFE
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2. ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but

are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially

relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial

statements, have been issued, but are not yet

effective and have not been early adopted by the

Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply

these changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 21

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture”

Classification of Liabilites as Current or Non-current
(the "2020 Amendments" -4

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments"y

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Supplier Finance Arrangements’

Definition of Accounting Estimates’

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilties Arising
from a Single Transaction’

Lack of Exchangeability”

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’

HKFRS 17 and the related amendments  Insurance Contracts’
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2. ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

’ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024

Z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2025

& As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments,
the effective date of the 2020 Amendments was
deferred to annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

5 No mandatory effective date yet determined by
available for adoption
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where
there is a sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture. When
the transaction with an associate or joint venture
that is accounted for using the equity method, any
gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of
a subsidiary that does not contain a business are
recognised in the profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or
joint venture. Similarly, any gains or losses resulting
from the remeasurement of retained interest in any
former subsidiary (that has become an associate or
a joint venture) to fair value are recognised in the
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investors’ interests in the new associate or joint
venture.
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”)

The amendments clarify the requirements on
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
2020 Amendments provide clarification that if an
entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is
subject to compliance with future covenants, the
entity has a right to defer settlement of the liability
even if it does not comply with those covenants at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of
the liability. The 2020 Amendments also clarify the
situations that are considered as a settlement of a
liability.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The amendments clarify how to treat liabilities that
are subject to covenants to be complied with, at
a date subsequent to the reporting period. The
2022 Amendments improve the information an
entity provides when its right to defer settlement
of a liability for at least twelve months is subject to
compliance with covenants. The 2022 Amendments
clarify that only covenants with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date will affect a
liability's classification as current or non-current.
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The key amendments to HKAS 1 include (i) requiring
companies to disclose their material accounting
policies rather than their significant accounting
policies; (ii) clarifying that accounting policies
related to immaterial transactions, other events
or conditions are themselves immaterial and as
such need not be disclosed; and (iii) clarifying
that not all accounting policies that relate to
material transactions, other events or conditions
are themselves material to a company’s financial
statements.

Amended HKFRS Practice Statement 2 includes
guidance and two additional examples on the
application of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures.
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7, Supplier
Finance Arrangements

The amendments introduce new disclosure
requirements to enhance the transparency of
supplier finance arrangements and their effects on
an entity's liabilities, cash flows and exposure to
liquidity risk.

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments introduce a new definition for
accounting estimates: clarifying that they are
monetary amounts in the financial statements that
are subject to measurement uncertainty.

The amendments also clarify the relationship
between accounting policies and accounting
estimates by specifying that a company develops an
accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out
by an accounting policy.
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2. ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred Tax Related
to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single
Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the
recognition exemption so that it no longer applies to
transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction,
to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. The amendments are intended to
improve the requirements for sale and leaseback
transactions in HKFRS 16. They do not change the
accounting for leases unrelated to sale and leaseback
transactions.
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 17 and the related Amendments, Insurance
Contracts

The new standard establishes the principles for
the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of insurance contracts and supersedes
HKFRS 4, Insurance Contracts. The standard outlines
a ‘General Model’, which is modified for insurance
contracts with direct participation features, described
as the ‘Variable Fee Approach’. The General Model is
simplified if certain criteria are met by measuring the
liability for remaining coverage using the Premium
Allocation Approach.

Amendments in 2020 introduced changes to
simplify some of the requirements; make financial
performance easier to explain and ease transition by
providing addition transition reliefs. Amendments
in 2022 introduced a transition option relating to
comparative information about financial assets
presented on initial application of HKFRS 17 to avoid
temporary accounting mismatches between financial
assets and insurance contract liabilities.

The directors of the Company have performed an
assessment on new standards, amendments and
interpretations, and have concluded on a preliminary
basis that these new standards and amendments
would not have a significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in subsequent
years.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation

The significant accounting policies that have been
used in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements are summarised below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis except for
certain properties and financial instruments, which
are measured at fair values as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates
and assumptions are used in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements. Although
these estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge and judgement of current events and
actions, actual results may ultimately differ from
those estimates. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
note 4.



Annual Report 2023 “F #f;

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B8R FRHizE

For the year ended 30 June 2023
HE_Z-_=F A=1THILFE

3.2

EBEHRGEEREE

RAENBHRREBEART
K E W8~ w) 2 B 75
KonAERZREER
BIEMEERE R AR BB m A
KRBT A M EHRRE 2
B H - AR B B
AREBREBE RIFAEX
FRHEEBRBERIEER
ZEEHBRE E%IF
AT BREERERE

=7
Ao

FARBHHEZHBR
BlZFEBWREEM AR
EREEHEEMA ML
(MBER) A AER
KEMPEKEGEER - BE
B AR @t BUREAR
SEEAMKE ARIFER
FEoBCAREERLE
Ry SR B Y BB 1 A 2 A T
%o

REE—HEBNEE -
MZARB R EENG?
B BEGIgCDE
BEAREER  KEE(E
R ER X6 6 A
R-REBEX—HAEBR
BERDRERE A%
BRHEFTES %A EE
MESREELBE—IR
MARBEEMNRF AR
ERBRNELED-

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Business combination and basis of
consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and
balances between group companies together with
unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the effective dates of acquisition or up
to the effective dates of disposal, as appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with those used by other
members of the Group.

The Group accounts for business combinations
using the acquisition method when the acquired
set of activities and assets meets the definition of
a business and control is transferred to the Group.
In determining whether a particular set of activities
and assets is a business, the Group assesses whether
the set of assets and activities acquired includes, at
a minimum, an input and substantive processes and
whether the acquired set has the ability to produce
outputs.

ul



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B 18R MzE

For the year ended 30 June 2023
BHE_Z_=—F A=1THILFE

(@)

= XE

(&)

3.2

ERTECRIE

EBEHRESEE
(%)

W R AR TSR A
FTELBBERAER ({F
BT ) T TR AR
=PRI AT ER
B2 FTRB 2 AT 5
BERMEEZABEE
RWE R AFER
= o RSB LRI FTIF IR
Bz AR EE R
HZ AT EEHFE M
FTEE £ 2 e sk B 18 IR
BRER AEEZE
TR HEERZIRNTE
SR FE (L 1R U RS 75 AT R
SFEEZLAFTEEER
PiEE AR B R A R
ZIEE R - P H A
FEFE R RS TR A FERT
= BRIERBMBHREE
A|ZEk B —Est2 %R
1ERIGR - NEB & X AT
EEZWERBKA &
FEH BT T ARE
EEZBRT BEX
AR REFSHIBR ©

W TERE MK
AREBIREERRZA
FEMER  EREREE
HZ ARENBERS
BN (RERAHKBEEH
HEE12ME A ) RS A
AR ER Sz AT EZ
MENE T RBEEE
R-NBREESLRARFZ
HIARBZAEEMBER
BTN RS ER

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (continued)

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets
transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests
issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed are principally
measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured at acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit
or loss. The Group may elect, on a transaction-by-
transaction basis, to measure the non-controlling
interests that represent present ownership interests
in the subsidiary either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value unless another measurement
basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs
incurred are expensed unless they are incurred in
issuing equity instruments in which case the costs
are deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair
value. Subsequent adjustments to consideration are
recognised against goodwill only to the extent that
they arise from new information obtained within
the measurement period (a maximum of 12 months
from the acquisition date) about the fair value at the
acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments
to contingent consideration classified as an asset or a
liability are recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group's interest and the non-controlling interest
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interest
is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (i) the previous carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary
are accounted for in the same manner as would
be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were
disposed of.
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A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: (i) power over the investee, (ii) exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from the investee, and (iii)
the ability to use its power to affect those variable
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in
any of these elements of control.

De-facto control exists in situations where the
Company has the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee without holding the
majority of the voting rights. In determining whether
de-facto control exists, the Company considers all
relevant facts and circumstances, including:

- The size of the Company's voting rights
relative to both the size and dispersion of
other parties who hold voting rights;

- Substantive potential voting rights held by
the Company and other parties who hold
voting rights;

- Other contractual arrangements; and

- Historic patterns in voting attendance.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

33

34

Subsidiaries (continued)

In the Company's statement of financial position,
interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary
nor a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but not control or
joint control over those policies. In consolidated
financial statements, associates are accounted for
using the equity method whereby they are initially
recognised at cost and thereafter, their carrying
amount are adjusted for the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition change in the associates’ net assets
except that losses in excess of the Group's interest
in the associate are not recognised unless there is an
obligation to make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between
the Group and its associates are recognised only
to the extent of unrelated investors' interests in
the associate. The investor’s share in the associate’s
profits or losses resulting from these transactions
is eliminated against the carrying value of the
associate.

O
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

34

3.5

Associates (continued)

Any premium paid for an associate above the
fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired
is capitalised and included in the carrying amount
of the associate and the entire carrying amount of
the investment is subject to impairment test, by
comparing the carrying amount with its recoverable
amount, which is higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal.

Joint arrangements

The Group is a party to a joint arrangement where
there is a contractual arrangement that confers
joint control over the relevant activities of the
arrangement to the Group and at least one other
party. Joint control is assessed under the same
principles as control over subsidiaries.

The Group classifies its interests in joint
arrangements as either:

- Joint ventures: where the Group has rights to
only the net assets of the joint arrangement;
or

- Joint operations: where the Group has both
the rights to assets and obligations for the
liabilities of the joint arrangement.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.5

Joint arrangements (continued)

In assessing the classification of interests in joint
arrangements, the Group considers:

The structure of the joint arrangement;

- The legal form of joint arrangements
structured through a separate vehicle;

- The contractual terms of the joint
arrangement agreement; and

- Any other facts and circumstances (including
any other contractual arrangements).

Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method whereby they are initially recognised at
cost and thereafter, their carrying amounts are
adjusted for the Group's share of post-acquisition
changes in the joint ventures’ net assets except
that losses in excess of the Group’s interest in the
joint venture are not recognised unless there is an
obligation to make good those losses. Profits or
losses arising on the transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the joint
venture. The investors’ share in the joint venture's
profits and losses resulting from these transactions
is eliminated against the carrying value of the joint
venture. Where unrealised losses provide evidence
of impairment of the assets transferred, they are
recognised immediately to profit or loss.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.5

3.6

Joint arrangements (continued)

Any premium paid for an investment in a joint
venture above the fair value of the Group's share
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities acquired is capitalised and included in
the carrying amount of the investment in a joint
venture. Where there is objective evidence that the
investment in a joint venture has been impaired,
the carrying amount of the investment is tested for
impairment in the same way as other non-financial
assets.

Foreign currency translation

In the individual financial statements of the
consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions
are translated into the functional currency of the
individual entity using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the reporting
date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the reporting date
retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined and are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.6

Foreign currency translation (continued)

In the consolidated financial statements, all
individual financial statements of foreign operations,
originally presented in a currency different from the
Group's presentation currency, have been converted
into HK$. Assets and liabilities have been translated
into HK$ at the closing rates at the reporting date.
Income and expenses have been converted into
HK$ at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates, or at the average rates over the reporting
period provided that the exchange rates do not
fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from
this procedure have been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in the exchange fluctuation reserve in equity.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
exchange differences recognised in the exchange
fluctuation reserve relating to that operation up to
the date of disposal are reclassified to profit or loss
as part of the profit or loss on disposal.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.7

Goodwill

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and
liabilities exceed the aggregate of the fair value
of consideration paid, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree, the excess is
recognised in profit or loss on the acquisition date,
after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
arising from an acquisition is allocated to each of the
relevant cash-generating units that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-
generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of
assets that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets. A cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, by comparing its carrying amount with its
recoverable amount (see note 3.13), and whenever
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.7

3.8

Goodwill (continued)

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial
year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that financial year. When the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the
carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss
is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the
other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the
carrying amount to each asset in the unit. However,
the loss allocated to each asset will not reduce the
individual asset’s carrying amount to below its fair
value less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its value
in use (if determinable), whichever is the higher. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit
or loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost, which
comprise purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses (note
3.13). Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other costs such as repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

ul
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.8

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Other than mining structures and the construction in

progress, depreciation is calculated on the straight-

line basis to write off the cost of each asset over its

estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Factory buildings Over the term of the leases or

estimated useful lives of 25 years,

whichever is shorter

Commercial buildings Over the term of the leases or

estimated useful lives of 33 years,

whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements Over the term of the leases or

estimated useful lives of 4 years,

whichever is shorter

10% - 33%

17% - 20%

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

Motor vehicles 25%

Depreciation on mining structures is provided to
write off the cost of the mining structure using units-
of-production method based on the total proven and
probable mineral reserves of the ore mines.

The depreciation method, assets’ residual values
and useful lives, are reviewed and adjusted, if
appropriate, at each reporting date. The gain or loss
on retirement or disposal of an asset of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss on
disposal.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.8

3.9

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Construction in progress is stated at cost less
impairment losses. Cost comprises direct costs
of construction. No depreciation is provided for
in respect of construction in progress until it is
completed and ready for its intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing

All leases are required to be capitalised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting
policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to
capitalise (i) leases which are short-term leases and/
or (ii) leases for which the underlying asset is of low-
value. The Group has elected not to recognise right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value assets
and leases for which at the commencement date
have a lease term less than 12 months. The lease
payments associated with those leases have been
expensed on straight-line basis over the lease term.

~l



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B 18R MzE

For the year ended 30 June 2023
BHE_Z_=—F A=1THILFE

0]

= XE

(&)

3.9

ERTECRIE

HeE (&)

EHEEE

RS ERK AR R
RBeRE: ()VWiRtERE
BEZER (A TXHAH
HEEREARZEX
) ¢ (iR Fs A Bz
AIE S 2 (AR E N BB
ERERBEEEE: (i)
AEAELE ZEAVRE
BB R (v)EAE ABRHE
B IR MR R E 2R RE
Prbr RBERERE B E R
B 2 ABRTRCAS  BRIFR%
FRATIREEFEME
HERIBRSN - BRFT R IR E W)
XERZERBREEIN
REERARAERGTE
ERREE - RIFAR
B AR B R A AR AR
Rt E RMEMREEE
AAEERREE WE
ERBEZTAEHEE
HAE - FEREMETE
B ERAREERAFE
518 -

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.9

Leasing (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use asset is recognised at cost and
would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability (see below for
the accounting policy to account for lease liability);
(ii) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received; (iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the
lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred
by the lessee in dismantling and removing the
underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories. Except
for right-of-use asset that meets the definition of
an investment property, the Group measures the
right-of-use assets applying a cost model. Under
the cost model, the Group measures the right-of-
use asset at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liability. For right-of-use
asset that meets the definition of an investment
property, they are carried at fair value.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.9

Leasing (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

The Group accounts for leasehold land and buildings
that are held for rental or capital appreciation
purpose under HKAS 40 and are carried at fair value.
The Group accounts for buildings which is held for
own use under HKAS 16 and would be under cost
model. For right-of-use assets related to interests
in leasehold land where interest in the land is held
as inventory are carried at lower of cost and net
realisable value in accordance with note 3.15. Other
than the above right-of-use assets, the Group also
has leased a number of properties under tenancy
agreements which the Group exercises it judgement
and determines that it is a separate class of asset
apart from the leasehold land and buildings which
is held for own use. As a result, the right-of-use
asset arising from the properties under tenancy
agreements are carried at depreciated cost.

Lease liabilities

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date
of commencement of the lease. The lease payments
are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses
the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

Xe)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.9

Leasing (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The following payments for the right-of-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are
not paid at the commencement date of the lease
are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed
payments less any lease incentives receivable; (ii)
variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at commencement date; (i) amounts expected
to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase
option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise
that option; and (v) payments of penalties for
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (i) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring
the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment
or lease modifications, e.g., a change in future
lease payments arising from change in an index or
rate, a change in the lease term, a change in the
in substance fixed lease payments or a change in
assessment to purchase the underlying asset.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.9

Leasing (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms
of a lease with the lessor, if the renegotiation results
in one or more additional assets being leased for
an amount commensurate with the standalone
price for the additional rights-of-use obtained, the
modification is accounted for as a separate lease.
In all other cases, where the renegotiated increases
the scope of the lease (whether that is an extension
to the lease term, or one or more additional assets
being leased), the lease liability is remeasured using
the discount rate applicable on the modification
date, with the right-of-use asset being adjusted by
the same amount. If the renegotiation results in a
decrease in the scope of the lease, both the carrying
amounts of the lease liability and right-of-use asset
are reduced by the same proportion to reflect the
partial or full termination of the lease with any
difference recognised in profit or loss. The lease
liability is then further adjusted to ensure its carrying
amount reflects the amount of the renegotiated
payments over the renegotiated term, with the
modified lease payments discounted at the rate
applicable on the modification date and the right-of-
use asset is adjusted by the same amount.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.9

3.10

3.1

Leasing (continued)

Accounting as lessor

The Group has leased out its investment properties
to a number of tenants. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
as an expense on the straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses (see the
accounting policy in note 3.13 below in respect of
impairment losses on intangible assets).

Mining right

Mining right is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses and are
amortised on the units-of-production method based
on the total proven and probable reserves of the ore
mines.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.12

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold interest
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.
These include land held for a currently undetermined
future use and property that is being constructed or
developed for future use as investment property.

When the Group holds a property interest under
an operating lease to earn rental income and/or
for capital appreciation, the interest is classified
and accounted for as an investment property on
a property-by-property basis. Any such property
interest which has been classified as an investment
property is accounted for as if it were held under a
finance lease.

On initial recognition, investment property is
measured at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment property is stated at fair value, unless it
is still in the course of construction or development
at the reporting date and its fair value cannot
be reliably determined at that time. Fair value is
determined by external professional valuers, with
sufficient experience with respect to both the
location and the nature of the investment property.
The carrying amounts recognised at the reporting
date reflect the prevailing market conditions at the
reporting date.

Gains or losses arising from either changes in the
fair value or the sale of an investment property are
included in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.12

3.13

Investment properties (continued)

An item of Investment property is derecognised
upon disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from the disposal.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property, calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.

Impairment of non-financial assets (except for
goodwill)

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
mining right, and interests in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures are subject to impairment testing.
They are tested for impairment whenever there are
indications that the assets’ carrying amount may not
be recoverable.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that they may be
impaired.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value,
reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessment of time value of
money and the risk specific to the asset.



Annual Report 2023 “F #f;

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B8R FRHizE

For the year ended 30 June 2023
HE_Z-_=F A=1THILFE

FERMEERE (BB
o) (&)

A EREN S  HEE
REELEARY EBYNE
EEZRESRA QIR
SEeRAIBYELARS
MAZ &/NEERER (B
ReELXEM)EEAK
Bl BOEE
BB EITRER D - 8D
AEREELBEMER
TR, - (DR EE 18
Bz AZRETEE
BUCEENG HEEE
REETERABEER
H A8 B A F B R &K
A (WA E)REME
B(WAEE) (ARG
BERE) -

WANEEEER KOS
M AT HIRAENES)
A ERER R HEEE
Z BRI & NS R A I
EEDREBEEMEEZ
FRETHE (KMBRTER
) -

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.13

Impairment of non-financial assets (except for
goodwiill) (continued)

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent from those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a CGU). As a result, some assets
are tested individually for impairment and some are
tested at CGU level. Any impairment loss is charged
pro-rata to the assets in the CGU, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less cost of disposal
(if measurable) or value in use (if determinable),
whichever is the higher.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount and
only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.

ul
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial Instruments

(@

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade
receivable without a significant financing
component) is initially measured at fair value
plus, for an item not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.
A trade receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured at
the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives
are considered in their entirely when
determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.
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= FEGSHBRBTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

(&) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
314 £@THE (&) 3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)
0] THEE (&) () Financial assets (continued)
&% T A Debt instruments
BT A ZBE Subsequent measurement of debt
SFERURRAS instruments depends on the Group’s business
BEREE X model for managing the asset and the cash
BEAREEZ flow characteristics of the asset. There are
WEMER - A& three measurement categories into which the

B EBTAE
DRE=ZEFER
Al

Group classifies its debt instruments:

ABESEAK A FH =2 Financial assets at amortised cost: Assets
ZEREE 8 that are held for collection of contractual
R & £ B 2 cash flows where those cash flows represent
MZEEWMEN solely payments of principal and interest are
IR & 4B A& measured at amortised cost. Financial assets
e RFIE - BIA at amortised cost are subsequently measured
BESHRKARGTE A using the effective interest method. Interest
BEXKAGTEZ income, foreign exchange gains and losses
TREERER® and impairment are recognised in profit or

FAEBR A R ORET
B FLE WA S
PEE 18 2 S Ot (B
BT - R LR
B2 R RS R

1Bt

loss. Any gain on derecognition is recognised
in profit or loss.

~
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

()

Financial assets (continued)
Debt instruments (continued)

Fair value through profit or loss: Financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading,
financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or
loss, or financial assets mandatorily required
to be measured at fair value. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of selling or
repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives,
are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets with cash flows
that are not solely payments of principal
and interest are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss, irrespective
of the business model. Notwithstanding
the criteria for debt instruments to be
classified at amortised cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income, as
described above, debt instruments may be
designated at fair value through profit or loss
on initial recognition if doing so eliminates,
or significantly reduces, an accounting
mismatch.
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= FEGSHBRBTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

(%) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
314 £@THE (&) 3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)
() THEE (&) () Financial assets (continued)

EHTHA (&)

Debt instruments (continued)

AAFEFAR Fair value through other comprehensive
2 E S AR income: Financial assets that are held within
B WHL & 4938 a business model whose objective is to be

EREEEER
BEEKRBREZ
EBEEARA
HeERMEERND
iR R4 E B 8
SIEMERZ
A RAREER
TRMNEZRE
mZEMEE T

achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the financial
assets give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount
outstanding are measured at fair value
though other comprehensive income.
Interest income calculated using the effective

WA FEF A interest method, foreign exchange gains
Hth 2 EK =2 and losses and impairment are recognised
FRFE-FRE in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses

BRA XA E 2
MBUA - HNE S
5 N 85 18 LA KR
BTN B ER -
H ek I &5 18
FEIREME
ER S HERR - I
IERERRE - R E A
2HWRERFTZ
Yas 5B g [El

BEiEE-

are recognised in other comprehensive
income. On derecognition, gains and losses
accumulated in other comprehensive income
are recycled to profit or loss.

\e)
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(i)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued))

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment
that is not held for trading, the Group could
irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in the investment's fair value in
other comprehensive income. This election is
made on an investment-by-investment basis.
Equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income are measured
at fair value. Dividend income are recognised
in profit or loss unless the dividend income
clearly represents a recovery of part of the
cost of the investments. Other net gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income and are not reclassified to profit
or loss. All other equity instruments are
classified as fair value through profit or loss,
whereby changes in fair value, dividends and
interest income are recognised in profit or
loss.
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= FEGSHBRBTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

(%) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
314 £@THE (&) 3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)
(i)  BEEEZEE (i) Impairment loss on financial assets
b=l
REERE ZHE The Group recognises loss allowances for
W SR I8 Ko DA # 84 expected credit loss (“ECLs”) on trade
AT EZ 2/ receivables and financial assets measured at
BENLNENRAF amortised cost and debt instruments at fair
Bt AHMEE value through other comprehensive income.
WamzEHILA The ECLs are measured on either of the
ZTEHEEEE following bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these
HREERE B are the ECLs that result from possible default
HEEEEZI events within the 12 months after the

TEHR—EEE
FE:(1) 128 A8
TEHAEEEE 48
F & B H 12
& B R A] BE 3 A4
ZEHEHmE
BB EEE
B k)2 HE
HEEEE R
ST AEEHF
B FT A o] RE 2
EZEHNEHM
BREHEER
E518 o P AT TE AP
EEBERZE
2 &= B AKX
EEEmEEER
SRR EHER -

reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these
are ECLs that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

HHEEEET ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
FEEEBEBE X of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
IR ET -5 E R as the difference between all contractual
BERERESOE cash flows that are due to the Group in
NAEE 2B accordance with the contract and all the
B HE &R ER cash flows that the Group expects to receive.
SEBEHBKER 2 The shortfall is then discounted at an
FrER e m2ME approximation to the assets’ original effective
ZEEFE 7D interest rate.

EZEBEREZE

EZBHRER

AL o
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(continued)

The Group has elected to measure loss
allowances for trade receivables using HKFRS
9 simplified approach and has calculated
ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is
based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are
based on the 12-months ECLs. However,
when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since origination, the allowance
will be based on the lifetime ECLs.
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= FEGSHBRBTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

(%) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
314 £@THE (&) 3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)
(i)  BEEEZEE (i) Impairment loss on financial assets
B (& (continued)
RETEZREE When determining whether the credit risk of
ZIEERRBEY a financial asset has increased significantly
BERARER since initial recognition and when estimating
BRI e R ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and
HEEHREES supportable information that is relevant and
B AEEgE available without undue cost or effort. This
BEBEREREN includes both quantitative and qualitative
SRR Sl o i information analysis, based on the Group's
% AR &S historical experience and informed credit
ZEaBEAAEBR assessment and including forward-looking
TRER BEE information.
RAEBZ2ESE
KB EESAE
At zEE R
EMERST B
FERIBE A AL o
fit & @b & &= 8 5 The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
FRiE30H « BIARE financial asset has increased significantly if it
BREBEZEEZ is more than 30 days past due. Depending
FERBREBAE on the nature of the financial instruments,
EMe-EFERT the assessment of a significant increase

EmMEEmiE -
EEERBEZER

in credit risk is performed on either an
individual or a collective basis. When the

ey EF fd T5 4% (& assessment is performed on a collective basis,
Bl ok B E the financial instruments are grouped based
1T MaE AR on shared credit risk characteristics, such as

RIEEETT S/
TRANRKRN
EERRERE (10
BEARREE
R AR #ET D
Ao

past due status and credit risk ratings.
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= FTEEFRBRBE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
(%) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
314 &®MTHE (&) 3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)
(i)  BEEEZHEE (i) Impairment loss on financial assets
7B (&) (continued)
REERE WE The Group considers a financial asset to be
% AT K] BE 1 in default when the debtor is unlikely to pay
RNEEE|EBERT its credit obligations to the Group in full,
FRIE R T RA without recourse by the Group to action. The
EEE2EIMNAE Group considers that default has occurred
EEEE AZe when a financial asset is more than 90 days
EEEBIER - K past due unless the Group has reasonable
SERE ET/ and supportable information to demonstrate
& s AR B 90 that a more lagging default criterion is more
HEPZEAEEL B appropriate.
FAREEBHEE
A 5/ & R E A
— {3 hn & e
BHNREREARA
i BISERIGR °
REBRAET R The Group considers a financial asset to be
BELETIBER credit-impaired when:
THBREERE:
- BB AR = significant financial difficulty of the
BE KXY debtor;
TSR E
- ERY - g = a breach of contract, such as a
# /R =8 default or being more than 90 days
HI#E 1390 past due event unless the Group
B B3 has reasonable and supportable
rEEEA information demonstrate otherwise;
A5
SR S
B3R
BERA
i Bl 5
hillk
- N & B R = the restructuring of a loan or advance
&1 B fth by the Group on terms that the
(=N Group would not consider otherwise;
2= R
KR EH
BB
K
— BE#% AT = it is becoming probable that the
REgRE debtor will enter bankruptcy or other
ok #E 17 E financial reorganisation; or
fth BF 7% =
#H3k
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= FEGSHBRBTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

(%) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
314 @I E (&) 3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)
(i)  EHEEZEEE (i) Impairment loss on financial assets
75 (%&) (continued)
— B R B - the disappearance of an active
RE - F5 market for a security because of
Vh R T 35 financial difficulties.
K e
B ERBTY The Group writes off a financial asset when
FHBEBREMB there is information indicating that the
HEmEBREK counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
= AT gE - PlanEF and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
7 IEEITIERE K for example, when the counterparty has
EEAWERF been placed under liquidation or has entered
AEBEEHES into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
MEE -EEZRE assets written off may still be subject to
BEAERE B enforcement activities under the Group's
i iE < B & E D recovery procedures, taking into account
A AR 15 7N & B /Y legal advice where appropriate. A write-
W B 32 7 B 1 0R off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
HFNIT o MEHIEAX subsequent recoveries are recognised in
RIETEREIE profit or loss.
o] B 1% 3 17 B UK

BT IB S TR o

REBRERF The Group recognises an impairment gain
BRAESHRHT or loss in profit or loss for all financial
B 5y R B M 3 instruments with a corresponding adjustment
JE5 18 - [F Br 3 38 S to their carrying amount through a loss
BREERYHR allowance account.

H & 7 E L AR

HBREEREZ
TRMEEZHNE

Interest income on credit-impaired financial
assets is calculated based on the amortised

WAERESHE cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less
2 2 BESER AR (B loss allowance) of the financial asset. For
RHmAEREE non credit-impaired financial assets interest
BE)TE -EL income is calculated based on the gross
BEERBEZ® carrying amount.

B & E 2 F B

AEREKEEARE

FTE .

ul
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)

(i) Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the
liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss are initially
measured at fair value and financial liabilities
at amortised costs are initially measured at
fair value, net of directly attributable costs

incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
trade payables, other payables and accruals,
bank loans, amounts due to non-controlling
interests, loan from a controlling shareholder,
amounts due to joint ventures and amounts
due to related companies are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method. The related interest
expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gain or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the amortisation process.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)

(iv)

v)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts or payments through the
expected life of the financial asset or liability,
or where appropriate, a shorter period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)

(vi) Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments, in individual
contracts or separated from hybrid financial
instruments, are initially recognised at fair
value on the date the derivative contract is
entered into and subsequently remeasured at
fair value. Derivatives that are not designated
as hedging instruments are accounted for as
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss. Gains or losses
arising from changes in fair value are taken
directly to profit or loss for the year.

(vii)  Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset
when the contractual rights to the future
cash flows in relation to the financial asset
expire or when the financial asset has been
transferred and the transfer meets the criteria
for derecognition in accordance with HKFRS

9.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14

Financial Instruments (continued)

(vii)

Derecognition (continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced
by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated
as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

O
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)

(vii)

Derecognition (continued)

Where the Group issues its own equity
instruments to a creditor to settle a
financial liability in whole or in part as a
result of renegotiating the terms of that
liability, the equity instruments issued are
the consideration paid and are recognised
initially and measured at their fair value
on the date the financial liability or part
thereof is extinguished. If the fair value of
the equity instruments issued cannot be
reliably measured, the equity instruments
are measured to reflect the fair value of the
financial liability extinguished. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial
liability or part thereof extinguished and the
consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss for the year.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.15

3.16

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined using
the weighted average basis and, in the case of
work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on the estimated selling prices in the ordinary
course of business less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and costs necessary to make
the sale.

The cost of properties under development
comprise the acquisition cost of land, construction
costs, professional fees, other direct expenses
and capitalised borrowing costs (see note 3.22).
Properties under development are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less estimated cost of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and
in hand and demand deposits.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.17 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of
the obligation can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date
and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future uncertain events
not wholly within the control of the Group are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Contingent liabilities are recognised in the course
of the allocation of purchase price to the assets
and liabilities acquired in a business combination.
They are initially measured at fair value at the date
of acquisition and subsequently measured at the
higher of the amount that would be recognised in
a comparable provision as described above and the
amount initially recognised less any accumulated
amortisation, if appropriate.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.18

3.19

Share capital

Under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
Cap.622, shares of the Company do not have a
nominal value. Considerations received or receivable
for the issue of shares on or after 3 March 2014 is
credited to share capital. Commissions and expenses
are allowed to be deducted from share capital under
S.148 and S.149 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred
to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or
other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the
laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods
or service may be transferred over time or at a point
in time. Control of the goods or service is transferred
over time if the Group's performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and

consumed simultaneously by the customer;

o creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or
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If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods or
service.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to
the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amounts
receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. Where the contract contains
a financing component which provides a significant
financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised
under that contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective
interest method. For contracts where the period
between the payment and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.19 Revenue recognition (continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation

to transfer services to a customer for which the

Group has received consideration (or an amount of

consideration is due) from the customer.

()

Sales of goods

Customers obtain control of the goods when
the goods are delivered to and have been
accepted. Revenue is thus recognised upon
when the customers accepted the goods.
There is generally only one performance
obligation. Invoices are usually payable 30 to
120 days.

Some of the Group’s contracts with
customers from the sale of goods provides
customers a right of return (a right to
exchange another product). These rights
of return do not allow the returned goods
to be refunded in cash. The right of return
gives rise to variable consideration. The
variable consideration is estimated at
contract inception and constrained until
the associated uncertainty is subsequently
resolved. The application of the constraint on
variable consideration increases the amount
of revenue that will be deferred. In addition,
a refund liability and a right to recover
returned goods assets are recognised.

ul
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.19 Revenue recognition (continued)

(@

(i)

Sales of goods (continued)

Some of the Group’s contracts with
customers from the sale of goods provide
customers a volume rebate if the customer
purchases more than certain volume of
goods in a calendar year. The volume rebates
give rise to variable consideration. The
Group apply the expected value method to
estimate the variable consideration. A refund
liability would be recognised based on the
estimate of the expected value to be paid
for the customer’s volume-based rebated.
Any expected volume rebate provision is
recognised as refund liabilities.

Sale of property

Revenue arising from the sale of properties
held for sale is recognised in profit or loss
on the basis that control over the ownership
of the property has been passed to the
customer during the current accounting
period, which is the point in time when the
customer has the ability to direct the use
of the property and obtain substantially all
the benefits of the property. Deposits and
instalments received on properties sold
prior to the date of revenue recognition are
included in the consolidated statement of
financial position under contract liabilities.
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= EEEFRBRBE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
(%) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
319 W=mHER (&) 3.19 Revenue recognition (continued)

(i) A (i) Rental income
HEWBAREE Rental income is recognised on a time
B A 4% 5 [ B 7)) proportion basis over the lease terms.
BAERER -

(v)  FILEHA (i) Interest income
MEWKARKAE Interest income is recognised on a time-
PR F) 2 0 i B [ proportion basis using the effective interest
Eb B EZE TR method; and

)  REWKA (v)  Dividend income
AR B U AP HE S Dividend income is recognised when the
AR R Y BRI 2 shareholder’s right to receive payment is
T 7 B B 5R o established.
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= TEEFBRBE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
(&) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
320 EEEA 3.20 Employee benefits
RIKIEF Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided
through defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme"”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ relevant income and
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

Prior to the MPF Scheme becoming effective, the
Group operated a defined contribution retirement
benefits scheme (the “Prior Scheme”) for those
employees who were eligible to participate in this
scheme. The Prior Scheme operated in a similar way
to the MPF Scheme, except that when an employee
left the Prior Scheme before his/her interest in the
Group’s employer contributions vested fully, the
ongoing contributions payable by the Group were
reduced by the relevant amount of the forfeited
employer's contributions.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.20

Employee benefits (continued)

Retirement benefits (continued)

The employees of the subsidiaries which operate in
the People’s Republic of China except Hong Kong
and Macau (“Mainland China”) are required to
participate in a retirement benefits scheme (the
“RB Scheme"”) operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the
RB Scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the RB Scheme is to
pay the ongoing required contributions under the
RB Scheme. Contributions under the RB Scheme are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the RB Scheme.

The employees of the subsidiaries which operate in
the United Kingdom (“UK") and the United States
of America (“USA") are required to participate in a
retirement benefits scheme operated by the local
government. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ relevant income and
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the retirement
benefits scheme.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss as employees render services during the year.
The Group's obligations under these plans are limited
to the fixed percentage contributions payable to
these plans.

(o)
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HEZT-_=FA=1+HLFE
= ERTBURE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
({:5) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
320 EERH (&) 3.20 Employee benefits (continued)
FHIE S 75 Short-term employee benefits
EEZBZFBREEE Employee entitlements to annual leave are
FRER - AEEREE recognised when they accrue to employees. A
HEAHREES S RER provision is made for the estimated liability for
BMEEZFBRZIGTA annual leave as a result of services rendered by
BV B o employees up to the reporting date.
FERETHR (R RE Non-accumulating compensated absences such as
B FE RS R sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised
until the time of leave.
321 URHGAHERZFHE 3.21 Share-based compensation
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All share-based payment arrangements granted after
7 November 2002 and had not vested on 1 January
2005 are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The Group operates equity-settled share-
based compensation plans for remuneration of its
employees and other eligible participants.

All employee services received in exchange for
the grant of any share-based compensation are
measured at their fair values. These are indirectly
determined by reference to the equity instruments
awarded. Their value is appraised at the grant date
and excludes the impact of any non-market vesting
conditions (for example, profitability and sales
growth targets).
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.21

Share-based compensation (continued)

All share-based compensation is recognised as an
expense in profit or loss over the vesting period
if vesting conditions apply, or recognised as an
expense in full at the grant date when the equity
instruments granted vest immediately unless the
compensation qualifies for recognition as asset, with
a corresponding increase in the share option reserve
in equity. If vesting conditions apply, the expense is
recognised over the vesting period, based on the
best available estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest. Non-market vesting
conditions are included in assumptions about the
number of equity instruments that are expected to
vest. Estimates are subsequently revised, if there is
any indication that the number of equity instruments
expected to vest differs from previous estimates.

At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in reserve will
be transferred to share capital. After vesting date,
when the vested share options are later forfeited or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to retained profits.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.22

3.23

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the acquisition,
construction or production of any qualifying asset
are capitalised during the period of time that is
required to complete and prepare the asset for its
intended use. A qualifying asset is an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get
ready for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing
costs are expensed when incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale are being undertaken.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
complete.

Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise
those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that
are unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated
according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to
the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the year.



Annual Report 2023 “F #f;
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B8R FRHizE

For the year ended 30 June 2023
HE_Z-_=F A=1THILFE

= FEGSHBRBTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
(#) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.23 FEHEstRE (&) 3.23 Accounting for income taxes (continued)
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Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method
on temporary differences at the reporting date
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, tax losses available
to be carried forward as well as other unused
tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary
differences, will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
and unused tax credits can be utilised.

An exception to the general requirement on
determining the appropriate tax rate used in
measuring deferred tax amount is when an
investment property is carried at fair value under
HKAS 40 “Investment Property”. Unless the
presumption is rebutted, the deferred tax amounts
on these investment properties are measured using
the tax rates that would apply on sale of these
investment properties at their carrying amounts at
the reporting date. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and
is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all the economic benefits
embodied in the property over time, rather than
through sale.
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3.23 FEHEtRE (&) 3.23 Accounting for income taxes (continued)
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary differences arising from initial
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or
loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on interests in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary differences and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, provided
they are enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are
also recognised in other comprehensive income
or when they relate to items recognised directly in
equity in which case the taxes are also recognised
directly in equity.
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= TEERBRBE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
(&) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.23 FEHEstRE (&) 3.23 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

fi R AZ WP LA TN, » B Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are

BRI & = R AN EATIE B presented in net if, and only if,

(EPSEE-CER

@ AEEBEREE (@  the Group has the legally enforceable right to
EArsa sl s eT 2 set off the recognised amounts; and
EFEHE R
ZEE R

(b)  HELAFREE L (b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or
B RAFERE to realise the asset and settle the liability
EXEEAE- simultaneously.

i RAEMRATIER & The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred

EEPUFRE R 7R TE tax liabilities in net if, and only if,

BEMELERIBAE:

@ EBEBBEEEL (@)  the entity has a legally enforceable right to
A 58 i ¥ 17 2 1 set off current tax assets against current tax
A %5 84 BN B % 1A liabilities; and
ZEHEBAHIE
afE: &k
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.23 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

(b)

the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(i) different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.24 Government grants

3.25

Government grants are not recognised until there
is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the periods in which the
Group recognises as expenses the related costs for
which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they become receivable.

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the regular
internal financial information reported to the chief
operating decision-maker i.e. the executive directors
for their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group's business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information
reported to the executive directors are determined
following the Group’s major line of business.

~l
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.25 Segment reporting (continued)

The Group has identified the following reportable

segments:

o Jewellery Business

o Property investment and development
o Mining operation

° Investment

Each of these operating segments is managed
separately as each of the product and service lines
requires different resources as well as marketing
approaches. All inter-segment transfers, if any, are
carried out at arm’s length prices.

The measurement policies the Group uses for
reporting segment results under HKFRS 8 are the
same as those used in its financial statements
prepared under HKFRSs, except that certain finance
costs, income tax expense and corporate income and
expenses which are not directly attributable to the
business activities of any operating segment, are not
included in arriving at the operating results of the
operating segment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.25

3.26

Segment reporting (continued)

Segment assets include all assets but cash and cash
equivalents, time deposit with original maturities
over three months and deferred tax assets. In
addition, corporate assets which are not directly
attributable to the business activities of any
operating segment are not allocated to a segment,
which primarily applies to the Group’s headquarter.

Segment liabilities exclude bank loans, loan from a
controlling shareholder, provision for tax, deferred
tax liabilities and corporate liabilities, which are not
directly attributable to the business activities of any
operating segment.

Related parties

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Company;

(ii) has significant influence over the
Company; or

(iii) is a member of key management

personnel of the Company or the
Company’s parent.

\e)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.26 Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

0] The entity and the Company are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.26 Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply: (continued)

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of the
employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in

(a).
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3.26 F@EiTS (&) 3.26 Related parties (continued)
by (MEEHTSE T (b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the

] 114 - Al £ following conditions apply: (continued)

NEEH R

(%)

(vii)  (a)(i)E Fr (vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has
= Al A T significant influence over the entity
HZER or is a member of key management
Z=I- VN personnel of the entity (or of a parent
Al of the entity).
BEZER
(j?,u/( =1 FIE
ZERAE])
Z 35 oh M
HAB-

(i) ZE B (vii)  The entity or any member of a group
HEMBE & of which it is a part, provides key
E z {F ] management personnel services to
B 8 A A the Company or to the Company’s
I NYNEC] parent.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.26 Related parties (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or
domestic partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B 18R MzE

For the year ended 30 June 2023
HE_Z_=FA=THILFE

m - BREEsHHE R EIE 4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

2]

(&)
REWME 2T AFE

RBEAH AEE2REYE
BER BB AEMTETZ G
BERHZEEIER REERF
B fEMEBERRSEER
AR ER L EE (WER)
REYFETHE - BEEERG
RS (ERS O 1B HIE - ISP
ﬁ@Z%ﬁF%VW@%%WE
BRI MRRERTTR

Rz TSR FE

BEEFERARIRHERS IE
M EETTRHEZ TS A ERS
EFRTMEBBEEEERTYE
Z AR RE - ZFMETER
ETR®R ZHRTHBREE
ArEREREREREREE-
RIEL AR - B /B E B b
I TRRA R EAH A
AR e ZE BT E IR ERT S
BERBEEMSR S -

AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Estimated fair value of investment properties

As at the reporting date, the Group’s investment properties
are stated at the value based on the valuation performed
by an independent valuation firm. In determining the fair
value, the valuer has based its valuation on investment
properties by applying the income capitalisation method
or direct comparison method, as appropriate. In relying on
the valuation, management has exercised their judgement
and are satisfied that the methods of valuation adopted
are appropriate for the relevant property and reflective of
current market conditions.

Net realisable value of properties under development

Management determines the net realisable value of the
properties under development by using prevailing market
data such as most recent sales transactions and market
valuation report available from independent valuation firm.
Such valuation is made based on certain assumptions, which
are subject to uncertainties and might materially different
from the actual result. In making the judgement, reasonable
consideration has been given to the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to made
the sale. These estimates are regularly compared to actual
market data and actual transactions in the market.
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AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Provision for ECLs on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days past
due for groupings of various customer segments that have
similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is initially based
on the Group's historical observed default rates. The Group
will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information.

At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
would be reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed. The assessment of the correlation
among historical observed default rates, forecast economic
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of
ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's
trade receivables is disclosed in notes 26 and 48.3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use
calculation requires the directors to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from cash-generating unit and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.

ul
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AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (except for
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Where an indicator of impairment exists,
a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is made,
which is considered to be the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. All non-financial assets
are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable in accordance with the accounting policy
as disclosed in note 3.13. In carrying out the impairment
assessment of mining right and related non-financial assets,
the directors use their judgement in selecting an appropriate
valuation technique. Where appropriate, the valuation is
estimated by independent valuation firm to estimate the
recoverable amount of the Mining CGU II using market
approach with reference to recent comparable transactions
undertaken in the mining industry. Any changes in
economic conditions and mineral prices and the availability
of comparable transactions may materiality affect the
estimation of the recoverable amount of the non-financial
assets.

Provision for inventories

In determining the amount of allowance required for
obsolete and slow-moving inventories, the Group would
evaluate ageing analysis of inventories and compare the
carrying value of inventories to their respective net realisable
value. A considerable amount of judgement is required
in determining such allowance. If conditions which have
impact on the net realisable value of inventories deteriorate,
additional allowances may be required.
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AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Amortisation of mining right and depreciation of
mining structures

Mining right and mining structures are amortised/
depreciated on the units of production method based
on the total proven and probable mineral reserves of the
ore mines. The directors of the Company exercised their
judgement in estimating the total proven and probable
reserves of the ore mines.

Estimate of current tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to taxation in various jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the amount
of the provision for taxation and the timing of payment
of the related taxation. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the
final tax outcome is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the periods in which such
determination are made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
are recognised as management considers it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets
and income tax expenses in the periods in which such
estimate is changed. The outcome of their actual utilisation
may be different.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurement

A number of assets and liabilities included in the Group's
consolidated financial statements require measurement at,
or disclosure of, fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial
and non-financial assets and liabilities utilises market
observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs used in
determining fair value measurements are categorised into
different levels based on how observable the inputs used in
the valuation technigue utilised are:

. Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for
identical items (unadjusted);

o Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs

other than Level 1 inputs;

o Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived
from market data).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The classification of an item into the above levels is based
on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a significant
effect on the fair value measurement of the item. Transfers
of items between levels are recognised in the period they
occur.

The Group measures the following items at fair values:
o Investment properties

3 Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

3 Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value
measurement of the items above, please refer to note 16
and note 48.5 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that
are used to assess performance and allocate resources.

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the Company's executive directors. The executive directors
have identified the Group's four business lines as operating
segments as further described in note 3.25.

O
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Y .
(@) ZEBEDH (@)  Business segment
HEER NERERER it 3 %E &a
Property
Jewellery investment Mining
Business and development operation Investment Consolidated
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 203 202 203 2022
Féx THr Féx AT FET AT 243 TET iz THr
HK$000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HK$000 HK$ 000
AlE: Segment revente:
HEFIRER/ Sales tolrevenue from external
RENREPZME parties 13493 592,199 15,659 8329 - - 503 339 455,608 603,926
AB%2E Segment results 2,14 35,568 (115373) 92,958 13,826 (98912) 1,169 (6,259) (97,637) 233%
RAERR Unallocated expenses (2,530) (2,205)
BRI Finance costs (2741) (2993)
REGHA (58) /&7 (Loss/Profit before income tax (102,908) 18,157
———
HRER NERERER it 3 %E &
Property
Jewellery investment Mining
Business and development operation Investment Consolidated
2023 2022 2023 2022 203 2022 2023 2022 203 2022
T AT FET AT FET AT F#1 FEr fE#r FEr
HK$000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS 000
PHEE Segment assets 290,968 367,714 2,766,125 2,760,847 512,929 534,667 55,929 55,025 3,625,951 3718253
ReRHLSE Cash and cash equivalents 90,695 144,008
REBEA=EANEZ  Time depost with original
fid i3 maturties over three months 6,406 _
EXHEEE Deferred tax assets 103 218
FARAREE Unallocated corporate assets 568 35
BEfE Total assets 363 3865024
———
ABaE Seqment abiies 104,684 125513 122879 113799 30773 34640 5,503 2361 13,99 76313
BIER Bank loans 1,058377 1,027.421
BRBRRE Loan from a controling
shareholder 4306 4686
RERE Proviion for tax 2304 230
EXHERE Deferred tax liabilties 108,931 106,941
FARARAR Unallocated corporate liabilties 863 9%
AfEAE Totalliabiities 1,438,710 1,418,658
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H DEER @) 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(@) HXEDE (&) (@)  Business segment (continued)
FEEH NERARER RREH & ]
Property
Jewellery investment and Mining
Business development operation Investment Consolidated
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

f#zr  TEr  Féx  TErT  f#z  TEr  FExm  TET  f#r 7T
HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HKSUOD  HKSOOD  HKSG00  HKSUOO  HKSUOD  HKSOOO

EppHEn: Other segment information:
NE BERZERE  Deprecation of property,

plant and equipment (3,557) (3,705) - (348) (432) - - (3,905) (4137)
FRREENE Depreciation of right-of-use

assets (4,743) (4,754) - (1,159) (1,261) - - (5,902) (6,015)
RENENTEZEH  Change in fair value of

investment properties - - (27,797) 98,485 - - - - (27,797) 98,485

IATEHABEZ  Fairvalue loss on financial

SREEZATE assets at fair value

5 through profit or loss (579) 205 - - - - (1,720) (5,347) (2299 (5142)
HEMATET AL Loss on disposal of debt

2ERHEZEBTEZ  instruments measured at

EiE fair value through other

comprehensive income - - - - - - (460) (108) (460) (108)

HENE BERRE  (Loss)Gain on disposal

WREREAEL of property, plant and

(B8)/ & equipment and
right-of-use assets (70) 3 - - - - - - (70) 3
HRERADS Write-down of properties
under development - - (49,859) - - - - - (49,859) -
REREGERE Share of results of
joint ventures - = ()] (1) = = = = @ ()
EEBEQRER Share of result of associates - - (6,633) 313 - - - - (6,633) 313

FREZAEER Reversal of impairment loss/
BE/ (RESE) (Impairment loss) on
mining right - - - - 22,728 (81,838) - - 2,128 (81,838)
NE BERREZ  Reversal of impairment
HEBERR/ loss/(impairment loss)

(HEER) on property, plant and
equipment - - - - 419 (6,347) - - 49 (6,347)
FERE Provision for inventories (507) (7,388) - - = = = (507) (7,388)
BHREMBERSE  Reversal of impairment
AEBRREFE Joss on trade and other
receivables, net 4,785 270 - - - - - - 4,785 210
LEL N Interest income - - - - - 3,035 1,293 3,035 1293
fIEEx Interest expenses (713) (782) (29,534) - (1,293) (1,407) - - (31,540) (2,189)
ShPER — BB AREFIE Gain on debt modification
BUEE N on amount due to a
related company - - - 1,293 1,407 - - 1,293 1,407
REFRPHPEE  Additions to non-current
segment assets 1,600 3461 71,184 56,479 - 24 - - 78,784 59,964
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—
N

i PEER &)

(b)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

ih @ & K (b)  Geographic information
REIARERZWE
Revenue from
external customers
2023 2022
Fi#ET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
B (5Efti) Hong Kong (place of domicile) 39,502 38,422
=M (BfEa) North America (note a) 172,309 276,690
BM B B (Mf&Eb ) Europe and Middle East (note b) 229,204 273,809
=wiip: A Other locations 14,593 15,005
&R Total 455,608 603,926
EREEE
Non-current assets
2023 2022
Fi#&T FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
B (FEfti) Hong Kong (place of domicile) 2,110,194 2,129,359
=M (M sEa) North America (note a) 26,233 27,747
ES United Kingdom 3,527 3,869
E NS Mainland China 522,060 545,825
&a&F Total 2,662,014 2,706,800
Htat - Notes:
(@) EREEEKRINE (a) Principally included United States and Canada.
*o
(b) +* Z 8 5E D R (b) Principally included Saudi Arabia, United Kingdom,

B HE ml- 7
TRIT -~ far B8 R B

Sweden, Spain, Netherlands and Norway.
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H DEER @)

(b)

MEER (&)
A B ERH T ERE

FimEl D - ERBEE
(EMTARREREE
ERON) 2 3R AL B T A
REEBRAELED -

WITESEEAKEZM
WHRER MEBRAE
Bz @mERME A
SEXRBINEF Z Wk
FIERBEEZ R ER
A M - BUM R PR (E
MBABERDE W EIE
HEAMIER 2 ER - B#H
TEFRSRSEREN
R A E R e

BT EELZEH

KE—BEERF (5K
EFEWZE10%EIA EF)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

Geographic information (continued)

The revenue information above is based on the
location of the customers. The geographical location
of the non-current assets (other than financial
instruments and deferred tax assets) is based on the
physical location of the assets.

The executive directors determine the Group is
domiciled in Hong Kong, which is the location
of the Group's principal office. The geographical
information of the Group's revenue from external
customers and non-current assets by individual
significant countries in North America, Europe and
Middle East, other locations is not available and
executive directors considers the cost to obtain the
information would be excessive.

Information about major customers

Revenue from a major customer, which amounted
to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue, is set out

Z W EEEF T below;
2023 2022
FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$000
EEA* Customer A * 53,321 86,697
3 KEAREAZ I * The revenue from Customer A was all

2HRERER
BXB oo

derived by the segment engaging in the
Jewellery Business.
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D

7~ Wz 6. REVENUE
FRERZBRIAT Revenue recognised during the year is as follows:
2023 2022
Fi&T FEIT
HKS$'000 HK$'000
MRS BN AMHELZ  Revenue from contracts with customers
Wz
BRIFEEmKEZ Timing of revenue recognition for sales
BrfE — R — B2 of goods — at a point in time 434,936 592,199
3R B H A RR 2 Wz Revenue from other sources
e U A Rental income 15,659 8,329
FEUA Interest income 3,035 1,293
& 2 I BIRA Dividend income from investments 1,978 2,105
455,608 603,926

TREHERETFS ZHENAH
EXZEFREFARENEE

The following table provides information about trade
receivables and contract liabilities from contracts with

=¥ customers.
2023 2022
F#T FETT
HK$'000 HK$ 000
B 5 eI FIE Trade receivables (note 26)
(HEE=47%) 64,591 108,755
aHaE (fa=+—) Contract liabilities (note 31) 354 268

RZZBE__FRA=1+H &4
BETEMNEERATHE T
“=FEXNA=ZTHIEFEZKES
ZHEBEPRE-

R-_ZE-_=FA=+H" #&
& F K (8354,0008 7t (==
— T4 :268,000/8 7T ) BIRIEA
EEREANNKRBITZENE
o BABHNAKRERZ
U g5 o AN SR B8 A oK 2R SE AR B 49
E SR ERIER R BERER
—F R

As at 30 June 2022, the contract liabilities mainly related to
the advance consideration received from cutomers which
has been recognised as revenue for the year ended 30 June
2023.

As at 30 June 2023, the advance consideration received
from customers of HK$354,000 (2022: HK$268,000)
represents unfulfilled performance obligation under the
Group’s existing contracts. This amount represents revenue
expected to be recognised in the future. The Group will
recognise the expected revenue in future when performance
obligation is completed, which is expected to occur within
one year.
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+ -~ MBRAE 7. FINANCE COSTS
2023 2022
F#ET TF#ET
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEZH: Interest charges on:
RITER Bank loans 44,064 14,778
HEBBEZAE Interest on lease liabilities (note 33)
(EFE=+=) 692 782
FEAT —FE BB A RIZKIEFT  Imputed interest expenses arising from
EEZESNERX amount due to a related company 1,293 1,407
BREERKA Total borrowing costs 46,049 16,967
BBz FIE Less: interests capitalised in:
—EWE — investment properties (note 16)
(B EE+7X) (1,007) (9,636)
—BRPYE — properties under development
(FfEE=+m) (note 24) (10,761) (2,149)
34,281 5,182
FRABRERNZEERATE R Borrowing costs capitalised during the year were calculated
HEBEREEZ X HEATFLN by applying a capitalisation rate of approximately 4.2%
42% (CTE-—F:16%) 2B (2022: 1.6%) per annum to expenditure on the qualifying
FRENRLERGTH assets.
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J\ - BREFSHE (BE) 8. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

(o))

ol
2023 2022
FET FAT
HKS$'000 HK$°000
ANEBEBRFTSH AL The Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax
(E8) mF Ty is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
e, (5EA)
LATRIE B EEU:
EEHFERA Cost of inventories sold 338,990 451,425
M BERZETE Depreciation of property, plant and
(F=E+mm) equipment (note 14) 3,905 4,137
FRAEEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 15)
(P&E+3) 5,902 6,015
Z B B & Auditor’s remuneration 1,220 1,200
HHAES N Short-term leases charges - 77
KEEEEHES N Low-value assets leases charges 830 1,300
GFEREE Provision for inventories* 507 7,388
AT EFABRL Fair value loss on financial assets at fair
TREEZATE value through profit or loss
B8 2,299 5,142
FANE B 1R Net foreign exchange loss 4,407 3,298
HEME S XA K Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property, plant
FRREEZER/ and equipment and right-of-use assets
(Mezs) 70 (33)
FIEN —RREE AR TE  Gain on debt modification on amount due
B EIR 2 s to a related company (1,293) (1,407)
TR BE R AR S+ Write-down of properties under
development* 49,859 -
EEHESBAZ Direct operating expenses arising from
KEMEEEZ investment properties that generate
EREERY rental income 3,480 185
TEAHESKAZ Direct operating expenses arising from
KRENMEEEZ investment properties that do not
HELERX generate rental income 421 391
& FR 2T BB ERMAERE @ Provision for inventories and write-down of properties

mYMEEF A GaERRE
b2 E R A Z [ S K

ZNI

or loss and other comprehensive income.

under development for the year were included in “cost of
sales” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit
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e BHRAX (KE) 9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

BEMNESHUNFEFAREBEE Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
ZAhFH AR T R = A % 16.5% 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
—E - —F:165%)FTE-H arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits
fth b [ FE FR A s M) o B IE T & assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the applicable
RARE B E X 2 ADERE rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group
@2 RITER  ZEREM & operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and
ZE R AERBRRER 2B EET practices in respect thereof.
o
2023 2022
F#ET TF#ET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BN ERTR A Current tax
BB Hong Kong 301 312
SZIN Overseas - 32
BAEFEBREES Over provision in prior years (133) (116)
168 228

EERIE (fHaE=++1t) Deferred tax (note 37)
KEE Current year 12,333 (20,533)

Fri8FiFs /(%) 4% Total income tax expense/(credit) 12,501 (20,305)
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o8]

FiBHmzZ~ (IK%E) 9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

(&)

Frfsmib s, (%) RIZEM
BEFEZ & (B1E), 87

(continued)

Reconciliation between income tax expense/(credit) and
accounting (loss)/profit at applicable tax rates:

Z AR
2023 2022
FETT TBT
HK$'000 HK$000
BPTERi AT (B518) @A) (Loss)Profit before income tax (102,908) 18,157
HEEM®E165% (== Tax on (loss)/profit before income tax,
T F165%)FTE Y calculated at the statutory rate of
BRETEEIAT (&1R) 16.5% (2022: 16.5%)
i M IR (16,980) 2,996
REAM DA R EEZ Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
HEAR TR E 2 operating in other jurisdictions
2 482 (8,320)
FEIREG & R RIZEEREZ Tax effect of share of results of associates
D 1,094 (52)
TRIFFI S 2 FAE 2 Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 20,607 3,539
EERRIWAZHIETZE  Tax effect of non-taxable income (1,635) (17,162)
BT RER Utilisation of tax losses previously not
FiaEia recognised (1,771) (5,591)
RERBIEEBE 2 Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
2 13,520 7,001
REREG R ZRE 2B Tax effect of temporary differences not
T recognised (2,683) (2,600)
BT FEBRERE Over provision in prior years (133) (116)
FTsfiAx (%) Income tax expense/(credit) 12,501 (20,305)
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T+ B2

10. DIVIDENDS

2023 2022
F#ET TF#ET
HK$°000 HK$'000
RE—FEEMNZ Final dividend paid in respect of
REARR B &R the prior year of HK2 cents
—E = —F25) (2022: HK2 cents) per share 13,662 13,662

EESeTEIANEE_T_=F
NA=ZTHEFEIRBEEMAR

B o
N

RZZBZZHFNAZT=RAET
LESEeR L NRARESE
RERIR SRR S ERE @R
2008l -BEBRENR T _—
FRA=ZTHRERRBEMNK
B MERMAHEZT - _F<
A=+BHLEFEZREBEND
fic o

+— %Hﬁ (B1]) &
|

ARABHREANBHSRERLE
& (ER) /BATIER T2

1.

The board does not recommend any payment of dividend in
respect of the year ended 30 June 2023.

At the board meeting held on 23 September 2022, the
directors of the Company resolved to recommend a final
dividend of HK2.00 cents per ordinary share. The proposed
dividend had not been recognised as a dividend payable
as at 30 June 2022, but reflected as an appropriation of
retained profits for the year ended 30 June 2022.

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculations of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company are based on the

BT E following data:
2023 2022
F#ET FAET
HKS$'000 HK$°000
FLAGTESRREAAR (E18) (LossyProfit attributable to the owners of
S BAZRREEE A the Company for the purpose of
FEfh (BEB), & basic (loss)/earnings per share (98,286) 12,142

Xe)
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O

+—- 8k (BR) & 11. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)
e )
B#HE R
Number of shares
2023 2022

RAUAFESRER Weighted average number of ordinary

(B18),/ BRZ shares for the purpose of

B A INHE 5 R basic (loss)/earnings per share 683,118,258 683,118,258
THIIEB S k2 ETE#E  Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares

Tak w2 in respect of

— BB A% AE (BIREG)) — Share option (note (i)) = -
AT E S hEE Weighted average number of

(E18) /&BFz ordinary shares for the purpose of

I3/ A% pAE T E diluted (loss)/earnings per share 683,118,258 683,118,258
Kiaz - Note:

@

HE_Z_=FXA=+
BIEFE NAR#ES AR
EERERBEDIERE
ARRIEEAEEEANEIRE
98,286,000/ 7t (= Z = —
& 3 F12,142,0005% JT)
RERILBIRMEFHHK
683,118,258 (=T = —
£ :683,118,2580% ) 5+ & o

HE-Z-_=FKg-T-—
EXNAZTALEE BR
BREARBEEYE HR
TESREE (BE) &7
FRr I 4% (R R S AR I A T3 o

For the year ended 30 June 2023, the calculation of basic
loss per share attributable to the owners of the Company
was based on loss for the year attributable to the owners
of the Company of HK$98,286,000 (2022: profit of
HK$12,142,000) and on weighted average number of
683,118,258 (2022: 683,118,258) ordinary shares during
the year.

For the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022, the
computation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share did not
assume the exercise of share option as they were anti-
dilutive.
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+= - REEAEE (8
RERME Wi

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS'
EMOLUMENTS - NOTE 13)

2023 2022
Fi# T FET
HKS$'000 HK$'000

TE e FAHK Wages, salaries, allowances and benefits
BEWH in kind# 97,154 109,335

RE R INET B R Contributions on defined contribution

retirement plans 8,482 9,127
105,636 118,462

N SE ) S AT RS RIS
ZHER (HEERRRABER
2HRERIC BT EINEEPT
TR ) o Eth - ML UK
AEARERARREZRERE
BAREFTEIEFOKFE -

& REBEEZZT=_="F A=+
HIEFE AEEEREE
(ZE—F - FBREH)
2 BT 3P P9 U ER 1,606,000
L (== = =% :361,000
BIL)ZBINEE: ThE
R BT R 201978 ik 75 = 7%
([CovID-19]) K717 B fl
HERBRHZIE ZEK
FI& B & 15 7 45 75 7K BF HA fE
RAKBE BB (ZE =
FBEBRER)NE A A
RETIEIR BZEAA
AEZEEREES RKEAX
SEEEREVB IR B
EE_=FA=FHL
FERBES W2 B
%1,606,000/ 0 (Z T ==
% :361,00087T) * 2 A K
EiEEEBBAAS - ZF K
I B NG R B 1T R H b 3k
SREIE-

There were no forfeited contributions (by employers on
behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting
fully in such contributions) in the Group for both years.
Hence, there is no forfeited contribution available for the
Group to reduce its existing level of contributions to the
pension schemes in future years.

i During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group has
received government subsidies of HK$1,606,000 (2022:
HK$361,000) from government bodies in Hong Kong
(2022: Hong Kong and UK) with regards to government
support towards entities during the Coronavirus disease
2019 ("COVID-19") pandemic situation. The purpose of
these government subsidies is to provide wage support
to the subsidiaries in Hong Kong (2022: Hong Kong and
UK) of the Group to retain employees and to provide
financial support to the Group’s operations during this
period of economic uncertainty. These grants received
for compensating salary of HK$1,606,000 (2022:
HK$361,000) for the year ended 30 June 2023 have been
offset against the employee benefit expenses. There are
no unfulfilled and other contingencies attaching to these
government grants.
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PR ERAR FYRE

= EEHFMEAME

(a)

13. DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION AND

SHALTZEE EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS
EXHE (a) Directors’ emoluments

e J/NICTI -
(BREZTZE)%
—BANT=KERAF (#
BEZHMZER)AG
(BRAZTZGE) KR follows:
ZEEHFMAOT:

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to S.383
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.622)
and the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation (Cap.622G) is as

2023 2022

FETT FET

HK$'000 HK$000

o= ok Directors’ fees 250 250
e EUK Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind

EYMNE 6,864 7,512

TE4T Bonus 1,091 1,154

ER@EAETEIEFK  Contributions to retirement
benefit schemes 254 288
B < 4858 Total emoluments 8,459 9,204




Annual Report 2023 “F #f;
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B8R FRHizE

For the year ended 30 June 2023
HE_Z-_=F A=1THILFE

+= EEFMEAMNER 13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND
Sm AT ZEE EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID
(&) INDIVIDUALS (continuea)

() ES=Me (&) (@)  Directors’ emoluments (continued)
FRAENKENSESZ The emoluments paid or payable to each of the
BT : directors during the year were as follows:
BEZF-=/"A=+ Year ended 30 June 2023
BIEFE

HE EHR RIKER
2 EWH fed AHEIE st
Salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirement
Directors’ and benefits benefit
fees in kind Bonus schemes Total
FET FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HKS$000
(BHEG))
(note (i)
wiTES: Executive directors:
RE2 (Fitsxi) Chan Sing Chuk, Charles
(note i) - 300 - 14 314
gk Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley - 1,200 100 54 1,354
REH Chan Wai Kei, Vicki - 1,164 141 52 1,357
BEY Chan Wai Lap, Victor - 2,580 525 116 3,221
BER Wong Edward Gwon-hing - 1,620 325 18 1,963
FHTESE: Non-executive director:
HER Yam Tat Wing 50 - - - 50
Bifaires: Independent
non-executive
directors:
RRE Yu Shiu Tin, Paul 50 - - - 50
R I Chan Ping Kuen, Derek 50 - - - 50
BRE Sze Irons 50 - - - 50
KB Cheung Chi Fai, Frank 50 - - - 50
Bt Total 250 6,864 1,091 254 8,459




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B 18R MzE

For the year ended 30 June 2023
BHE_Z_=—F A=1THILFE

2]

+= EEFMERAMNR 13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND
e ATZEE EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID
(%) INDIVIDUALS (continued)
() ESME (&) (a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)
HE_ZT-__FA=+ Year ended 30 June 2022
HIEFE
¥& 2R RINER
e tika ENAlE Al TRl &t
Salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirement
Directors' and benefits benefit
fees in kind Bonus schemes Total
FET FET FET FET FET
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
(PzE())
(note (i)
rES: Executive directors:
REE Chan Sing Chuk, Charles = 1,200 100 54 1,354
L8 Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley - 1,200 100 54 1354
REH Chan Wai Kei, Vicki - 1,116 138 50 1304
{0 Chan Wai Lap, Victor - 2,490 513 2 3,115
BEE Wong Edward Gwon-hing - 1,506 303 18 1,827
FHTES: Non-executive director:
rER Yam Tat Wing 50 - - - 50
BiknmEs: Independent
non-executive
directors:
ABR Yu Shiu Tin, Paul 50 - - - 50
R imiE Chan Ping Kuen, Derek 50 - - - 50
BRE Sze Irons 50 = - - 50
i g Cheung Chi Fai, Frank 50 - - - 50
et Total 250 7512 1,154 288 9,204
Biat - Notes:
(i) TEALAE S 2 @RI (i) The bonus is determined by the individual
REE - performance of the directors.
(ii) HITESFREER (ii) The Executive director, Chan Sing Chuk, Charles

([RELHR=F
——F+A—HE

£

(“Dr. Chan") resigned with effect on 1 October
2022.
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+= EEHFMEAME
BEFHALTZME

(%)

(@) E=M=e (&)

FR AEETERNES
S AHEM B S E R IIAZL
PRINARE ERS 2 2 Ehs
BERAE -

(b) HEUBSHFAL
FA AEBRUKSE
ALTBE=R (22

FRMBES KFZ
MER EXPR251 25

13. DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION AND
EMOULMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the directors as an inducement to join, or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss
of office.

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year included three
(2022: two) directors whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. The

R o FAEREERAT emoluments payable to the remaining individual
ZEE AT during the year are as follows:
2023 2022
F#ET FEr
HK$'000 HK$°000
e RN Salaries, allowances and other
Hib M benefits 4,737 7,143

ABER T B & % E

The number of individuals fell within the following

(ZEZERB) : emolument bands (excluding the directors):
2023 2022
FET FHEIT
HKS$'000 HK$°000
B < & Emolument bands
0/ 7L £ 1,500,000/ 7T HK$0 to HK$ 1,500,000 - 1
1,500,001 T & HK$1,500,001 to
2,500,000/ 7T HK$2,500,000 1 -
2,500,001 T E HK$2,500,001 to
3,000,000/ 7T HK$3,000,000 - 1
3,000,001/8 7T & HK$3,000,001 to
3,500,000/ 7T HK$3,500,000 1 1

ul
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PR ERAR FYRE

(o))

+m - WX - BB RERE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

EFR KB
HENEEE REEE FERREE RERRE ERIR &t
Furniture,
Buildings fixtures and
and equipment
leasehold Mining Plantand ~ and motor  Construction
improvements structures  machinery vehicles in progress Total
AT TET THET AT &L AT
HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
RZBZ-5tA-B  At1luly2021
A Cost 71,234 47,703 46,9% 58,390 12,892 243215
ZHMERAE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment (65,927) (32,252) (42,920) (55,093) (7,394) (203,586)
RE3E Net carrying amount 11,307 15,451 4,076 3,297 5498 39,629
BEZEZZERAZTH  Yearended 30 June 2022
LEE
EEEHEE Opening net carrying amount 11,307 15,451 4076 3297 5,498 39,629
HE Additions 632 - 286 1,160 - 2,078
e /s Disposals/Written off = = = = = -
Vil Depreciation (2,319 - (312) (1,506) - @137)
HEEE Impairment loss (154) (5,039) ) (31) (1,116) (6,347)
AR Exchange realignment (331) (373) (37) (98) (133) (972
EREETE Closing net carrying amount 9,135 10,039 4,006 282 4249 30,251
RZFZZERAZTAR  At30June 2022 and 1 July 2022
—F-Z5tR-H
A Cost 77,866 47,703 47,282 59,124 12,892 244,867
ZHMERAE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment (68,731) (37,664) (43,276) (56,302) (8,643) (214,616)
RE3E Net carrying amount 9,135 10,039 4,006 2,822 4249 30,251
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+0 - % - BB RS 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(#&) (continued)
EFR ffRE
BENEEE REEE ERRHE RERRE EEIR @t
Furniture,
Buildings fixtures and
and equipment
leasehold Mining Plantand ~ and motor  Construction
improvements structures machinery vehicles i progress Total
TET TAT AT AT BT TET
HK$000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$000
§§$§ZZ¢/\H =+H Yearended 30 June 2023
i %ﬂ A% Opening net carrying amount 9,135 10,039 4,006 2822 4,249 30,251
NE Additions 1,342 - 308 755 - 2,405
ﬁﬁ/ i Disposals/Written off (70) = = = = (70)
Depreciation (2,226) - (323) (1,356) - (3,905)
mﬁféﬂ B Reversal of impairment loss 28 231 2 - 158 419
B 5 5 Exchange realignment (647) (814) 7 (230) (344) (2,028)
EXREIH Closing net carrying amount 7,562 9,456 4,000 1991 4,063 21,012
fﬁ‘:g:iﬁﬁﬁi‘fﬁ At 30 June 2023
RE Cost 75310 3774 47401 58,097 11,827 236,409
ZHMERRE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment (67,748) (34,318) (43,401) (56,106) (7.764) (209,337)
RETH Net carrying amount 7,562 9,456 4,000 1,991 4,063 27,012
Mt - Notes:
@) RZEZ=FA=+H" (a) As at 30 June 2023, the management of the Group
AEEEEELRRASRE identified impairment indicator of certain property, plant

/54,938,000 T (—Z T ==
£ : 5,403,000 70) 2 & T
ME - BB KR ERBER
T 5T 81 38 32 1 ) I8 % B B
gﬁo

SREARBNTS R4
A &E 1 5 5 &1 A 4 Bl & 2R
e AEEGEBEREEMN
BAKEES —HREED
ZREEEBM ([FERS
EEBM ) 2 K ESE -
RAeELBURRAEEZ
PRERZE -

REBEEBENTEER
e FREESCELBMNIZ
A] W [B] & %A 55,409,000/
7T (=% = — 4 : 5,409,000
B BRERESRE-
ﬁﬂ MEABREREMERE
WHRARDE  BE K&
HreERALERRZRES
B(ZE-_—F:mEEBE
4,794,000 7T ) ©

and equipment with carrying amount of HK$4,938,000
(2022:HK$5,403,000) due to the delay of the
predetermined mining plan.

For the purposes of impairment testing, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit for one of the mining operations of the Group
("Mining CGU 1") to which the asset belongs when it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually.
The cash-generating unit represents the Group’s mining
operation.

Based on the result of the assessment, the management
of the Group determined that the recoverable amounts
of the Mining CGU |, amounted to HK$5,409,000 (2022:
HK$5,409,000) is higher than its carrying amount. No
impairment loss (2022: impairment loss of HK$4,794,000)
have been recognised against the carrying amount
of property, plant and equipment in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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0]

+m - WX - BB RERE

(&

Hiet: (&

(a)

(%)

SRR EEEMIZA
Yool 5285 ARG R
HEA(BERNE (=T
—CENF)HRSRER
A ER A FER N SR
BE- RAEEREELS
7 FJ 4 0 2 B 2 BA SR (T S
RERAAT

—E=H
WNEHZERE  T191.2%
BBRRATE 14.29%
—E-—F
IAEHZERE  F15-1.0%
CRik iR 12.78%

il aT RARER i B 22 B R IR AR
BReEFEMIZBERR
R EREH TS ER 2 AH
EE-RERESELBMZ
AFEREIEATFEAE -

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

The recoverable amount of this Mining CGU | has been
determined based on the fair value less cost of disposal
using discounted cash flow projection which was based
on the cash flow projection for a period of 8 years
(2022: 9 years). Key estimates and assumptions used for
determining the recoverable amount of the CGU are as
follows:

2023

Growth rate during the 8-year period Average of 1.2%

Post-tax discount rate 14.29%

2022

Growth rate during the 9-year period  Average of —=1.0%

Post-tax discount rate 12.78%

Estimates and assumptions are determined by management
based on the past performance of the Mining CGU | and
management’s expectation for the market development.
The fair value of the Mining CGU | is a level 3 fair value
measurement.
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HE-ZT—

=FEXRA=+HILFE

+m - WE - BB RRE

(&)

Hret - (&

(b)

RZZE_=FA=+8"
AEBEEERRETY
¥ HE R E R REE
FERFEcMELZLEHMLIE
WEDNR BB EE R
AETmE—t-

HBREAREHME R
A] Be fE Bl & &1 AT W =l & 78
B AEBGFEBREEMR
BAEEHES S —HERESE
B2 RS EEBMN ([HIESE
SEEENI]) ZAKES
B RSELBMRERE
B 2 R o RIS M
FETm-t+ARR=-+H—H
ELBRSREZVE BE
KR RS ERRE
EEARERERCEELS

£zl °

A ERE DT EEZFF
BN E= -

R-BE =% A=+
B ASBEREAFELD
5,849,000 L (=T ==
£ 16,955,000/ L) 2 & T
BFRHEEMELEE BE
RHEERIA KRR ML R E - R
RAREDRER (ERAEE
B2 —RIRTTREE 2 ER
(MtsE=+=) -

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

As at 30 June 2023, the management of the Group
identified impairment indicator of certain property, plant
and equipment and mining right with details as set out in
notes 14 and 20, primarily due to the change in price of
market gold price.

For the purposes of impairment testing, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit for another mining operation of the Group (“Mining
CGU 1I") to which the asset belongs when it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually. The cash-
generating unit represents the Group’s mining operation.
Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and the
mining right, set out in notes 14, 15 and 20 respectively
that generate cash flows together, have been allocated to
the Mining CGU II.

The result of the assessment and the details of the fair
value measurement are set out in note 20.

As 30 June 2023, the Group's certain buildings and
leasehold improvements, plant and machinery, and
furniture, fixtures and equipment and motor vehicles
with aggregate net carrying amount of approximately
HK$5,849,000 (2022: HK$6,955,000) were pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note
32).

O
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(@)

+H- EHEEE 15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
FAEEERTDFHRIABEE The analysis of the net carrying amount of right-of-use
BREE 2 DT assets by class of underlying assets is as follows:
HinfAE1E
T iiE A HELTH BRAZYE Rt
Other
properties
Land use Leasehold leased for
rights land own use Total
FET FET BT FE7T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-F_—%tH—H At 1 July 2021
BN Cost 40,549 3,538 26,695 70,782
ZEIE Accumulated
depreciation (13,479) (2,224) (8,216) (23,919)
REFHE Net carrying amount 27,070 1,314 18,479 46,863
HEZEZ"F5xA=1H Year ended
EFE 30 June 2022
FHIBREH 5 Opening net carrying
amount 27,070 1,314 18,479 46,863
NE Addition - - 1,407 1,407
WEZH Depreciation charges (1,297) (53) (4,665) (6,015)
BHFEHEE Remeasurement of lease = = 214 (214)
ME i % Exchange realignment (654) - (338) (992)
FREEFH Closing net carrying
amount 25,119 1,261 14,669 41,049
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+h EREEE @ 15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
HifEEE
i P HELH BHZUE Et
Other
properties
Land use Leasehold leased for
rights land own use Total
FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
WZF__&£7A=+HR At 30 June 2022 and
—F_"_f£tA—H 1 July 2022
B Cost 39,612 3,538 26,971 70,121
2EHHE Accumulated
depreciation (14,493) (2,277) (12,302) (29,072)
RREFH Net carrying amount 25,119 1,261 14,669 41,049
BEZF-=#7"A=1H Year ended
LEE 30 June 2023
FANARE F5E Opening net carrying
amount 25,119 1,261 14,669 41,049
NE Addition - - 5,089 5,089
FEST Depreciation charges (1,195) (53) (4,654) (5,902)
bE i R Exchange realignment (2,037) = 9 (1,941)
FRREFR Closing net carrying
amount 21,887 1,208 15,200 38,295
RZBEZ=ZE/RA=+H At30June 2023
A Cost 44,309 3,538 30,301 78,148
2EHE Accumulated
depreciation (22,422) (2,330) (15,101) (39,853)
IREFE Net carrying amount 21,887 1,208 15,200 38,295

RZFZ=FXA=1+H K&
5] BR T 42 52,244,000/ 7T (=
T~ —4F:2,424,000/870) ZE
FAEEECER ERAEEE
Bz —RRIRITRE 2 BR (M
=+t=)-

facilities granted to the Group (note 32).

At 30 June 2023, certain of the Group’s right-of-use assets
with aggregate carrying amounts of HK$2,244,000 (2022:
HK$2,424,000) were pledged to secure general banking
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+75 BREYE 16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

AEERBLLSHERA AR
He (FEXNREZMBYFRE
SRERIBERTIERKIRED
ERBZANE BERRF
BERVFE XDBRR/RART
EREME-

REFEP BRI KR ZINZ EEE

All of the Group's property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals, for capital appreciation purposes
or property that is being constructed or developed for
future use as investment properties are measured using the
fair value model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties.

Movements of the carrying amounts presented in the

BMEBH RO - consolidated statement of financial position can be
summarised as follows:

2023 2022

F#ET FET

HK$'000 HK$'000

FYRESRE Carrying amount at beginning of the year 2,092,900 1,928,300

NE Additions 11,990 56,479

BEEREFTERZHE Interests capitalised (note 7)

(KtsEt) 1,007 9,636
NEEFEZ (EE),  (Loss)/Gain from fair value adjustments

W as (27,797) 98,485

EREREEH Carrying amount at end of the year 2,078,100 2,092,900

FRFIBHEE2E ZEITER
FEFFE8EE JIEIEE E A
3B -

RZZE_=ZFNA=Z+H &
By (BRI EAL) AHAE
MITERAR (ZE=Z=F:
GBI ERMITAERAR)FEA
BHELBE(ZE-__F HE
LEBCR)#ETHE B 2 EE
/265,100,000 0 (=T ==
£ 1 265,900,000/8 7T ) ° HiE Lt
BEZRRABEHEBERMEZX
R HESRAERER  MABE™
SEIBRE RN KR ZIBIRET
BEEMEe

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3.

Investment properties (individual unit) were valued at
30 June 2023 by Knight Frank Petty Limited (2022:
Knight Frank Petty Limited) at HK$265,100,000 (2022:
HK$265,900,000) by adopting the direct comparison
approach (2022: direct comparison approach). The direct
comparison considers the sales, listing or offerings of similar
or substitute properties and related market data establishes
a value estimate by processes involving comparison.
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+5 - BREVE & 16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

R-E-_=FA=1tH B%
BRI E M (BEHER) B
BEMTERAR(ZE=Z
F R R ERMITAER AR )H
Bl EERNMEE(ZE==
HER)ETHE SHZME
{8 4&1,813,000,000/8 ¢ (=&
— — % :1,827,000,000 7T ) °
e B AR oA T 2
BENMeE R REFHE - #E
BB REREENR MR
BRAA (BIEEERAN B
B B - AR AN A K&
TR R R KOS ) B -

AEBEREMEZ A TFEBF3
BB M AT ERS - FHHF

Completed investment properties (whole block) was valued
at 30 June 2023 by Knight Frank Petty Limited (2022:
Knight Frank Petty Limited) at HK$1,813,000,000 (2022:
HK$1,827,000,000) by adopting the income capitalisation
method (2022: residual method). The income capitalisation
method involves certain estimates including capitalisation
rates and reversionary rental value. The residual method was
determined by deducting the estimated total cost of the
development including costs of construction, professional
fee, finance cost, associated costs and an allowance for
developer’s risk and profit from the gross development
value.

The fair value of the Group's investment properties is a level
3 recurring fair value measurement. A reconciliation of the

RAFEGSHREREAT opening and closing fair value balance is provided below:
2023 2022
FET FAET
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FH4Es (F3ELEEMEATFE) Opening balance
(level 3 recurring fair value) 2,092,900 1,928,300
NE Additions 11,990 56,479
BEEFTERZFE (HE) Interests capitalised (note 7) 1,007 9,636
N EFAEZ (BE) /WL Net (loss)/gain from fair value
HER adjustments (27,797) 98,485
FERFER (F3EREMH Closing balance
NEE) (level 3 recurring fair value) 2,078,100 2,092,900
RERFEESABRZZ Change in unrealised gains or losses
FRREHF WK EEE for the year included in profit or
loss for assets held at the end of
the year (27,797) 98,485
AFEFEA LM EYESE The fair value measurement is based on the above
TERSEA (BEERARL investment properties’ highest and best use, which does not

BEAR) HER -

differ from their actual use.
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+75 BEYE »

TRIEHAERNAETREDE

RFEZ AR

Bt fhfER
Valuation

Description technique

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair

values of the investment properties are determined.

EARERREAE

Significant unobservable inputs

EXEEEE
BAEZEE
Range of
significant
unobservable
inputs

EXAREREOABAATEZRE

Relationship of significant
unobservable inputs to fair value

RZFZZERA=1H
As at 30 June 2023

EEMRENE
(fERIfz)
Completed investment  Direct comparison approach
properties (individual

units)

BRHEE

EEMRENE
(BfEgR)

Completed investment  Income captalisation method
property (whole block)

WEEAE

WEEE WIELE KN REE

Quality of properties such as location, size
and level of the properties

2w fds

Capitalisation rate

REMAE

Reversionary rental

-69%—+26%

25%3%

BEDE
SR

B A53EL-
14757
HK$53 to
HK$147 per
square foot
per month

for commercial
premises

WERERTEL BN EEAR
ATERS:

The higher the quality of properties with
reference to comparables, the higher
the fair value.

ERiERR ATERE-

The higher the capitalisation rate, the
lower the fair value.

)

188

ot
alot

RRAED

The higher the reversionary rental, the
higher the fair value.
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+5 - BEYE &

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

EXBEER
Gt i EXEFERRAE HAEZEE EREABRR\EEATHE AR
Range of
significant
unobservable Relationship of significant unobservable
Description Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs inputs inputs to fair value
\ —% Z:ﬁ/ \ H + H
As at 30 June 2022
EEMRENE BRERE NEXEE IMELE N REE -40%—+6% %%XEWT?S%?%%ZE Y
(&I fz) ATERE.
Completed investment  Direct comparison approach Quality of properties such as location, size The higher the quality of properties with
properties (individual and level of the properties reference to comparables, the higher
units) the fair value.

YRTRENX  BEE

Investment property  Residual method

under development

RZZT=Z=FA=+RH &&E
[ 8% ™ < %82,078,100,0007% 7T
(== = =% :2,092,900,000/%
T ZIEYMEEDER ERAR
SEER G TRITERZER
(HsFE=+=) -

FRERHRER CBERERER 1 YR

HRUEREMERRE MMER 2320087
NEEE HERES 58,000/ 70
Value per saleable area using direct HK$23,200 -
comparable and taking into account HK$58,000 per

of the location and other individual square foot
factors, such as size of property, level of
property, site view etc.

BRx 3.5%

Discount rate

Rt IMA LR
412087

Estimated costs to completion HKS$4,120 per
square foot

BYIRERDS ATEDAR:

The higher the price per square foot, the
higher the fair value.

ERERR AFEAE-
The higher the discount rate, the lower the
fair value.

[t R TRARR ATEDE

The higher the estimated costs to
completion, the lower the fair value.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group's investment properties
with carrying amounts of HK$2,078,100,000 (2022:
HK$2,092,900,000) were pledged to secure certain bank
loans granted to the Group (note 32).
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(@)

+t . HE

+\

17. GOODWILL
REFE Ot IS 2 BB R E Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated,
BOREXBERSTEK TN 2R at acquisition, to Novell Enterprises Inc. (“Novell”) under
PEAEN ([EERBEREE cash-generating unit of Jewellery Business in US (“Jewellery
A B (7| ) Novell Enterprises Inc. US CGU"). Particulars regarding the impairment testing on
(TNovell 1) - BRAREBRE AR goodwill are disclosed in note 19.
Z BRI T K E -
s BB E 18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2023 2022
F#ET FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIRREFEE Opening net carrying amount 8,300 8,234
bE 5 S Exchange realignment 9) 66
FRARE 5 Closing net carrying amount 8,291 8,300

R—ZE-_=F~A=+8"
8,291,000 L (Z T ==
8,300,000 7T) 2 BIZ B &
EREBAFEETZIEBLE
Gro & E4R MZ R 57
B R B RE T R S A A
#A45 fFA [Wright & Lido ] &
[Lieberfarb | ff & 44 18 2 sk 4B #E
M-BERA ZEWZHRT
MR A A A KAER  FEHE
ERASAEBEELEFREMN
A At BEEE A RAE
H-BREFEERBIRZF
BRI EE T N BEER -

R—ZE-_=F~A=+8"
8,291,000 L (Z T ==
8,300,000/ 7T ) 2 B EEE &
T ERAREEER 2 —RIRTT
BEZER (ME=1+=) -

At 30 June 2023, intangible assets of trademarks
amounting to HK$8,291,000 (2022: HK$8,300,000) were
arising from a business combination in prior years. Intangible
assets represent the perpetual right to use of brand name
of “Wright & Lido” and “Lieberfarb” which takes the form
of sign, symbol, name, logo design or any combination
thereof. The directors considered these trademarks have an
indefinite useful life since they are registered with a legally
perpetual life and expected to generate net cash inflows to
the Group indefinitely. Particulars of the impairment testing
on intangible assets are disclosed in note 19.

At 30 June 2023, intangible assets of HK$8,291,000 (2022:
HK$8,300,000) were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 32).
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+h - EEERERFER 19. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

2 mEREY
EE ZHENR

RETREN WME+t R
TA\DHIPTE R EHEE A £
FHCHERENEEZ 2K
HELHEPEEXBERERESE
EB-BREFENS KA
BEEREANERAFHZAERE
FREESN 2 BIERHE+ MK
THNETELRSRHOYE
TR 55 e st I (£ PR A B EE B R AR
BB R BB E AT ASSEIER
BRSELEMN -ZFHERZE
EREREEMALEN KRS

RE IR

XBRERSELEM 2R KA
SRAEREBEFEEEE %
FHEEERERESAILE
RERMBEEZ RS RIAR -
EREEAEZZIERRR
ERBARBRR ERR AR
ENRRRRE -BBAFHZ
REMEMA25% (ZF=_=
2.5% ) 2t R 4
B MZIERERIL T BEE kK
B REERR-AEEEHA
RERE RIS H EHEREEZ T
ERREELEV 2 BERR
BRI RAEFHRAIR KR R &
BEEMERKEHENBER
AREREH SRR BHE
Fo

BUBEEBRKER S EE
BAZEANRSRE 2 X
BEFE2063% (==
20.08% ) °

E=2R5 AR BB ERB
I 5L B BN E+ -
TR -+ERT N \ZEE &
BE BTYE BENMREIA
KA At EE TR IR A ©

AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH
INDEFINITE USEFUL LIFE

For the purpose of impairment testing, all the carrying
amounts of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives set out in notes 17 and 18, respectively, have
been allocated to the Jewellery US CGU. In addition to
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives,
certain property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
set out in notes 14 and 15, respectively that generate cash
flows together with the related goodwill and intangible
assets are also included in the Jewellery US CGU for the
purpose of impairment assessment. These calculations use
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by the directors.

The recoverable amount of the Jewellery US CGU
is determined from value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the directors, covering a five-year
period. The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculation
are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates,
budgeted gross margin and revenue during the period. Cash
flow beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using an
estimated weighted average growth rate of 2.5% (2022:
2.5%), which does not exceed the long-term growth rate
for the jewelleries industry in the US. The Group estimates
discount rates using pre-tax rate that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the cash-generating unit. The growth rates,
budgeted gross margin and revenue are determined based
on the past performance and management’s expectation of
market development.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from
Jewellery US CGU is 20.63% (2022: 20.08%) per annum.

In the opinion of the directors, based on the aforesaid
impairment testing, there is no impairment recognised in
respect of goodwill, intangible assets, certain property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets, as set out in notes
14, 15, 17 and 18 respectively.
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1+ - REEE 20. MINING RIGHT

0]

2023 2022

Fi#ET FET

HK$'000 HK$000

FHRE S5 Opening net carrying amount 494,940 591,056

FERRERE CRE) Reversal of impairment/(Impairment)

for the year 22,728 (81,838)

PE % A& Exchange realignment (40,137) (14,278)
FRRMEFRE Closing net carrying amount 477,531 494,940
FRE 425 Gross carrying amount 901,504 981,061

Rt Accumulated amortisation (4,081) (4,441)

ZETRERE Accumulated provision for impairment (419,892) (481,680)
BREDFFE Net carrying amount 477,531 494,940

MM ET AW E R -F
“=FRA=TBR XrEEEE
EBHBLETYE BE &R E
ARFFEEOBETR (FEH
RMETEE=1) JIEEH
RIS ENERES-

REREFT B IRIEIR & EE B
Z A E S EERN AT ERLE
MAZFE (FIB AT EFE)
BT -RERCELEEAMIZMH
BERFERMIEEEEER -
P ERTEE R R BRI A S
STHARR SR 2 BN (BRI TR FOFD
B BERAR (ZE ==

AR BEFEBR AR ) EIT

E/‘\_v—_i/\ﬂ +E| T?K@%
REELEBMIZATERLEES
RARERTHEEELE(ZE -
FmBEER)EROLHESR
RPGABHAERBRCELS
frllz A FERER 2 ZH R
RIABILIGERIT 2 & EBETR
A% -

As disclosed in note 14, as at 30 June 2023, the
management of the Group identified impairment indicator
of certain property, plant and equipment and mining right
with details as set out in note 14 and 20, primarily due to
the change in price of market gold price.

The recoverable amount of the Mining CGU Il to which
the mining right belongs was determined based on the
measurement of fair value less costs of disposal, a level 3
fair value measurement. The valuation of the Mining CGU
Il was carried out by BMI Appraisals Limited (2022: BMI
Appraisals Limited), an independent valuation firm who held
recognised and relevant professional qualifications and had
recent experience in the location and category of the mining
right being valued.

The fair value less costs of disposal of the Mining CGU Il
as at 30 June 2023 was measured using recent sale and
purchase transactions under the market-based approach
(2022: market-based approach). The variables and
assumptions used in computing the fair value of the Mining
CGU Il were based on the independent valuation firm's best
estimate.
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1 REEE @

ZIELZ ENE LB R A B

T
—E=fF

2023

Rt RSB RZ T ETHE

The range of uncertainty of estimated gold resources

RHBE R ERR

Adjusted consideration to resources multiple

—E-F
2022

A ESERZTHREDE
The range of uncertainty of estimated gold resources

KAEERRERR

Adjusted consideration to resources multiple

EE AR E S ([COVID-2019]) M{EH < BEER
Discount due to Coronavirus (“COVID-2019")

B EEE Rz T HEEHRERD
= A FERK -KHEERK

s
7
EBRERS ATFERS-

as follows:

20. MINING RIGHT (continued)

The significant unobservable inputs into the approach were

30%2100%

30% to 100%

BrARK40.127T (HERER43.198TT) 2
BRrAR®S1.547T (BERER55.4887T)
RMB40.12 per gram (equivalent to HK$43.19
per gram) to RMB51.54 per gram (equivalent to
HK$55.48 per gram)

30%%£100%

30% to 100%

BRARK35.04T (HBERER41.06ETT) E
Br AR®88.057T (HENE103.1587T)
RMB35.04 per gram (equivalent to HK$41.06
per gram) to RMB88.05 per gram (equivalent to
HK$103.15 per gram)

20%

20%

The higher the range of uncertainty of the estimated gold
resources was, the lower the fair value was. The higher the
adjusted consideration of resources multiple was, the higher

the fair value was.

B ERMTRER BRI HEE
MRS 1T (£ B 5 1B - PARGE BB

The independent valuation firm exercised their professional
judgement to estimate the uncertainty of resources to

iy o improve the valuation technique.
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“+ - REE 2 20. MINING RIGHT (continuea)

N
=)

AEEBEEBEEERTHERE
T ERER S EEEMIZ T
[B] < %8 A&404,139,0007 7T (=
T — — 4 422,329,000/ 7T) -
EREREESE RZREEE
BumE  mERERE (EERG
FER)BRLODEESEY
X BERZEB CAEEER
gl At SEEEZEE
SREITRBEERAEQFEER
HEXS HEREERTZ&
SE - BBEAKRESRENERD
Bt - ERERE B R EMEE
7 W9 Bl 5£419,0007%8 7T 2 ¥
% B K& 22,728,000
BLZREEZFEeBE (=T
Z 4 R1E/E1881,838,000/%
JC K% 1,553,000/ 7T ) FER BB E
1B [E 423,147,000/ T (=&
— 4 R1E/E1883,391,0007%
J0) o BEEEREEE T ANE
B 2 SRIEZTE D 3 o AT &
£5,682,000/87C (ZE -4 :
20,460,000/ 7t ) B 74 B 2= R 1
REFMGHRASZ (ZTE=F:
FRIEIER) -

Based on the result of the assessment, the management
of the Group determined that the recoverable amount of
the Mining CGU II, amounted to HK$404,139,000 (2022:
HK$422,329,000), is higher than its carrying amount.
For this cash-generating unit, the reversal of impairment
amount, before offsetting tax effect, has been allocated pro
rata to each category of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and mining right such that the carrying
amounts of each category of asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal, its value in use
and zero. Based on the recoverable amount calculation and
the allocation, reversal of impairment loss of approximately
HK$23,147,000 (2022: impairment loss of HK$83,391,000)
have been recognised against the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment, amounting to HK$419,000,
and mining rights, amounting to HK$22,728,000,
respectively (2022: impairment loss of HK$81,838,000 and
HK$1,553,000) in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. The reversal of
impairment loss was included in the Mining Operation
segment of the Group. The related tax effect amounting to
HK$5,682,000 (2022: HK$20,460,000) was recognised as
an income tax expense (2022: tax credit) in profit or loss.
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21.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2023 2022

F#T FET

HK$'000 HK$'000

BIhEEFE Share of net assets 27,460 34,093
VERIERE L Provision for impairment (3,898) (3,898)
23,562 30,195

RZEZ=FHA=TAEK=ZF Particulars of the principal associate as at 30 June 2023 and
ZZFEARA=TH XEBEAR 30 June 2022 are as follows:
AlZ BN
ML/ FEREER
F1: BRRAMERFHE ERupEd-tits BEEEZANM TEXH
Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ ownership interest
Particulars of paid-up registration and attributable to the
Name registered capital operations Group Principal activities
Metropolitan Opportunity B4R 77,582,398% T RERS/BA 30 REER
Fund SPC* Paid up capital of USD7,582,398  Cayman Islands/ (ZZZZ%:30) Investment holdings
Hong Kong (2022: 30)
* FEBBLIEERGFAIE @ Not audited by BDO Limited or other BDO member firms.
BRARARS GRS
HAthpk B 2 Rz -

EERA/ LB ARRBERT
IBREFAREBERRERE
BEREDEN SN I NCIE YN
WOBEEFE-BEFAR EBH

Hiplp = N R HIE @ EHR R
BRITRK e

The above associate of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the share of associates’
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the
share of net asset of the associate by the Group. To give
details of other associates would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

N
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—t— REEQARIZE 21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
m (&)
PINES F E B &£ 2 A The summarised financial information of Metropolitan
Metropolitan Opportunity Fund Opportunity Fund SPC, a principal associate of the Group,
SPCeHBERME (Hirg H extracted from its management accounts are as follows:

ERERB )T :

2023 2022
Fi# T FETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
RANA=+H As at 30 June
mENE EE Current assets 78,140 106,483
EREEE Non-current assets - -
mBEE Current liabilities (232) (6,643)
EREEE Non-current liabilities = -
BEFE Net assets 77,908 99,840
N ER B fE AL B A A Group's share of the net assets of the
BESE associate 23,562 30,195
HEANA=THLEE For the year ended 30 June
U = Revenue _ _
FR(FEE), OFF (Loss)/Profit for the year (21,801) 545
HEizmkas Other comprehensive income (131) 490
FHEKRBEE Total comprehensive income (21,932) 1,035
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22.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2023 2022
F#T FHET
HK$'000 HK$ 000
BIhEEFE Share of net assets 1,039 1,041
B G & FEHKIE Due to joint ventures (1,036) (1,036)

%fﬁ AR EER - %8 RAR

RZE-_=FA=+HEK=Z
ZZFERA=TH - FEEED

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable

on demand.

Particulars of the principal joint ventures as at 30 June 2023

and 30 June 2022 are as follows:

EZHBHT:
BRITRBERT AL/
A% BA/EMEAFHE MRS e FEEELRRREERA DL TEEH
Place of
Particulars of issued and  incorporation/ Percentage of ownership
paid-up share capital/ registration and interest attributable Principal
Name registered capital operations to the Group activities
2023 2022
Reta Investment 10000 BRAERIZET EBERZHEE/BH 50% 50% B
Holding Limited 2 ERR British Virgin Islands/ Investment
10,000 ordinary shares of Hong Kong holding
US$1 each
Metropolitan Capital 5,000,000/ B EE001 HEHE, /&S 33% 33% REZK
EL2EER Cayman Islands/ Investment
5,000,000 ordinary shares Hong Kong holding

of US$0.01 each
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H

RNREBRAEED®XEReta
Investment Holding Limited
([Reta Investment | » 73 2 & B2
ZRHEFMKIRRBEAEE L
B EBMEER)HEAS0% (=
T ZF :50% ) fEss o b AR
£ B IR G & 1 3 Metropolitan
Capital (R F =8 &M &
REBLEBE B U ERITEER)
WAE33% (ZT==F:33%)
i - AaNTHERAREEIRE
HEZECE R EETESE
E ZHEF| > MReta Investment
Metropolitan Capital== & # A %
EERHEECEIREEGER
HEBEZEE - REBSBHE®R
HERIENR  ZEEERHE
GBHEAGELF WECERAER
ERERE B HRER AR

“+Z - REELEZE 22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
= (&) (continued)

The Group has 50% (2022: 50%) interests in joint ventures,
Reta Investment Holding Limited (“Reta Investment”),
a separate structured vehicle incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and operating in Hong Kong. In addition,
the Group also has 33% (2022: 33%) interest in joint
ventures, Metropolitan Capital, a separate structured vehicle
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and operating in Hong
Kong. The contractual arrangement provides the Group with
only the rights to the net assets of these joint arrangements,
with the rights to the assets and obligation for the liabilities
of the joint arrangement resting primarily with Reta
Investment and Metropolitan Capital. Under HKFRS 11,
these joint arrangements are classified as joint ventures
and have been accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method.
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—t+Z REERRZE 22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
5 (%) (continued)

ERIFFEREEREEIGHREH
BHRRZMBEERBEDT :

Summarised financial information for individually immaterial
joint ventures attributable to the consolidated financial

statements as follows:

2023 2022
F#ET FAET
HKS$000 HK$'000
m~A=+H As at 30 June
ERIFEERE EBER Aggregate carrying amount of
REMBHRERZ individually immaterial joint ventures
RERTE B8 in the consolidated financial statements 1,039 1,041
HESNA=THILFEE Year ended 30 June
FEEREEREZEE Aggregate amount of the results of
FEECR immaterial joint ventures:
—FREE — Loss for the year (5) 4)
FEW SRR Total comprehensive income (5) 4)
REEEEEGERFESESE  Aggregate amount of
FEECR the Group’s share of results of
the joint ventures:
—FREE — Loss for the year (2) (1)
EHEURES AR Total comprehensive income ) (1)

N
ul
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N
()}

I E AR AR A BN SR A 1
G- 8B AR E i 3 T
FRENRXFEFAEME
E G

= UATEFANE 23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
thEmBEZE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
L& E INCOME
2023 2022
Bt FET FET
ERBEE Non-current assets Notes HK$°000 HK$ 000
EmBRAKRE: Listed equity investments,
LA F1E : at fair value:
BB Hong Kong 18,414 19,440
H b5 Elsewhere 1,508 1,354
() 19,922 20,794
H k5 2 3 EMARZAS Unlisted equity investments in
K& UARAFE elsewhere, at fair value (a) 144 144
rTHES UATE Listed bonds, at fair value
B Hong Kong 2,266 2,353
B=u8: ) Elsewhere 2,160 11,339
(b) 4,426 13,692
st Total 24,492 34,630
MEEE Current assets
EWES URAFEE Listed bonds, at fair value
B=iih: s Elsewhere (b) 2,308 =
HteE - Notes:
(@) HRASEERAEZE LT R (a) The listed and unlisted equity investments were irrevocably

designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income as the Group considers these investments to be
strategic in nature.
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“+= URAFEFAE 23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
themiEzE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
MEE &) INCOME (continued)

Htat: (&) Notes: (continued)

(b) ZELEMBEHFZENBRER (b) The listed bonds where the contractual cash flows are
EARAERERFE  MA solely principal and interest and the objective of the Group’s
SREBEXABEDNE business model is achieved both by collecting contractual
BRRE NIRRT E R cash flows and selling financial assets. The listed bonds
EemAEMEL N ER- carried interest rates ranging from 1.47% to 3.88% (2022:
Z% EESFNFERNEN T 1.47% to 4.38%) per annum and had various maturity
1.47%%3.88% (—ZF == dates from May 2024 to September 2025 (2022: May
F:1.47%%4.38% ) E‘J B;@ 2024 to September 2025).

HE-Z-WERAZR
_ﬁihﬁ (_2::¢ =
—NERAZE_ZE_AF

hﬁ JEE
BRAEENEEBRE KRR Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
B EmEFHNEERBEOE arising from the listed bonds are set out in note 48.3.

ZEF B MIFE48.3 -

© LA R R B AR - (© The following gains were recognised in profit or loss:
2023 2022
FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$000
RIS FER AN FEETA Dividends from equity investments
Hih 2 EWRFFE 2 held at fair value through other
A EFRERE comprehensive income recognised in

profit or loss:
AN FERFE 2R EBR  Related to investments held at
year end date 1,100 1,066

N
o
~
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N
(03]

—+m - BERAWE 24. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

2023 2022

FET FET

HK$000 HK$000

FURESRE Carrying amount at beginning of the year 632,485 335,843

NE Additions 64,390 294,493

BREFTERZFE Interest capitalised (note 7)

(KzE+) 10,761 2,149
R HUR R AR Less: write-down of properties under

development (49,859) -

FAREESRE Carrying amount at end of the year 657,777 632,485

RZZEZ=FA=1TH #R As at 30 June 2023, properties under development

FR ) % 49243,714,00058 7T (= amounting to approximately HK$243,714,000 (2022:

L — — £ : 241,550,000/ 7T ) 7B HK$241,550,000) were not expected to be realised within

BT g RS BB R R the next twelve months from the end of the reporting date.

R+ & A NEE o

RZZEZ=FA=1TH X& At 30 June 2023, the Group's properties under development
(] 42 BR 1 )% B8 £9657,777,000/78 with aggregate net carrying amounts of approximately
oL ( == = — £ : 632,485,000/ HK$657,777,000 (2022: HK$632,485,000) were pledged to
TIZBERBMECER R secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note
REBEER 2 —RIRTEERE 32).

ZHER(ME=1T2) -
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“+i5 HFE 25. INVENTORIES
2023 2022
F#ET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
JR#4# Raw materials 53,533 64,906
ER Work in progress 5,974 12,199
BIRY fh Finished goods 123,666 131,976
183,173 209,081
RZZEZ=FA=1+H KHE At 30 June 2023, certain inventories with aggregate
#8%H59,122,0008 L (—Z&FE = — carrying amounts of HK$59,122,000 (2022:
£ :63,166,0008 7T) 2 & T 1F HK$63,166,000) were pledged to secure general banking
BEEEH ERASEER 2 — facilities granted to the Group (note 32).
MIBITEEMEZER (W&E
=t+=)-
—t+7x - BEEBWUMRE 26. TRADE RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
F#ET FET
HKS$'000 HK$'000
=) AR Trade receivables 71,968 129,031
B FEURGRIE 2 R {EBEHS  Less: provision for impairment of receivables (7,377) (20,276)
B 5 e WRIE —F 5 Trade receivables — net 64,591 108,755

N
[}
O
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N
(e)

iy A

B 5 B IE 26. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
(&)

REE—RIBITEEMNLR The Group normally grants credit terms to its customers
EREPZEE ERLHERE according to industry practice together with consideration
EFHREIRTERPZEE of their creditability, repayment history and years of
BH - BEEFPHRERESEE establishment. Each customer has a maximum credit
#H o AN £ B Y BLUOR (B R IR WK IE limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
MR ERIRIE S - BB IR = AR outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are regularly

ERETHERN- reviewed by senior management.
RERE BE - R B HEERN An ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of provision, as
EHRB R EFEKIERER at the reporting date, based on the date of recognition of

AHTEAT : the sale, is as follows:

2023 2022
F#ET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
0-30H 0-30 days 42,073 54,018
31-60H 31-60 days 15,579 35,779
61-90H 61-90 days 4,600 12,996
90H K Over 90 days 2,339 5,962
64,591 108,755

FEASEEEBREE SRR
HIEEENEERRAE— P
R I FE48.3 ©

R-ZE_=ZF#XA=+H'%&
TEZRERBFEEREEDES &
18,398,000 L (ZE = =4 :
40,794,000 T) EE#H - 1E R
REERRZ —RIBITRHEZE
R(fE=FT=) °

Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade receivable are set out in note 48.3.

At 30 June 2023, certain trade receivables with
aggregate carrying amounts of HK$18,398,000 (2022:
HK$40,794,000) were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 32).
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—t+t - UAFEFANE 27. FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES AT
ﬁZﬁﬁﬂﬁE/ FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
afs LOSS

2023 2022
Kt F#ET FEIT
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
ERBEE Non-current assets
KERS  UATE Investment fund, at fair value
BB Hong Kong 6,039 6,992
Hitbih 5 Elsewhere 4,009 3,868
(a) 10,048 10,860
MENEE Current assets
BB LR AE S Listed equity securities in (b)
ARAF{E Hong Kong, at fair value 2,955 3,864
BEBFRGE Certificate of deposits in Hong (d)
LARF{E Kong at fair value 3,899 -
AT A Derivative financial instruments ()
AR {E at fair value - 23
6,854 3,887
mEaE Current liabilities
AT A Derivative financial instruments (0
ARE at fair value 18 =
MEVEEIE NAR T ER ABR Financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or
ZERMEE/BENGEEER loss under current assets presented within the section on
ERAREEE —E 25 R/EE operating activities as part of changes in working capital in
Be&Er—%o-o the consolidated statement of cash flows.

N
-
—
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S ——

FRA=ZTHLFE

N
N

=55 ©

Hiat -

LA FESIANE
HZERMEE
afE @

AR LIRS R
RSB RARST
RAEHEL . AAFE
AEEHBRER

ETERAESTIRHERE -

R-_ZE-_=FA=1+8H"
AEBZITESBT BEMN
?ii%ﬁ@Zﬁl\%iﬁﬁéw
M?@mﬁffﬁﬁﬁé@%%%
Z#EFD‘I‘ uA—r /Hﬂ/a\
%@Zﬁ@ /3400,000F% 7T (=
T~ — 4 :650,000E T)
ﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁﬁ;%i N2 BREEE
PE R F15 88 51,2517
ﬁ@;@ﬁ%m.zmz%ﬁ(:
T F o HEE R 1.20655%
JCE 13 51,2339 L)
ﬂJHHEEE777_¢tHi
- :Q:%::itﬂ
ET-_F1+H)-

RZZE_=FA=+8H"
FRBER=ZE=_=F )\ A3
(== &) Efrl
RAE503% (==
) ©

AT (B518) /Wasr 18 sk

7
Aty -

27. FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES AT

FAIR

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR

LOSS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

The investment fund with cash flows that are not solely
payments of principal and interest is classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of
the business model.

The listed equity securities are held for trading.

At 30 June 2023, the Group's derivative financial
instruments represented foreign currency forward contracts
denominated in GBP and the fair values are based on
the quoted prices from the relevant financial institutions.
The notional amounts of these forward contracts are
US$400,000 (2022: US$650,000) and the forward currency
rates of all these contracts ranged from GBP1:US$1.2517
to GBP1:US$1.2612 (2022: GBP1:US$1.2065 to
GBP1:US$1.2339) with various maturity dates from
July 2023 to September 2023 (2022: from July 2022 to
October 2022).

As at 30 June 2023, the certificate of deposits are entered
with maturity in August 2023 (2022: Nil) carrying interest
rate of 5.03% (2022: Nil) per annum.

The following (losses)/gains were recognised in profit or
loss:

2023 2022
F#ET FET
HK$'000 HK$°000
HEmas ARG Fair value losses on equity
AAFEFABRZ investments at fair value through
RAKRE 2 AN HEBE profit or loss in other operating
income (909) (826)
H’rﬁlﬁ‘“ HSU\WEW Fair value losses on debt
NFEFTAEBZE investments at fair value through
1§i‘%?§;§2’&$f§}§ﬂé profit or loss in other operating
income (812) (4,521)
HmsE ARG Fair value (losses)/gains on derivative
MTESHMIAZ ATE financial instruments in other
(E518) W operating income (578) 205
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—+\ REHAS=E 28. TIME DEPOSIT WITH ORIGINAL
AU EZEHEF MATURITIES OVER THREE MONTHS
EN
RZEZ=FA=1H A& As at 30 June 2023, all bank deposits had remaining
RITFERBRTEHRE B —F maturities within one year. These bank deposit carried
A ° % FEIRITIF IR F A E interest at the average interest rate of 5.01% per annum.
5.01%zt 8 °
“th RERBEEFER 29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
ReRBFRBREUATKD Cash and cash equivalents include the following
components:
2023 2022
F#ET FET
HKS$'000 HK$°000
B HERRITIF K Short-term bank deposits 51,605 83,933
e MIRITH Cash and bank balances 39,090 60,075
90,695 144,008

BITHEBERESRRITERF
ERIVEBFE -RZT=F
NAZTH EBHRTERZE
FEHAMEARN(ZZ==
—@AR) REMNELIOBE
580% (ZZE = —®:006%%
1.73% ) BREUF) 8. 0

AREMEERA ANRITRE
RREREARE AT ER
RHSRUEBEAEZR-

The bank balances earn interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. As at 30 June 2023, the short-
term bank deposits are made for varying periods within
two month (2022: within one month) and earn interest
ranged from 4.90% to 5.80% (2022: 0.06% to 1.73%) per
annum.

The directors of the Company considered that the fair values
of the cash at banks are not materially different from their
carrying amounts because of the short maturity period on
their inception.

N
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N
D

“th RERBEEFH 29.

(%)

RZZBE_=FRA=FTH ' £&E
BEAAREHECHES KRBT
45249 753,157,0008 T (= F
— —%:5,878,000/ L) ' B 4
SKIBTIF AR B KRRERITHEF
BERE ARBWIATEH LK
LB o IBR R B KR 2 INEE
BIEPI R AEE - SIERMNEESE
B AEBE G BERESE
TTHNE RS 2 IRITHHARKE K in
RN o

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(continued)

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had cash and bank
balances denominated in Renminbi (RMB") amounting
to approximately HK$3,157,000 (2022: HK$5,878,000),
which were deposits with banks in Mainland China or held
in hand. RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Under the
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement and Sales and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for foreign currencies through banks that are
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

=+ E5EAREH 30. TRADE PAYABLES/OTHER PAYABLES
il FE £+ SR IR e FE =T AND ACCRUALS
0]
B S ENFIBZEERREER The credit terms of trade payables vary according to the
TR FE P8 17 78 2 1R sK i TS [R] o terms agreed with different suppliers. The ageing analysis of
REBH EREZRHCA trade payables of the Group as at the reporting date, based
SEEZ S EMNRERRK DTN on the invoice dates, is as follows:
T
2023 2022
F#ET FAET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
0-30H 0-30 days 29,790 53,237
31-60H 31-60 days 14,213 23,999
61-90H 61-90 days 5,270 7,718
90H M Over 90 days 26,406 21,641
75,679 106,595




Annual Report 2023 “F #f;
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B8R FRHizE

For the year ended 30 June 2023
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=+ BESEMNREH 30. TRADE PAYABLES/OTHER PAYABLES
il FE 11 SR 18 R FE =t AND ACCRUALS (continued)
&R @
Hin et RIEBEATIER : Other payables included the following items:
2023 2022
F#ET FEIT
HK$000 HK$'000
He REMRE Rental and other deposits 7,696 4,253
FERRES Retention payables 19,758 18,476
JEEraE Accrued liabilities 19,965 18,877
Fth & < R IE * Other payables* 23,621 16,310
71,040 57,916
* Hit BN RIEEZIRENE * Other payables mainly represent staff costs and
TAAN R R AN o construction cost payables.
B S FENRIE - MR FRIER Trade payables, other payables and accruals are short term
Bt ERREEME At = in nature and hence, the directors consider the carrying
ERAEFHENFIAE  HMER amount of trade payables, other payables and accruals
FEREFTERAREEEREEAT approximate to their fair values.
BEE-
=t— GHIAR 31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
2023 2022
F#ET FEITL
HKS$'000 HK$°000

HEEMEAZAKNBAME Contract liabilities arising from
sale of goods 354 268

N
-
ul
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N
(@)}

=t+— GHIEER @ 31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)
HESNBESTE AT FE Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
AR contract liabilities are as follows:
HEEm Sale of goods
AEBEFRHEE A 2B TET Certain deposit the Group receives on sale of goods remains
e NMBEHARK BEEESET as a contract liability until such time as the work completed
Pk TERBBZ © R A Lk to date outweighs it.
BHREEZEE Movement in contract liabilities
2023 2022
FET TBT
HK$'000 HK$000
FHEEER Balance as at beginning of the year 268 720
AHBERNREYZEH  Decrease in contract liabilities as a result
BENFRNERR of recognising revenue during the
Wz o 2 year that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the year (268) (720)
BHRRBAEBELEESM Increase in contract liabilities as a result
AN of billing in advance 354 268
FREEH Balance at end of the year 354 268
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32. BANK LOANS

RITEREESFE 2O : The analysis of the carrying amount of bank loans is as
follows:
2023 2022
F#ET FEr
HK$'000 HK$'000
mEAaE Current liabilities
R—FREHEEZ Portion of bank loans due for repayment
RITERED within one year
—BER — Guaranteed 15,000 15,000
— B R A ER — Secured and guaranteed 126,029 750,396
141,029 765,396
R—F &I BAEERE Portion of bank loans due for repayment
BEBRERER after one year which contain a repayable
B2 RITERE H on demand clause
— BN AER — Secured and guaranteed 713,358 119,225
854,387 884,621
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
R—F I HEEZ Portion of bank loans due for repayment
RITERHBH after one year
— BN A ER — Secured and guaranteed 203,990 142,800
RZTZ=FA=1+H R17 At 30 June 2023, the bank loans were scheduled to repay as
BERZEFREMRET follows:
2023 2022
F#ET FET
HK$000 HK$'000
|ITER: Bank loans:
AR —FRNEE Repayable within one year 141,029 765,396
ARE_FEE Repayable in the second year 240,694 219,179
BRE=ZFERF Repayable in the third to fifth year,
(BREEREMF)EER inclusive 676,654 42,846
1,058,377 1,027,421

N
-
~
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=+=- {RITEX © 32. BANK LOANS (continued)

N
(0]

M BIAR R T E 2 518l
BREHREE B AFHERM
BMEBERERGX 2 E -

R-E-_=FA=1+H &%
BB EZRITEREER
#t%1,036,213,000/ 7T (==
— —%:998,962,000/8 )
HITE B (BRI ER

@ AKEBHRBHEMED
2,078,100 ooo,%

The amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements and ignore the effect
of any repayment on demand clause.

At 30 June 2023, the Group's bank loans facilities
denominated in HK$ of HK$1,036,213,000 (2022:
HK$998,962,000) were secured/guaranteed by the
followings:

(a)

legal charges over the Group’'s investment
properties with carrying values of approximately

T (=& = = HK$2,078,100,000 (2022: HK$2,092,900,000) (note
2,092,900 000,%%.571)2 16);

HEWHE(HE+N) 2

JEER

by AEEBEE@TFELY
4,006,000 8 (==
— — 4 :5,387,000/% 7T )
2 BB & (K
Htm) 2 EERR:

(© XN &£ B R EEBE D
2,244,000 T (=&
— =% :2,424,000/5
TL) 2 EREEE (M
+8) ZEAERRL:

 AEEEK@ELY
657,777,000/ 75 (=&
— — % : 632,485,000/
To) 2 BEE R Y (K e
W) AT

(e) AR A)RIEESIREZEFT
éiﬁ%lh,34o,260,ooo
BrL(ZZ = =
1,506,920,000/8 7T) &
211,300,000 T (=&
— — 4 :241,800,0008
D WA/NGIE L

f  ARFREEEZHBA
Az BB

legal charges over the Group's property, plant
and equipment (note 14) with net carrying
values of approximately HK$4,006,000 (2022:
HK$5,387,000);

legal charges over the Group's right-of-use assets
(note 15) with carrying values of approximately
HK$2,244,000 (2022: HK$2,424,000);

legal charges over the Group's properties under
development with carrying values of approximately
HK$657,777,000 (2022: HK$632,485,000) (note
24);

corporate guarantees of HK$1,340,260,000 (2022:
HK$1,506,920,000) and HK$211,300,000 (2022:
HK$241,800,000) executed by the Company and
non-controlling interests respectively;

ordinary shares of an indirectly owned subsidiary of
the Company;
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=+= - RITEX @ 32. BANK LOANS (continued)
(99 AEHEESZEEEYFE A (9  assignment of rental income of investment
WA R properties of the Group; and

(hy AEEERBRTYEZ
HEMSHR

RZZEZ=F~A=+H &
SEUAETFHECRITIERSE
B/ &2,829,000% T (HER
22,164,000 L) (ZE ==
% :3,627,000% T (HER

(h) assignment of sale proceeds of properties under
development of the Group.

At 30 June 2023, the Group's bank loan facility
denominated in US$ of US$2,829,000 (equivalent to
HK$22,164,000) (2022: US$3,627,000 (equivalent
to HK$28,459,000)) was secured/guaranteed by the
followings:

28,459,000/8 ) )i [N %IJE H
TEHRIR HEIR -

@ AKEBEAEFEY (@)
1,843,000 T (=&
— — % :1,568,000/% 7T )
ZWE -BERZE (M
HA) ZEERR

legal charges over the Group's property, plant
and equipment (note 14) with net carrying
values of approximately HK$1,843,000 (2022:
HK$1,568,000);

(b) AN 8,291,000/ T (b)

—Z = =4 :8,300,000
BIL)CEREE (H
=+ /1) 59,122,000
BIL(ZEZZF:
63,166,000/ 7T ) Z
FE(MHE=-+AR)R
18,398,000 L (=&
— —4F 140,794,000/
TL) 2 B 5 W sRIE (K
HFo TN R

Intangible assets of HK$8,291,000 (note 18) (2022:
HK$8,300,000), inventories of HK$59,122,000 (note
25) (2022: HK$63,166,000) and trade receivables of
HK$18,398,000 (note 26) (2022: HK$40,794,000)
of the Group; and

(©) ARAFERN 731,342,800 (0
BL(ZFZZ4F:
31,388,000/ 7T ) A &) ¥
fRo

corporate guarantees of HK$31,342,800 (2022:
HK$31,388,000) executed by the Company.

N
—
O
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N
(e)

=+=- {RITEX © 32. BANK LOANS (continued)

_I_

REBUBTHEZRITER
1,036,213,0008 L (ZF = =
£ : 998,962,000/ 7T ) M LAZETT
FHEZ R1TER22,164,00075 7T
(=% — — £ :28,459,000/5 7T )

LR FHFFENT1.86% =2
825% (ZE__F:121%%

The bank loans of the Group denominated in HK$ of
HK$1,036,213,000 (2022: HK$998,962,000) and US$
in the equivalent amount of HK$22,164,000 (2022:
HK$28,459,000) have floating interest rates ranging from
1.86% t0 8.25% (2022: 1.21% to 4.75%) per annum.

4.75% ) °
= HE&AaRE 33. LEASE LIABILITIES
EAREEAN As lessee

REERELERE AEER
ii| E%fl#ﬂ#ﬁl&ﬁ%ﬁﬂ%ﬁ
H)—REER A E T EARR - M E AR T
ERIEER - BB 2 T RIENK
R g o T8 & 1 5 I 4 1 hF 1]

Bk o any covenants.

The Group leases various offices and plants in the
jurisdictions from which it operates. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose

AEBARKEENRZBENT

The present value of future lease payments of the Group's

R leases are analysed as:
2023 2022
FET FHETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
ik L) Current 4,179 4,168
EME Non-current 12,111 11,550
16,290 15,718
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=+= #HEEH/ @ 33. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)
ERAMBA (&) As lessee (continued)
AEEREEBFELEHEAR Recondiliation of the Group's leases liabilities arising from
ZEER financing activities:
FET
HK$'000
R_FE_—%tHA—H As at 1 July 2021 19,329
NE Addition 1,407
FIE R Interest expenses 782
HER® Lease payments (5,242)
HESH= Remeasurement of lease (228)
bE W A Exchange realignment (330)
MRIZFEZZENA=+H Asat30June 2022 and 1 July 2022
EZE"_"_H#+tHA—H 15,718
NE Addition 5,089
FERX Interest expenses 692
HERRK Lease payments (5,303)
PE 32 Exchange realignment 94
RZEFEZ=ZFBA=1+H Asat30June 2023 16,290

No
N
—
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N
N

=+=- - HE&aE @» 33. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)
EREMEA (&) As lessee (continued)
AEEHE (TEERBHEER The future lease payments of the Group’s leases (excluding
REEHRE) 2ARBENKZ short-term and low value leases) were schedule to repay as
EBEREBRLOT: follows:
RIEHE MK & FlE
Minimum
lease
payments Principal Interest
FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

MRZEZ=F7XA=-1H As at 30 June 2023

TER—F No later than one year 4,179 4,902 (723)

—EMF One year to two years 8,730 9,495 (765)
EBRMEETERAST Later than two years but not later

than five years 3,381 3,503 (122)

16,290 17,900 (1,610)

MRZEZZHFXAZ=1H As at 30 June 2022

TER—F No later than one year 4,168 4,783 615)
—EMF One year to two years 2,707 3,184 (477)
ERMEETERAST Later than two years but not later

than five years 7,713 8,408 (695)
BN AT Later than five years 1,130 1,142 (12)

15,718 17,517 (1,799)
RZZBZ=F R A=THZEE The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
SRR RERCHEAEME or implicit interest rate applied to lease liabilities recognised
Rz A AN IE EEE T in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30
EBEEMNERLETF5.84% (= June 2023 is 5.84% (2022: 5.00%) per annum.
T _%:500%) °
=+m - EAIEEEE 34. DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING
IH INTERESTS

ENFIEAEER e RTE The amounts due are unsecured, interest free and not
RARTZEAANEE- repayable within the next twelve months.
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=158 - FEFRBA R 35. DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES
|
2023 2022
F#E T FET
HK$000 HK$'000
mENEE Current liabilities
iRl NGTE ] Due to related companies (note (a))
(MI5E@)) 8,859 6,877
EREaE Non-current liabilities
JE <t BA B A B FRIE Due to related companies (note (b))
(HI5ED)) 27,987 32,624
Mt - Notes:

(a)

RZEZ=FR A=+
H BB A& RIE
6,867,000 T (=& = =
4 16,877,000 7t ) A K
AR % B H & Pacific
Islands Company Limited ( &
RARBMITEEREZ £ E
A ) SIERBIREREE

R—ZBE-_=ZF~A=+
=[N J?‘Eﬁfﬁ % N A B IE
1,992,000 L (ZE ==
£F 12,344,000/ 7T ) /4 H 4K
e B Eh A EIMNT
BEREEZAERAR ([1E
] ANRRHITESEH /)
LT (ZE-_—F :FiE
TAEFEEBAS)R
751,615,000 C (=& ==
11,758,000 L) R =T
—mERA=-_+RH(Z
T —F: T _NFHA
—+NA) I HEERER
IMHERBENERES
AR (BARRMITES
BN ZE (ZEZZF:
FR1E L) # A ) 5K 7E377,000
T (== = =4 : 410,000
/%TE)EA_Y_P_I]EP_I]H
—+—B(ZZE==F: =%
ZE@™A=—+—H)F|H
Big-

As at 30 June 2023, the amounts due to related companies
of HK$6,867,000 (2022: HK$6,877,000) were unsecured,
interest-free, which is an amount due to Pacific Islands
Company Limited, which was owned by Mr. Chan Wai Lap,
an executive director of the Company, and repayable on
demand.

As at 30 June 2023, the amounts due to related companies
of HK$1,992,000 (2022: HK$2,344,000) were unsecured
and interest-free, of Which an amount due to E N
BHREEZABRAA ([MBH]), which Ms. Cheng
Siu Yin, Shirley (2022. Dr. Chan), an executive director
of the Company was a key management personnel,
of HK$1,615,000 (2022: HK$1,758,000) was due for
repayment on 26 May 2024 (2022: 26 May 2024), and
amount due to JTF9 @5z B F i E R AR A R, which
was owned by Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley (2022: Dr. Chan),
an executive director of the Company, of HK$377,000
(2022:HK$410,000) was due for repayment on 21 April
2024 (2022: 21 April 2024).

N
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N
D

+E -

F& 71 B BSE 2 B X
" #)

R-_ZE_=FA=+8"
ENEMNEREZIERA
Al (BNt (===
FRIGL)BEFZEBA
8 )7 18538,0008 T (=&
— — 4 :586,000/87T) & &
BH 2ERER-_T_N
FLtAZ+=ZH(ZT==
FZTOFELA=F =
H)EE-

RZT_—_F+=-A—H8"
ENERREASEARE
27,250,000T 2 BB H E &
Exr—_T_F+—HA=+
H o WLERBKEIRES - AR
REBE-—Z-_=F A=+
HIEFEEEZRRKE
1,293,0008 L - R=_F ==
FRA=TH ENEAR
18 7 BR T & ¥E27,449,000/%
TL Iy {E R T35 A E4.75%
FE REER RERNZ
T_ME+—HA=1+HBEH
B

35. DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES (continuec)

As at 30 June 2023, the amounts due to EMEHE 5
BBRAF of HK$538,000 (2022: HK$586,000), which
Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley (2022: Dr. Chan) was a key
management personnel, were unsecured, interest-free and
repayment on 22 July 2024 (2022: 22 July 2024).

On 1 December 2022, the maturity date of the principal
amount of amount due to 8% of RMB27,250,000 was
renewed to 30 November 2024. This constitutes a debt
modification resulting a gain of HK$1,293,000 recognised
in profit or loss during the year ended 30 June 2023. As at
30 June 2023, the carrying amount of amount due to [E#f
of HK$27,449,000 was calculated using a market interest
rate of 4.75% per annum is unsecured, interest-free and
due for the repayment on 30 November 2024.

N ERREREZ 36. LOAN FROM A CONTROLLING
&N SHAREHOLDER
2023 2022
FET FET
HKS$'000 HK$000
mEafE Current liabilities
TR R IR M 2 B Loan from a controlling shareholder 4,306 =
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
ERRERE R 2 ERK Loan from a controlling shareholder — 4,686
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=177 ERRERMHMZ 36. LOAN FROM A CONTROLLING
B @ SHAREHOLDER (continued)
RZBE-_=F~A=+H % As at 30 June 2023, a loan of RMB4,000,000 (equivalent
NEZT(ZEZ_F - KRE to HK$4,306,000) (2022: RMB4,000,000 (equivalent to
1) 2+ —% AR %4,000,0007T HK$4,686,000)) is advanced from Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley
(¥BZ£1724,306,000870) (=& (2022: Dr. Chan) and is unsecured, interest-free and due for
——&F: AR#4,000,0007T (18 repayment on 25 October 2023 (2022: 25 October 2023).
% 704,686,000 ) ) Z B
ZERAEER 2B RN=F
=+ HAZt+HRBA(ZE=Z=
FZE-=F+A=+HH)
BIHAEAE -
=+t BEHE (B 37. DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES
E) /af&
UTERREBHREERZEE The following are major deferred tax (assets)/liabilities
EERIE(EE) BE AR recognised at the reporting date and the movements during
REAFERNGEFE 2 & the current and prior years:
ERY: T
Rits Lt
ERENR
231 ¥4 g ik Hity
ATEAE BIEHE HIEEE REEEE st
Fair value
adjustment
on property,
plant and
equipment,
land use Accelerated
rights, and tax  Provision for  Other timing
mining right  depreciation receivables difference Total
FET FET FET FET FET
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000
RZEZ—$tH—HZ#&# Balance at 1July 2021 130,556 (190) (2,475) - 127,891
Rk Exchange realignment (3,145) - - - (3,145)
A FRE M EE Credited to profit or loss
for the year (20,533) - - - (20,533)
RZZEZZHXA=+HE  Balance at 30 June 2022
ZE-"5tHA—HZ&H  and1luly 2022 106,878 (190) (2,475) - 104,213
BB AR Exchange realignment (8,638) - - = (8,638)
MEFEN&F| S EE Charged to profit or loss
for the year 5614 4,624 1,705 390 12,333
R-ZEZ=£5xH=tH Balance at 30 June 2023
ZHEh 103,854 4,434 (770) 390 107,908

No
N
ul
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=+t EZEHE (& 37.
E) &t w

TIRBEZEHRET 2 EER
REMBIRRARIIR :

DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES

(continued)

The following amounts, determined after appropriate
offsetting, are shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position:

2023 2022

FiET FET

HK$°000 HK$'000

FEEHIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 108,931 106,941
EIEFLIBE B Deferred tax assets (1,023) (2,728)
107,908 104,213

N E B ABHEBEBREBLY
309,016,000 L (=& = =
£ 1 269,906,000 7T ) * ;% ZH B
BEEAAREEELEZSE
B2 RAZARRERT & F
ER N AABEHR KRR IE R @
A HEAZE RS ARIEE
B AT ARZEEESA
BREHEEE RABAKRES
101,830,000 L (=& = =
£ :101,279,000/8 7T) R E =
T N\F(ZEZ=F: =T
—tF) (BEZF)2TRAB
BAZIER - E fth R B) AT I ES 1R 7]
IR H A58 o

The Group has tax losses of approximately HK$309,016,000
(2022: HK$269,906,000) that are available for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies which
incurred the losses. Deferred tax assets have not been
utilised in respect of these losses as it is not probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which these
unused tax losses can be utilised. Unused tax losses of
HK$101,830,000 (2022: HK$101,279,000) will expire in
various dates up to and including 2028 (2022: 2027). Other
unused tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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=+/\ - B’RE

ERTEBRARFRZ SN

38.

SHARE CAPITAL

The movements in the issued ordinary share capital during

e the year are as follows:
LEREE FiERT
Number of
ordinary
shares HKS$'000
BERITERHR: Issued and fully paid:
R-ZE-__FXA=1H" At 30 June 2022,
T FEA-BAK 1 July 2022 and 30 June 2023
—E-=FXA=+H 683,118,258 560,673

=t RE-FEBR
RE

A

EEERNFERNEFEZ B
g CUVEEL)iISTR=Y S P

E I

H it i s PR L O B B 12 ) 2 RSN
R an S AN 2 (B BRI I SR 2
e BEA MR R R
FEEHEE G CEERAREM
BELZER-

R Bl R HE L B A SR B — TRt
BRAETHES WA R ERD
SIS E A IRE b E
HEERBEME 2 Z58-

39.

RESERVES — GROUP AND COMPANY

Group

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Other reserve represents the difference between the
consideration paid for the additional interests’ in the
subsidiaries and the non-controlling interest’s share of the
assets and liabilities reflected in the consolidated statement
of financial position at the dates of the acquisitions of the
non-controlling interests.

Special reserve represents the difference between the
consideration received for the disposal of certain Group's
interest in a subsidiary and the non-controlling interests’
share of assets and liabilities at the date of the disposal of
the non-controlling interests.

N
~
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=t RE-FEER 39. RESERVES — GROUP AND COMPANY
Y, /N=INE (continued)
PIN/NE| Company
BRERE TU2RGE HERKE BER @
Share Non- Capital
option  distributable  contribution Retained
reserve reserve reserve profits Total
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHT
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000
W-Z-—%+A—H2##% Balanceat 1July 2021 6,609 273,606 22236 1,230,918 1,533,369
ZE-FRERE (EET) 2021 final dividend
(note 10) - - - (13,662) (13,662)
BHEEAZRS Transactions with owners - - = (13,662) (13,662)
FREM Profit for the year - - - 13,275 13,275
FAZAKREE Total comprehensive
income for the year - - - 13,275 13,275

R=Z-—#A=+tHK Balance at 30 June 2022

Tt A-H2&R and 1 July 2022 6,609 273,606 22,236 1,230,531 1,532,982
ZECERERE () 2022 final dividend
(note 10) - - - (13,662) (13,662)
BREEAZRS Transactions with owners = = = (13,662) (13,662)
FRER Loss for the year - - - (34,672) (34,672)
EN2EWNEAE Total comprehensive
income for the year - - - (34,672) (34,672)

WZFEZ=FXHA=+HZ Balanceat

Fog- ] 30 June 2023 6,609 273,606 22,236 1,182,197 1,484,648
PR DI FEBER — L EE Non-distributable reserve represents the premium arising
RN EE @R 2 H{EREKk2.50 on the reduction of the par value of ordinary shares of the
S ICHIRE0.10/8 LT E & 2 % Company from HK$2.50 to HK$0.10 per share in 1994.
=0
B e DA S [EE (B R AR The capital contribution reserve represented deemed capital
AR R Y (B TS A W e B A BAR ME contribution arising from the gain on debt extinguishment
& o with controlling shareholders in prior years.
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M+ - EERR#ERTE) 40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

RAE 2 ERETE ([ ZF—
ZEHEDR=ZZE—ZF LA
T=ABEARRARRR =T
—ZEFFECBERAR/TF
WER—_E-_ZTF+HA+=H
BH-Elt XAFRERZZEZ
EE+ A+ _HEH—E
FTERES (2= F&
2o

—EFFEE

—ETFFHEZEEERA
—|T :
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The share option scheme of the Company (the “2010
Scheme”) was approved by the shareholders of the
Company on 13 July 2010. The 2010 Scheme would be
valid for a period of ten years and expired on 12 July 2020.
Therefore, the Company adopted a new share option
scheme on 22 December 2020 (the “2020 Scheme”).

2020 Scheme

The principal terms of the 2020 Scheme are as follows:

The board of directors (“Board”) may in its discretion, invite
any following eligible person (“2020 Eligible Persons”),
having regard to each person’s qualifications, skills,
background, experience, service records and/or contribution
or potential value to the relevant members of the Group, to
take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company:

(i) any employee (whether full time or part time), senior
executive or officer, manager, director (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-
executive director) of the Company; any of its
subsidiaries or any investee who, as determined by
the Board, have contributed or will contribute to the
growth and development of the Group.

The subscription price must be at least the highest of (i)
the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
offer of the option, which must be a business day; and (ii)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
offer of the option.
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40.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

2020 Scheme (continued)

The 2020 Eligible Persons must accept any such offer
notified to him or her within ten business days from the
offer date, failing which it shall be deemed to have been
declined. Upon acceptance of the offer, the grantee shall
pay HK$1 to the Company as consideration for the grant.
The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2020 Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company shall not, in aggregate
exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.
No option may be granted under the 2020 Scheme and
any other option schemes of the Company if such limit is
exceeded. If the Company conducts a share consolidation
or subdivision after the 10% limit has been approved by
the shareholders in general meeting, the maximum number
of shares that may be issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the 2020 Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company under the 10% limit as
a percentage of the total number of issued shares at the
date immediately before and after such consolidation or
subdivision shall be the same.

The option period shall be notified by the Board to each
grantee upon grant of each option, provided that it shall
commence on a date not earlier than the offer date and not
be more than ten years from the offer date.

During the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022, there is no
option granted under 2020 Scheme.
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M+ - EEEERE @ 40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
—Z-ZF5tE 2010 Scheme
—E-TFEFEAZEEZRRD The principal terms of the 2010 Scheme are as follows:
T
EFAMNEEBEA NIEE The Board may in its discretion, invite any following eligible
BAT(ZE—ZFEERA persons (“2010 Eligible Persons”) to take up the options to
THEZERENRERAQF subscribe for shares of the Company:
B -
(i) NAR) HEMMTEB AR (i) any employee (whether full time or part time), senior
AR IR E 2 M executive or officer, manager, director (including
EE (EwmeE2BakR executive, non-executive and independent non-
B) saRITHRAESE executive director) or consultant of the Company;
B LE - BEE(2EHR any of its subsidiaries or any investee who, as
17 3EE 1T R JE L IE determined by the Board, have contributed or will
fTES )RR iK% contribute to the growth and development of the
(FEEeET) BER Group; or
HEHAEE IR R
BRIEHER: 3L
(iy  EAIERET - (i) any investee.
REEELAR/UTZERE The subscription price must be at least the highest of (i)
(VAR FIROD REEAREZ A A & the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in
(MEREXR)EHRAEH the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
WMERMRWTE  REAR offer of the option, which must be a business day; and (ii)
AR N BB AR 2 40 B AR AT the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
FEEEBEBZMFARER stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
Bz SF T (E o the five business days immediately preceding the date of

offer of the option.
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40.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

2010 Scheme (continued)

The 2010 Eligible Persons must accept any such offer
notified to him or her within ten business days from the
offer date. Upon acceptance of the offer, the grantee shall
pay HK$1 to the Company as consideration for the grant.
The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the 2010 Scheme
must not in aggregate exceed (i) 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at the adoption date; or (ii) 30% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time.
The total number of shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted (including
both exercised and outstanding options) to each participant
in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the share
capital of the Company then in issue unless approved by the
shareholders of the Company in general meetings.

The option period shall be notified by the Board to each
grantee upon grant of each option, provided that it shall
commence on a date not earlier than the offer date and not
be more than ten years from the offer date.

Since 22 June 2020, there was no options granted under
2010 Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continueq)

Details of the outstanding share options under the 2010
Scheme held by the directors of the Company during the
years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

TTERBREZFBEWT

EhiEsR
Number of share options

REAA ik fileh BRIER RED  EmBY &Rl RER

At the Granted Exercised At the

Exercise price ~~ beginning during during end of
Name of grantee Date of grant Exercisable period persfhgrg of the year the year the year the year
T
HKS

03
e EREAATAR CE-BEAATARECRCMERATNA 1338 1000000 - - 1000000
Chan Wai Ke, Vick 19 June 2014 19 June 2014 to 18 June 2024
R E-RESATAR CE-MESATABEIRCMERATNR 133 1000000 - - 1000000
Chan Wai Lap, Victor 19 June 2014 19 June 2014 0 18 June 2024
EER TE-RELACHER ZE-MELACTRRECRRECAC{AA 121 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Wong Edward Gwon-hing 25 July 2014 25 July 201440 24 uly 2024
e “R-151ALH “E-RELAEAZCECRELANA 2451000000 - - 1000000
Chan Wai Ke, Vick Tuly 2015 7y 20150 6 July 2025
R E-RErALE ZE-RELAEAECECRELANA 25 1000000 - - 1000000
(Chan Wai Lap, Victor 7 July 2015 7 July 201510 6 July 2025
frER ZE-REtALH “E-RELATARCECRELANA 245 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Yam Tat Wing Tuly 2015 7y 20150 6 July 2025
#EfE ZE-REEALE ZE-RELAEAECECRELANA 25 1000000 - - 1000000
Wong Edward Gwon-hing 7 July 2015 7 July 201510 6 July 2025
e ENET-AZRE C3-AET-AZRECRET-AZE 149 1,000000 - - 1000000
Chan Wi Ke, Vicki 3 Novernber 2016 3 Novernber 2016 to 2 November 2026
R ENET-AZR ERET-AZRECRET-ACE 149 1000000 - - 1000000
(Chan Wai Lap, Victor 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 November 2026
R E-NET-AZRE C3-AET-AZRECRIET-AZE 149 1,000000 - - 1000000
Yam Tat Wing 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 Noverber 2026
2R ENET-AZR ERET-AZRECRET-ACE 149 1000000 - - 1000000
Wong Edward Gwon-hing 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 November 2026
KR ZECRESACTCR CECRESACTIRECRSREACT-B 05 1200000 - - 1200000
Other employees 22 June 2020 22 June 2020t 21 June 2030

12,200,000 - - 12200000

N
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40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

BhEzA
Number of share options
RS RitR% it BHITRE RE ERER ERAR REX
Mthe Granted Brercised At thef
Brercise price beginning during during endo
Name of grantee Date of grant Exerdisable perod per ;g?rg of he year the year the year the year
BT
HKS
PN
e “E-RERRTAR CE-BERRTARECRCRERATAR 138 1000000 - - 1000000
Chan Wai K, Vick 19 June 2014 19 June 2014 to 18 June 2024
e ZE-RERATAR CE-BERATARECRCRERATAA 1331000000 - - 1000000
Chan Wai Lap, Victor 19 June 2014 19 June 2014 to 18 June 2024
13 “E-REYAZTIR CE-MECACTRAECSCMECA-TAE 121 1000000 - - 1000000
Wong Edward Gwon-hing 25 July 2014 5 Ju\y 201410 24 July 2024
e il ds T-RECALAECRCRELAR 2451000000 - - 1000000
(Chan Wai Kei, Vick 7July 2015 1 July 201506 July 2025
e “E-RFtALA “E-RECARECZCRELANE 245 1000000 - - 1000000
(Chan Wai Lap, Victor 7July 2015 1 July 201506 July 2025
% il ds T-RECALAECRCRELAR 2451000000 - - 1000000
Yam Tat Wing 7July 2015 1 July 201506 July 2025
EER “E-RELALA TE-TFrAtARCRCRRLARA 245 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Wong Edward Gwon-hing 7 July 2015 1 July 201506 July 2025
e ZE-AET-AR ZE-ET-AAZCEIAET-ACH 149 1000000 - - 1000000
(Chan Wai Kei, Vick 3 Noverber 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 Novernber 2026
e “EREt-RZR 0 CERFT-RZRECRCAET-ACA 149 1000000 - - 1000000
(Chan Wai Lap, Victor 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 November 2026
% ZE-AET-AR ZE-ET-AAZCEIAET-ACH 149 1000000 - - 1000000
Yam Tat Wing 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 November 2026
13 “EREt-RZR 0 CERFT-RZRECRCAET-ACA 149 1000000 - - 1000000
Wong Edward Gwon-hing 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 November 2026
HihER SEIEERACTIR CECEENACTIREIECEENACT-A 05 1200000 - - 1200000
Other employegs 22 June 2020 22 June 202010 21 June 2030
12,200,000 - - 12,200,000

M AR 1T B IR i 2 ndE 1T
FEAEITBT(ZE==
1.67787T) + 1M 18 AR 1T {58 ff AR
Z I TR E B FEIR A3
F(ZEZZF:45) -

Weighted average exercise price of outstanding share
options is HK$1.67 (2022: HK$1.67) and the weighted
average remaining contractual life of outstanding share
options is approximately 3 years (2022: 4 years).
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M+— - K2R ZBHHR 41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
IS OF THE COMPANY
2023 2022
B it F#T FET
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
ERBEE Non-current assets
AL NG 3 Interests in subsidiaries 1,008,562 1,008,562
N EPNGIE ] Due from subsidiaries 849,759 827,551
1,858,321 1,836,113
REEE Current assets
TARTHRIE R e Rk Prepayments, deposits and
E i fE U FRIR other receivables 568 35
i DY ENE B Due from subsidiaries 560,363 585,326
ReERBEEEH Cash and cash equivalents 413 4,634
561,344 589,995
REAE Current liabilities
H At FE A5 R IR K Other payables and accruals
EstE& A (863) (996)
AR B A R FUIE Due to subsidiaries (373,311) (331,132)
TRIA R Provision for tax (170) (325)
(374,344) (332,453)
RHEEFE Net current assets 187,000 257,542
EEFE Net assets 2,045,321 2,093,655
W &= EQUITY
H}%K Share capital 38 560,673 560,673
(] Reserves 39 1,484,648 1,532,982
WA Total equity 2,045,321 2,093,655
REREEZ On behalf of the Board
R 12 3L Chan Wai Lap, Victor
EFE Director
B[ /)y 3o Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley
EFE Director

No
(99)
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m+=- MBAA 42. SUBSIDIARIES
RZZE_=FRA=+H FZE Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 30 June 2023
MEBAR BT : are as follows:

AL/ EfiREMR/

4 AMRBERE ERORARE FAREGEERNM IEXRH
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of paid-up Percentage of
registration and  registered/issued equity attributable
Name operations share capital to the Company Principal activities
B k3

Direct Indirect

Brangredi Limited 0 LRRIET - 100 HEEHES
Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Jewellery trading
NEAR AT & LRRIET - 100 HWxKE
Capital Luck Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
HRARAT &R LRRIET - 100 MERE
Charm Harvest Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
ERERAA & LRRIET - 100 HWxKE
Cheermax Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share of HK$1 Property investment
CJ. (UK) Limited* RE 1330BEREEIRE - 7519 KEEHHE
United Kingdom LBk Jewellery wholesaling
1,330 ordinary shares of
GBP1 each
ENERARAT &R Lak100% T - 100 #RES
Conti Diamond Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$100 Diamond trading
Continental Investment Company Limited ~ &7 LB 100,000/ 100 - REER
Hong Kong Ordinary shares of Investment holding
HK$100,000
ENXEESHARAA &R £11%10,000,000% T 100 - REEHRERLE
Continental Jewellery (Mfg.) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of Jewellery manufacturing
HK$10,000,000 and wholesaling
EMBERRAA A LRkET - 100 MERE
Continental Property Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$2 Property investment
Continental Universe Limited ABRAHS WRBHRAEIETZ 100 - REER
British Virgin LER Investment holding
Islands 2 ordinary shares of
US$1 each
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42. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

RMAL/ EfRRR/
% AMREBEHE ERORARE FAAEEEZRNM IEXRH
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of paid-up Percentage of
registration and  registered/issued equity attributable
Name operations share capital to the Company Principal activities
BE E3
Direct Indirect
CJUSALLC XN RE 1,005 REHE0OIXT - 100 HKEEHES
United States of pd 30 Jewellery trading
America 1,000 shares of
US$0.01 each
DCGS Management Service Limited BB £381%10,000,000% T = 100 REER/ REEE
Hong Kong Ordinary shares of oy
HK$10,000,000 Investment holding/
providing
management services
RAERERAA &b ERRIBT = 100 #MFERE
Daily Famous Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
EEREARAT &R LER500,000% T 100 - REER
Diamond Creation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of Investment holding
HK$500,000
EEERAA BB LRRIAT = 100 PERE
Diamond Bright Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
Equal Glory Limited EBRAEE/ \BEREHEIZETZ - 0 RERR/MERE
&b LER Investment holding/
British Virgin 10 ordinary shares of US$1 Property development
Islands/ each
Hong Kong
BRERERAR &R LERIET - 100 #MxEE
Fortune Success International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
Golden Creation Jewellery Limited 0 TiBR1,000,0055 7T - 100 HEEHES
Hong Kong Ordinary shares of Jewellery trading
HK$1,000,005
BX(PE)ARAT A LR - 100 #ERE
Huge Sky (China) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
HERRAR &R ERRIET - 100 #EKE
Keen Mind Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment

No
w
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42. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

AMHL/ EHERR/
& AMRLENE BEORARSE FAEEEEENE  FEEH
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of paid-up Percentage of
registration and  registered/issued equity attributable
Name operations share capital to the Company Principal activities
Ef &
Direct Indirect
BHERARAT &b LakIAT - 100 MERE
Lucky Key International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
Master Gold Development Ltd. RBREUES 1REREEIZTL - 100 ®EZR
British Virgin Liak Investment holding
Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1
each
B2 (RE)BRAA i ERRIET - 100 MERE
Max Creation (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
Novell Enterprises Inc. * FHNEARE 1,000 SR EE0.01% T - 100 KEEHHEREE
United States of bl 30 Jewellery manufacturing
America 1,000 shares of US$0.01 and selling of jewelry
each
Ontrack Ventures Limited EBRAES 100RBRAEIZTZ - 75 RAER
British Virgin Lk Investment holding
Islands 100 ordinary share of
US$1 each
RERERRAT &R LRRIET - 5 MERE
Pacific Gate Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
Patford Company Limited B E381%10,00057T - 100 MERE
Hong Kong Ordinary shares of Property investment
HK$10,000
Realford Company Limited Bk E3B3%10,0007T - 100 WERE
Hong Kong Ordinary shares of Property investment
HK$10,000
ERLXERAT BB £1%10,000% T - 0 NERERE
Rich Dragon Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share of Property development
HK$10,000
RRERERAH &b LaRIAT - 100 REAK
Top Grace International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Investment holding
EFARERAT B LRRIET - 100 RmfmEs
Top Label International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$ 1 Trading of food and
beverages
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42. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

RMAL/ EfRRR/
% AMREBEHE ERORARE FAEEREENE  FEER
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of paid-up Percentage of
registration and  registered/issued equity attributable
Name operations share capital to the Company Principal activities
BE E3
Direct Indirect
BRERARA BB LRRIBT - 100 PERE
Wealthy Joy Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
5 (BE)BRAF &k LERIBT - 100 WF*RE
Well Power (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$ 1 Property investment
BERERRAR BB LRRIBT - 0 NEER
Well Century Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property development
BHEEARAA &R LERIET - 100 WEHE
Wise Capital Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property development
AR\ TRRERAA hE AR BARKRA - 100 FREREFBRERE
Mainland China 21,000,000% 70 Mining and exploration
Paid up capital of of mineral reserves
US$21,000,000
I EVHREERAR" LGP BARRAARK = 100 KESHZE
Mainland China 18,605,04075 Jewellery retailing
Paid up capital of
RMB18,605,040
BARKE (IF) BB AR AR B#RBA - 100 HREEHMHRE
Mainland China 35,000,000 ¢ Jewellery manufacturing
Paid up capital of
HK$35,000,000
& G E NG Rl e N i Wholly foreign-owned enterprise registered in the

P
: BREFEAR-—ABRESR
NEE -

Mainland China.

A

Limited liability company — joint venture between domestic

investors and Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau investors.

N
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m+=- MBAR @ 42. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

H

* FREBLEEE SR
BRARRABRILEES
Hp 8 AR B- %5k
B ERRERIME QR
FEEREGLASEFEE
HBEHR2% °

%@ RZEZ—F+A=+N
H - AEEE-—FBAEAL
R —IHERGZE ABAAE
AKEARE ZEEENH
J& 2 @Novell Enterprises Inc.
(TNovell 1) 15% 2 B 317 &
BATEINE BAR - AN 3%
FTE IR AR B =R
HtWEEHEE R —T——
F+—ARAZK-RTMK
1& - Novell T 5 IR #E A AR &S
A - MNovell ik AR AR Z
ZEWBAR -

BEERR LRANNARRZH
BRAEEFEFRREIAMNX
AEBEEFEZBRNID &
ERA RHUEMMBAR ZFF
FeERREBBNILE -

R =FR_F-—FXA
=1+8  MEBRAGEEIEITEM
B

FFEHI R

NARHEETS% (ZE ==
75% ) ¥ 7= 2 [} B 2 & Ontrack
Ventures LimitedB525% 2 & X
FEPEfiER - EHASEN S B
BN -FTEEMASENWIFES
100% 7 23 2 MY /88 22 7] 2 FE#E
BEWRBTERK-

* Not audited by BDO Limited or other BDO member firms.
The aggregate net assets of these subsidiaries not audited
by BDO amounted to approximately 2% of the Group's
total net assets.

g On 29 October 2021, the Group entered into a stock
purchase agreement with a connected person in relation
to the acquisition of 15% of the issued and outstanding
shares of the common stock of Novell Enterprises
Inc. (“Novell”) (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company). Having satisfied all the terms and conditions
of the Agreement, the acquisition was completed on 5
November 2021. After completion, all the shareholding
of Novell was owned by the Group and Novell became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

As at 30 June 2023 and 2022, none of the subsidiaries had
issued any debt securities.

Non-controlling interests

Ontrack Ventures Limited, a 75% (2022: 75%) owned
subsidiary of the Company, has material non-controlling
interests of 25% which is material to the Group. The
non-controlling interests of all other subsidiaries that are
not 100% owned by the Group are considered to be
immaterial.
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TGRS (&) Non-controlling interests (continued)
A BOntrack Ventures Limited & Summarised financial information in relation to Ontrack
H2BMBARSERERRA Ventures limited and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Pacific
BN E N BB S AT < BT TS & R Gate Investment Limited, before intra-group elimination, is
MEBZFNWT presented below:
2023 2022
F#T FETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
HEANAZTHILSEE For the year ended 30 June
Wz Revenue 7,580 =
FR(E8), %5 (Loss)/Profit for the year (55,784) 99,174
FREEW=ETE Total comprehensive income
for the year (55,784) 99,174
SELFIEZESIEZE 2 (BE) (Loss)/Profit allocated to
Ve vl non-controlling interests (13,946) 24,794
HEANAZTHILEE For the year ended 30 June
KEFEHMACRERE Cash flows used in operating
activities (14,320) (62,162)
KEEMAZEERE Cash flows used in investing activities (13,669) (115,623)
BMEEBEACRESRE Cash flow generated from
financing activities 22,753 112,615
WE ML FRE Net cash outflows (5,236) (65,170)
RANA=+H At 30 June
FERENE E Non-current assets 1,813,672 1,827,000
MENEE Current assets 5,257 7,203
nBaE Current liabilities (874,960) (837,607)
ERBEE Non-current liabilities (75,545) (72,388)
BEFE Net assets 868,424 924,208
ZETIEE R Accumulated non-controlling
interests 217,106 231,052
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43. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At reporting date, the Group had outstanding capital

ARAEGEWT ¢ commitments as follows:
2023 2022
F#ET FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI B R B : Contracted but not provided for:
"EYZE Investment properties 15,858 48,667

m+m - AE%H
fER A

RZZBZ=FA=TH A&
ERBEHEELRHHAE TYE
(ME+75) &K% 2 H
AB=F -ZEHETRERANR
o AKBEEREBEBPFIV 2
TABEHEE 2 KRR EFE
WRTE R B BB R

44, LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

As lessor

As at 30 June 2023, the Group leases certain properties
(note 16) under lease arrangements, with lease negotiated
for a term of three years. None of the leases include
contingent rentals. The Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under non-cancellable leases with its
tenants falling due as follows:

2023 2022

F#ET FAET

HK$000 HK$ 000

—F R Within one year 22,201 8,169
—FREMFERN After one year but within two years 19,359 3,031
MERBRB=FRA After two years but within three years 8,972 1,487
50,532 12,687
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m+% - FBAXS 45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

BRZNER & BA 5 R 3R M 2B 9 P Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial

BEIN AEBRFANBEILT statements, during the year, the Group entered into the

SIRARE TR 5 © following related party transactions.

@ REEZZ-_=%XH (@  During the year ended 30 June 2023, imputed
=tBHIEEE X&E interest expenses of HK$1,293,000 (2022:
HEMN—FRE/NERL HK$1,407,000) were incurred from amount due to
T(ZZEZZF:FE a related company of which is wholly-owned by Ms.
T)E2EHAB Z2B@E A Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley (2022: Dr. Chan).

RIZHBEEERENE
21,293,000 7t (=

T = Z%:1,407,000/%
JT) °
by FEEBEASHE (b)  Compensation of key management personnel
SFAREBIRAXCEE Included in employee benefit expenses are key
EEABREREIE management personnel compensation and comprise
B : the following:
2023 2022
FiET BT
HKS$°000 HK$000
A E ST Short term employee benefits 9,315 9,960
B2 A Post-employment benefits 295 327
9,610 10,287

[N)
J=
W
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H

m+4 -

HAEAX S &)

RZB-_=F A=+
H - & IE % i 1 25 K
BERERE—SEMN—H
HES /i £ R RES
EEWB BB AR Z
X IE63,529,0005 7T (=
T — — 4:28,575,000/8
TL) °

B RAMT D + T (a) K2 (o) 2 BRES
RBIER EMHRAE HHAE

TR ECRERS -
M+ EERES B
YL F4

Kz

BRME=+h =+ EO+H

(@)K (c

P EEE N A A

B ARBHBERAREZER
RINARRIESEHRIMERE
THEEBEARGZZEMEARAR
5 RHHAH TEEMNERH
R RHFAAHNTFE-

45.

46.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(c) As at 30 June 2023, included in due to non-
controlling interests, an amount of HK$63,529,000
(2022: HK$28,575,000), was due to a related
company which is owned by Ms. Cheng Siu Yin,
Shirley and Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor.

The related party transaction in respect of notes 45(a) and
(c) also constitute connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

MATERIAL INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

Except as disclosed in notes 35, 36, 45(a) and (c), no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, were entered
into or subsisted during the financial year.
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M+t MEEFHEEZ 47. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
BEYHER ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
TREFMRNEEREEBEE 2 The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
BEZEY pRRERIFReH from financing activities, including both cash and non-
FopERBELAZABIIHIR cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
BRARREMEERNER Z4R liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
EHRERERTHEARETEE be, classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash
EZHEREZEE flows from financing activities.
1 R EftaE BRRE [ GEZEE]
ARFE RITER TERE REZER BETE ARER
Due to Loan from a Due to
related Amount due to controlling  non-controlling Lease
companies Bank loans joint ventures shareholder interests liabilities
FET FET FET FET FET FET
HKS 000 HKs 000 HKs 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
(M#E=1%) (fE=1+2) (HE=+=) (fE=17) (HE=+m) (KE=1=)
(note 35) (note 32) (note 22) (note 36) (note 34) (note 33)
R=B--£tA-H At1 July 2021 40236 836,210 1,03 4802 48785 19,329

Changes from cash flows:

Advance from non-controlling interests - - - - 7490 -
RELFBR Advance from joint ventures - - - = = =
BRFE* Interest paid* - (14,778) - - - -
MERTER New bank loans - 598,786 - - - =
RERTER Repayment of bank loans = (407,815) = = = =
BEREEE RS Repayment of principal amount of
ease liabilities - - - - - (5,242)
MEREHEEDAR Total changes from financing cash flows - 176,193 - - 7,490 (5,242)
B A% Exchange realignment (735) 240 - (116) - (330)
ENiEHE Remeasurement of lease - - - - - (228)
SLIEN—EBBAFEEH  Gain on debt modification on amounts due to
[ pdlE: a related company (1,407) = = = = =
Hip 2. Other changes:
HEEE Addition of new lease - - - - - 1,407
MERX Interest expenses 1,407 14,778 - - = 782
H#Han Total other changes 1,407 14,778 - - - 2,189

o
N
[l
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47. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES (continued)

M+t BEEFHEEZ

BEHER @

PN
fox)

JEf1 B Eft&E BRERE s
AARE RITHF LERE Rt HH RENE BEAE
Due to Loan from a Due to
related Amount due to controlling  non-controlling Lease
companies Bank loans joint ventures shareholder interests liabilities
FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT FET
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
(Fa=t%) (H&#=12) (HE=12) (=) (H=+m) (H@=+=)
(note 35) (note 32) (note 22) (note 36) (note 34) (note 33)
RIFZZENAZTAR At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022
ZF_Z%tR-H 39,501 1,027,421 1,036 4,686 56,275 15,718
ReReRy: Changes from cash flows:
FETIERETN Advance from non-controlling interests - - - - 7,254 -
BAFIS* Interest paid* - (44,064) - - = =
MERTER New bank loans - 1,145,015 - - - -
BEBTER Repayment of bank loans - (1,114,018) - - - -
BEEEEEZASRAE Repayment of principal and interest amount
of lease liabilities - - - - - (5,303)
HERETEEDAR Total changes from financing cash flows - (13,067) - - 7,254 (5,303)
E5HE Exchange realignment (2,655) (1) = (380) = 94
SUEF—HBBATZUEEH  Gain on debt modification on amounts due to
B Ka a related company (1,293) - - = = =
Hip 2. Other changes:
HERE Addition of new lease - - - - - 5,089
FER% Interest expenses 1,293 44,064 - - - 692
Hit#sER Total other changes 1,293 44,064 - - - 5,781
RZEZZ£XR=+H At 30 June 2023 36,846 1,058,377 1,036 4,306 63,529 16,290
*

* EREEED TGRS

MER

Included as operating activities in the consolidated
statement of cash flows
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m+)\ - BB EREIEE 48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

BRREBR

AEEZETEZESRTABRER
AEE EHBRETET A

TRITAE REHBR=EAK
L2 ERER BNERERER
I8 B 5 e WA - E Al R YR
B RERBRLFH BEHEN
RIA B EMARBEREFE
A RITER B SRR Gl
TRIA - FE T BREE & B FRIA - A
BREHZERRBERE %
FER TR ZFBREMMER
B-mAZEeMTAGHE AR
PR AR % 5 B 2 BURBR T
X-EEEREERERZER
B& - DARE{R A6 38 05 J A A HETT

EEE -

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
investments, debt investments, derivatives, financia
instruments, time deposit with original maturities over
three months, amounts due to joint ventures, trade
receivables, other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
trade payables, other payables and accruals, bank loans,
amounts due to non-controlling interests, amounts due to
related companies, loan from a controlling shareholder and
lease liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. Management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

N
i}
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]

m—+/\ -

48.1

M EREER
BREBUR (@)

THREERESREEER

HFEMBIRRAKRAZIZ
RESBESRATERE
ERTBBEEHN-F2
BIMEE3. 14X TR T
A7 BRI B EREER

e

48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.1 Categories of financial assets and financial
liabilities

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position relate to the
following categories of financial assets and financial
liabilities. See note 3.14 for explanations about how
the category of financial instruments affects their
subsequent measurement.

2023 2022
F#ET FET
HK$'000 HK$°000
EREE Financial assets
ERBEE Non-current assets
A AFEET AEA Financial assets at fair value
ZHKRZEHEE through other comprehensive
income 24,492 34,630
AT ERAERZ Financial assets at fair value
TRLEE through profit or loss 10,048 10,860
MBEE Current assets

UAFEFABREZ
TREE

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 6,854 3,887

AT EAREMEE Financial assets at fair value
Wtz & mEE through other comprehensive
income 2,308 =
RESHK AT EZ Financial assets at amortised costs:
— & 5 WA — Trade receivables 64,591 108,755
— H b FE R IR — Other receivables 6,380 6,988
—REBABEE=EA — Time deposit with original
A E 27 E BB maturities over three months 6,406 -
—-RekReER — Cash and cash equivalents 90,695 144,008
168,072 259,751
211,774 309,128
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m+/)\ ~ BHEREEH 48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
BRBEK (@) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
481 ZRIEERTHEEER 48.1 Categories of financial assets and financial
(%) liabilities (continued)
2023 2022
FET FHEIT
HK$000 HK$'000
SHMEE Financial liabilities
il B=Ri Current liabilities
AT ERFAERZ Financial liabilities at fair value
AR through profit or loss (18) =
REHKATEZ Financial liabilities measured at
CRIBE: amortised cost:
— B G ENRIA — Trade payables (75,679) (106,595)
— E fth FE AT 3RIE K% — Other payables and accruals
fEstE R (71,040) (57,916)
—IRITER — Bank loans (854,387) (884,621)
o L NG — Due to related companies (8,859) (6,877)
—PERARER IR 2 B — Loan from a controlling
shareholder (4,306) -
—ERAEEDERIE — Due to joint ventures (1,036) (1,036)
(1,015,325) (1,057,045)
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
R HK AT EZ Financial liabilities measured at
PRIBE: amortised cost:
—IRITER — Bank loans (203,990) (142,800)
— e B HS A B 3R IR — Due to related companies (27,987) (32,624)
T%%%kﬁZfﬁ — Loan from a controlling
shareholder - (4,686)
—FERT IR 5K IR — Due to non-controlling interests (63,529) (56,275)
(295,506) (236,385)
(1,310,831) (1,293,430)

N
JE
\\e)
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m—+/\ -

48.2

M EREER
BREBUR (@)

™% E

(i) SMEEBR

SN L i R S 6 B
REHMENEMT
ERXRKBEEREZ
RFELRRSZ
R -AEETEE
T EE EEK
B KPR X
ERRBORH A
BT R R
MRk AREFER
BE-DARBERSE
TEIEZEREER
TR B B E IR
BRkE - mMARER
ETREZERX S
A ciN Y e
MBARZWEEE
K- REBZINER
REBEXREE TSR
TA BREARFE
SFARMEZEREZ
THMEE EHEW
FIE AR FEFA
BRceBMEE R
ERREFENES
ENFE ZEFTLA
AT BT # 8
KINTTaHE R &% F
FERN AEEYTE
SN E PR IR
HEREERINER

&5 o
AA

48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.2 Market risk

(@

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that
the fair value of future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, UK,
US and the Mainland China with most of
the transactions denominated and settled
in HK$, United States dollars (“US$"),
British Pounds (“GBP"), Canadian Dollars
("CAD") and RMB. No foreign currency
risk has been identified for the financial
assets and financial liabilities denominated
in RMB and US$, which are the functional
currencies of the subsidiaries in the Mainland
China and US respectively to which these
transactions relate. The Group's exposure
to foreign currency risk primarily arises
from certain financial instruments including
financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, trade receivables,
financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, cash and cash equivalents and trade
payables which are denominated in US$,
Euro, GBP and CAD. During the years, the
Group did not have foreign currency hedging
policy but management continuously
monitors the foreign exchange exposure.
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48.2

M EREER 48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
& =

%&Eﬁﬁﬁ (&) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

his Ak (&) 48.2 Market risk (continued)

() srEERE () () Foreign currency risk (continued)
THREMN T _= The following table summarises the
FRZFZZFRA Group’s major financial assets and liabilities
= +THUREAEEF denominated in currencies other than the
DA WNCIE IV functional currency of the Group’s respective
I BEEFTEZ RS companies as at 30 June 2023 and 2022.
FEEREERE
f& o

T & TR
Expressed in HK$'000
e B B i
Us$ Euro GBP CAD
RZEZ=Z%3H=1tH At30June 2023
UAFE AL Financial assets at fair value
PENECEREE through other comprehensive
income 6,734 - - 1,508
B S WA Trade receivables 32,718 - - 131
UAFEFABRZLZ Financial asset at fair value
CREE through profit or loss 13,947 = = =
ReRkReEm Cash and cash equivalents 60,655 54 75 709
2 oM Trade payables (42,056) - = =
BEREAR Overall net exposure 71,998 54 75 2,348
RIZZZF7A=1H  At30June 2022
MAFE AL Financial assets at fair value
PENECEREE through other comprehensive
income 13,692 - - 1,354
B S EWIE Trade receivables 41,739 - - 501
UAFEGABELZ Financial assets at fair value
cREE through profit or loss 10,883 = = =
ReRReEH Cash and cash equivalents 80,188 108 13,484 1,034
B EMNFE Trade payables (38,342) (550) = =
BEEER Overall net exposure 108,160 (442) 13,484 2,889

N
Ul
—
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HEZT-_=FA=1+HLFE
m+/\ - BFEREEE 48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
BREKR @) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
48.2 TR (&) 48.2 Market risk (continued)
() SMERE R (&) (i) Foreign currency risk (continued)
B 7 3 T B2 T B As US$ is pegged to HK$, the Group does
8 WA S B TER = not expect any significant movements in
TABTZERTE the US$/HK$ exchange rates. No sensitivity
BAEEMENE analysis in respect of the Group’s financial
HREZERA E®W assets and liabilities denominated in US$ is
SHHETABETLZ disclosed as in the opinion of directors, such
PE &= B E) K - iR sensitivity analysis does not give additional
REEAERTFEZ value in view of insignificant movement in
TRIEEREBERER the US$/HK$ exchange rates as at reporting
2B E O I date. The following table indicates the
REEINMEE - B approximate change in the Group’s (loss)/
ERBEZERRED profit for the year and equity in response to
Mo &R B TREER reasonably possible changes in the foreign
¥ HEIARE B A exchange rates to which the Group has
ZEARRR 2 N E significant exposure at the reporting date.
K7 AIEA e
REBZFER (BE)
/?ﬁ?’iﬂ&ﬁé*
|2 BRI
2023 2022
BEEE EABR BE EEX  FRE7 &
L%/ B/ #m/ R/ Eh/ #h/
(%) (Em)  (HY) (T’ GBd)  (RD)
Increase/  Decrease/ Increase/  Increase/
(Decrease)  (Increase) (Decrease) ~ (decrease)
in foreign in Increase/ in foreign in Increase/
exchange  loss for (Decrease) exchange  profitfor  (decrease)
rates  theyear in equity rates  theyear  inequity
FéT  FET AT FET
HKS000  HK$000 HKS000  HK$000
BT Euro +5% 3 3 +5% (22) (22)
5% @) @ 5% 2 )
ES GBP +5% 4 4 +5% 674 674
5% (@ @  S% 6w (e
Jillyw CAD +5% 4 117 +5% 77 144
-5% (42) (117) -5% (77) (144)
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48.2

M EKREIER
ERER &)

miSEE (F)

() sMEEE (&)

Br EatEIN REE
RZZEZ=ZF~A
= THFEEZHEDHE
RETELMI A
(fE=Z+E@)Z
AZETTRTEZINE R
HEeEHm-REEA -
ZEAHBNRELE
Bt 2 FER
ARRETEHEE
JLER B 7 SN B
iEIR

TRETREMBEM
BB TEZIBN
AEBEARITESE
TRAR 2 INERE R
ZEIERIRERE) - F A
(B18), 8 Fm &

48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.2 Market risk (continued)

()

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Other than the above, the Group held
several foreign currency forward contracts
denominated in USD which were recognised
as derivative financial instruments (note
27(c)) as at 30 June 2023. Upon the maturity
dates, these contracts will be settled in GBP.
Accordingly, the fair value and the future
cash flow will fluctuate because of the
change in the foreign currencies of USD and
GBP.

The following table indicates the
approximate effect on the (loss)/profit for
the year in response to reasonably possible
changes in the foreign exchange rates, with
all other variables held constant, to which
the Group has exposure in respect of the
derivative financial instruments at the end

R BERE E) - EITH, of each reporting period. The appreciation

REZEEAERE and depreciation of 5% in USD exchange

B5% B EHRE rate against GBP represents management’s

B ANB[E 3R 2 & 18 assessment of a reasonably possible change

AIREE B 2 AT A o in currency exchange rate over the reporting
periods.

2023 2022

F#ET FAT

HK$'000 HK$°000

FHES% Appreciation by 5% 1 1

B2(B5% Depreciation by 5% (1) (1

N
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BRREE DI T B
ER RS B
3 B % T A L e
Wi 35 T T A E o

FT5IS B IR E R E T
EONEEEREET
—EEERE BB
HFATRe R 2 A1

#eh

=8 e

AEBEEBEFEN
K—BHETEEING
Rk 2 B - R A
ZEBRE M

B8RSR

BERRRTEANET
HERER (XK
HSNEETE R B B) BR AN )
MERSMITARTF
B ARRBERE L
RB) 2 B AN &
BEXxZsRERNEGE
BUAATEFAEAM
2HER AR FE
FFAEZE 2 EWR
AEH LHEHFR
BEEGHR 2 RE X
XEXRAR - EFE
AREFRETRR
fpEaE ¥R IR EHE
SR E A NI A
ERERZELH R
% o N &= B W MR R
7 oo B A B B o

48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.2 Market risk (continued)

(@

(ir)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign
exchange rates had occurred at the reporting
dates and that all other variables remain
constant.

The stated changes represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes in
foreign exchange rates over the period until
the next annual reporting date.

The policies to manage foreign currency risk
have been followed by the Group since prior
years and are considered to be effective.

Price risk

Price risk related to the risk that the fair
values or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of change
in market price (other than changes in
interest rate and foreign exchange rate).
The Group is exposed to price risk primarily
through its investments in listed equity
securities, listed bonds and investment funds
which are classified as at fair value through
other comprehensive income or fair value
through profit or loss. The board of directors
manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risk
and return profiles and will consider hedging
the risk exposure should the need arise. The
Group is not exposed to commodity price
risk.
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M)\ - EAFFERREEH 48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
%&Eﬁ% (%) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
48.2 TR (&) 48.2 Market risk (continued)

(i) EEEER (&) (ii) Price risk (continued)
R—ZE_=FA At 30 June 2023, if prices had increased by
=+ B WEKLH 10% (2022: 10%) and all other variables
10% (=B = —F: were held constant:
10% ) i FT 8 £ fib &

BrerrT& Al

- RNEEZF - the Group's (loss)/profit for the
W (& E) year would decrease/increase by
/o F i R approximately HK$1,299,000 (2022:
LA HK$1,472,000). This is mainly due to
1,299,000/8 the changes in investment fund and
T(ZE == listed equity securities included in the
% :1,472,000 Group's financial assets at fair value
BIL)  EE through profit or loss; and
EHBERETAR
SENUARATE
FABmE
MEEZRE
ARk LW
REHHIRE
BTG &

N
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HEZZ-—FA=1THILFE
m+/)\ ~ BFBEREREH 48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
BRBUR (@) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
48.2 ThiZzER (&) 48.2 Market risk (continued)
(i) BrEELRE (&) (i) Price risk (continued)

— NEE 2 - the Group's equity other than
(fR B % A B retained profits would increase
HN) #8318 A0 49 by approximately HK$2,666,000
2,666,000/8 (2022: HK$3,449,000) as a result
T(ZE== of the changes in fair value of listed
4 : 3,449,000 equity investments and listed bonds
BIT) v Uk T3 included in the Group’s financial
HRETARE assets at fair value through other
B AR FEEF comprehensive income.
AH b 2 H K
mEREE
Z LR A&
ERLETES
ZRAFEELR
BEFTE -

RZZEZ=FRA At 30 June 2023, if prices had decreased by

= R E AT B 10% (2022: 10%) and all other variables

10% _gii were held constant:

10% ) if P A A A &

HE T Al

- NEEZF - the Group’s (loss)/profit for the
W (& E) year would increase/decrease by

/i T % 15
m 4
1,299,000
T(ZZE ==
4 11,472,000
BIL) X E
= HERETAR
EBUATFE
ARz
BMEECIRE
Ee Kk ETR
N H IR
BFTEC &

approximately HK$1,299,000 (2022:
HK$1,472,000). This is mainly due to
the changes in investment fund and
listed equity securities included in the
Group's financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss; and



Annual Report 2023 “F #f;
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B8R FRHizE

For the year ended 30 June 2023
HE_Z-_=F A=1THILFE

m+/\ - BFEREER 48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
%&Eﬁ% (&) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
48.2 TR (&) 48.2 Market risk (continued)
(i) BE1EELE (E) (i) Price risk (continued)
- REE 2w - the Group's equity other than
(fR B8 & A B retained profits would decrease by
AN) 75 R A 49 approximately HK$2,666,000 (2022:
2,666,000/8 HK$3,449,000) as a result of the
T(ZE == changes in fair value of listed equity
F 1 3,449,000 investments included in the Group's
BIL) Ty financial assets at fair value through
BRETARE other comprehensive income.
AR FEE
AE A 2
Wl B REE
Z LR A&
BZRAFES
WEBFTE -
LSRR E D AT TR & This sensitivity analysis has been determined
R4 BB H IR B R assuming that the price change had occurred
FEMEE WEE at the reporting dates and has been applied
RAEXREERZAZ to the Group’s investment on that date.
BE o
REEEBEFHELU The policies to manage price risk have been
R—EHETEERBR followed by the Group since prior years and
Bz B E WRA are considered to be effective.
ZEBWEAR

N
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M EREER
BREBUR (@)

miSEE (F)

(iii) 7 /22

5 B T3 B B
BHEEDHERS
MIAATELR
SRELBED A
e TR T AES
5 B 7 4 0 0 )
BER T8I
BEAREEHAT
EREAR -

ATEFERS

NEEZ AFEF=E
EREZHIAFE
FTAEMEE WS
PREETNZ ETWE
FIRE ([FE=+=)
6,734,000 T (=&
— —%:13,692,000
BIt) KA R FER
ABw 2 FRE (KM
L=+ 1) 3,899,000
BIL(ZEZZF:

BB -AEER
I 3 48 A B £
RoERMBER XA
HIAgHBEEANE
ER N ET /NS
BENERREHTE
HEQAFEBREKR
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.2 Market risk (continued)

(iir)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that
the fair value or cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. Floating interest rate
instruments will result in the Group facing
the risk of changes in market interest rate,
and fixed interest rate instruments will result
in the Group’s fair value interest rate risk.

Fair value interest rate risk

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates
primarily to investments in listed bonds
under financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income (note 23) of
HK$6,734,000 (2022: HK$13,692,000)
and certificate of deposits under fair
value through profit or loss (note 27) of
HK$3,899,000 (2022: Nil). The Group
currently does not have a fair value hedging
policy. The Group's fair value interest rate risk
exposure is not expected to have a significant
impact on its fair value given the changes of
the underlying interest rate is not expected to
be material.
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M)\ - EAFFERREEH 48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
%&Eﬁ% (%) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
48.2 TR (&) 48.2 Market risk (continued)
(i) FI| =R/ R (42) (i) Interest rate risk (continued)

R nENXER

REBKAT 2%
B b EERERT
B ARIBITER
RBRWITEHKIAF
BRH BEREE
ARZIE S REFE
[E\ B o P 3R 5 B HA A
REEBRITERZH
KR EEARAME
=t-®E

ZA S BN
KGR - AT
ERESERNERE
B XN A T ER
ZRE HMEBAN KM

LA
ST}
ZoN

o

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk
primarily arising from bank balances and
bank loans. Majority of the bank loans are
arranged at variable rates which expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The
interest rates and repayment terms of the
bank loans outstanding at reporting dates
are disclosed in note 32.

The Group currently does not have an
interest rate hedging policy. However,
management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise.

N
O
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m+)\ - BB EREIEE 48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
ERBK &) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
482 TigEKE (&) 48.2 Market risk (continued)
(iii) Tz e (48 ) (i) Interest rate risk (continued)

Baengr=amk
(%)

TRBMAB F YR
i FER(ER), &
I R AR B i ) 4 3R
+1001E £ 25 &% —100
BEZE(ZT ==
F: 4100EE B K —
1001EIEE 2 ) FI| == &

2 BRRE TR
AEER S HE HE
BE ZIRITEHR KA
Efﬁﬁiéfk(;i‘?@
MEZE)FTE A
HL i %Mﬁ%?“o

Cash flow interest rate risk (continued)

The following table illustrates the sensitivity
of the (loss)/profit for the year and retained
profits to a change in interest rates of +100
basis point and —100 basis point (2022:
+100 basis point and =100 basis point) with
effect from the beginning of the year. The
calculations are based on the Group’s bank
balances and interest-bearing bank loans
held at each reporting date which are subject
to variable interest rates. All other variables
are held constant.

2023 2022
F#ET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
i ) 2& = F1 OOTI%% If interest rates were 100 basis
T point (2022: 100 basis point)
1001E &5, ) higher
FAN(BERFE), Net (loss)/profit for the year
R0, K increased/decreased and
IR 8 v ARk retained profits decreased by (7,704) 1,467
i ) 2= T 2k 1 OO{I%% If interest rates were 100 basis
—ET=-= point (2022: 100 basis point)
1001 2h) lower
FRN(EEFRE),/ Net (loss)/profit for the year
LR K decreased/increased and
RE A A2 N retained profits increased by 7,704 1,467

AEEEREFEN
K—EETERF =X
R 2 R WA
AEBRE M

The policies to manage interest rate risk have
been followed by the Group since prior years
are considered to be effective.
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.3 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty
to a financial instrument would fail to discharge
its obligation under the terms of the financial
instruments and cause a financial loss to the
Group. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
senior management compiles the credit and risk
management policies, to approve credit limits and
to determine any debt recovery action on those
delinquent receivables. As at 30 June 2023, the
carrying amount of these financial assets as disclosed
in note 48.1 best represents the maximum exposure
to credit risk. The Group's exposure to credit risk
mainly arises from granting credit to customers in

the ordinary course of its business.

The Group continuously monitors defaults of
customers and other counterparties, identified
either individually or by group, and incorporates
this information into its credit risk controls.
Where available at reasonable cost, external
credit ratings and/or reports on customers and
other counterparties are obtained and used. The
Group’s policy is to deal only with creditworthy
counterparties. The credit policy has been followed

by the Group since prior years.

N
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ERBER &) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
483 fERMK (&) 48.3 Credit risk (continued)

E g IE BRI % M EE

B 5 R RIA

AEBEBAERNEEST
BREREEERENS
B(ERABRBREMEGE
TEE 5 RUGTURR R R
B AAKEHBEEE
BREERLERTTIRE
FowBEREENER
RS BUZB A REET E
MEBIRREIBEANEE
TREFERZEHE—FE

4N o

7]

T%&ﬁﬁﬁ$%§&:
T =FRITDFRN
H7+EMT%E%-

FrEER 2 =5 R % &ﬁ%

Financial assets with credit risk exposure

Trade receivables

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As
the Group's historical credit loss experience does
not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.

The following table provides information about the
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables as at 30 June 2023 and 2022:

FEEEBBEZER:

TR R E BREAE BEEEE
Gross

R-ZEZZ=F Expected loss carrying Loss
~B=+H As at 30 June 2023 rate amount allowance
(%) FiET F#ET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BREA Current 0.00% 31,005 -
# 510-30H 0-30 days past due 8.11% 24,650 2,001
#1H31-60H 31-60 days past due 12.90% 7,374 951
#1H161-90H 61-90 days past due 14.25% 3,494 498
#1HA91-180 8 91-180 days past due 16.08% 1,692 272
#1H181-365H 181-365 days past due 73.97% 315 233
#HA365H LA £ Over 365 days past due 99.53% 3,438 3,422
71,968 7,377
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M)\ - EAFFERREEH 48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
%&Eﬁ% (%) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
483 f=ERRK (&) 48.3 Credit risk (continued)
E 1= B B % 2 Financial assets with credit risk exposure (continued)
(#&)
B S EWGRIE (&) Trade receivables (continued)

BHBRKLE PR AR ER AR

P - 2 Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss
NA=TH As at 30 June 2022 rate amount allowance
(%) FET FAET
HK$000 HK$'000
B HA Current 0.00% 62,890 =
# Hi0-30H 0-30 days past due 0.21% 26,881 56
# Hi31-60H 31-60 days past due 0.55% 12,098 67
#18961-90H 61-90 days past due 18.54% 4,724 876
# H191-180H 91-180 days past due 44.65% 3,234 1,444
#HA181-365H 181-365 days past due 48.19% 1,380 665
B HA365H A Over 365 days past due 96.31% 17,824 17,168
129,031 20,276
TEARIE R EABEEF 2 Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
BEREBRER AR Z experience over the few years. These rates are
ERAESELRAE AU adjusted to reflect differences between economic
R SR 5 EUR AR 2 conditions during the period over which the historic
BBARD ~ B RTAR S IA K data has been collected, current conditions and
N E S RN RIB TR EATE the Group's view of economic conditions over the
BHRNEBERA B2 2 expected lives of the receivables.
BP0

N
()]
W
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BHREBEREREZ
#ZgHmT:

48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.3 Credit risk (continued)

Financial assets with credit risk exposure (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The movement in the provision for impairment of
trade receivables is as follows:

2023 2022

F#T FET

HK$'000 HK$'000

RE) 2 &R Balance at the beginning of the year 20,276 45,852
B HERR R B E5 18 ] Reversal of impairment loss

(3.317) (1,738)

ArligElIMHE 2 4%  Amount written-off as uncollectible (9,647) (23,656)

P& 5 Exchange realignment 65 (182)

RER 2 sk Balance at the end of the year 7,377 20,276

AEE 2B 5 R M ER
AR an s EL M5 R 3
ARAEIE AR -

AR FIEGF AR M Z ETH
mZEHFTA

EHESTRABRFE
ERcBFIRT &
R TEEEMEFS
EABITEER T ik
5 OAKEBEHRTENRE
BZETHEEELTEXN
BEHEREER-

None of the Group’s trade receivables are secured by
collaterals or other credit enhancement.

Debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

The listed bonds are issued by counterparties with
sound credit rating and the directors does not expect
any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. In
this regard, the Group does not expect to incur
significant ECLs on managing these financial assets.
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AREBEMIZE KA
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& MR EEFER  REH
BR=EANEZEHF
TARBRE KRB EFR
mE AR EERRARE
BREE Bt REFEA
MR B REBRRY
REAEREEEE &
ERB BRYEF LM
BEREEARBERIT
BB BEAEER
ZEKIBE R

HREF L Z2ENRR
1K - B 3 £ {F {a] 78 89 3%
A BURBHEK AT EZ
H fib & U 5% 786,380,000
BT (ZT = ZF:
6,988,000/ T ) # 1% &
SERRIE - 2E5E8B 2
BAED &R EERN12(E
ATEHEEBE 2 8T
E-ARZEEH CTEH
FEEBESETA B
ERE R R

E fib & U 5} IE 1,468,000
BITEREZF  Eitt
ZETREEELREE
RE REE-T-—F
NA=Z+THIEFEEDE
i &5 38 B 181,468,000/
T BE_T —=FA
=+HIEFE BERE
SRIBEBH U - B
RIBESERE B R E R T
1,468,000/ T

48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.3 Credit risk (continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost of the Group include other receivables, time
deposits with original maturities over three months,
and cash and cash equivalents. In respect of time
deposits with original maturities over three months,
and cash and cash equivalents, since there is no
significant increase in credit risk, any loss allowance
recognised during the year is therefore limited
to 12-months ECLs. The directors consider the
probability of default is low on these balances since
the counterparties are financial institutions with high

credit rating or with good reputation.

Other receivables of HK$6,380,000 (2022:
HK$6,988,000) measured at amortised cost
are considered to have low credit risk as the
counterparties have a low risk of default and does
not have any past due amounts. Impairment on
these balances has been measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs. No loss allowance is
recognised as the amount of ECLs on these balances

is insignificant.

Other receivables of HK$1,468,000 had been
defaulted for years, and hence these financial assets
were credit impaired of which loss allowance of
HK$1,468,000 was made during the year ended 30
June 2022. During the year ended 30 June 2023,
the fully-impaired amounts had been fully recovered
and hence, there is a reversal of loss allowance of

HK$1,468,000 recognised in profit or loss.

N
ul
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.4 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk related to the risk that the Group will
not able to meet its obligation associated with
its financial liabilities. In the management of the
liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows
in the short and long term. Management monitors
the utilisation of bank loans and ensures compliance

with loan covenants.

The liquidity policies have been followed by the
Group since prior years and are considered to have

been effective in managing liquidity risk.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the reporting date of the Group's
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if
floating, based on rates current at the reporting
date) and the earliest date the Group can be

required to pay.

Specifically, for bank loans which contain a
repayment on demand clause which can be
exercised at the lender’s sole discretion, the analysis
shows the cash outflow based on the earliest period
in which the entity can be required to pay, that is if
the lenders were to invoke their unconditional rights

to call the loans with immediate effect.
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M EREER 48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
BRBUR (#) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
REELRRE (& 48.4 Liquidity risk (continued)
BHRET L —ENE
FEEE HENELE KREIXEE BIRWRE MEMN L
Total More than
contractual Within 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year oron lessthan ~ More than
amount cash flow demand 2 years 2 years
AT AT AT AT AT
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
RZFEZ=Z£XA=1+H As at 30 June 2023
FiTEERAR: Non-derivative
financial liabilities:
B HEMNFE Trade payables 75,679 75,679 75,679 - -
AR TIERENER Other payables and
accruals 71,040 71,040 71,040 - -
HEAE Lease liabilities 16,290 17,900 4,902 9,495 3,503
RITER Bank loans 1058377 1,084,015 867,206 216,809 -
ﬁﬂA“ﬁim Due to joint ventures 1,036 1,036 1,036 - -
NG Due to related
companies 36,846 36,846 8,859 27,987 -
FEFFEEHIER TR Due to non-controling
interests 63,529 63,529 - 63,529 -
BRRRERZER Loan from a controlling
shareholder 4,306 4,306 4,306 - -
1,327,103 1,354,351 1,033,028 317,820 3,503
RZBZZFXAZtH As at 30 June 2022
FiTEERER: Non-derivative
financial liabilities:
BoRNFE Trade payables 106,595 106,595 106,595 - -
EthENTIERE B Other payables and
accruals 57,916 57,916 57,916 - -
HERE Lease liabilities 15,718 17,517 4,783 3,184 9,550
RITER Bank loans 1,027,421 1,030,787 887,673 143,114 -
ﬁﬂA“ﬁﬁ Due to joint ventures 1,036 1,036 1,036 = =
E BB AR Due to related
companies 39,501 39,501 6,877 32,038 586
JER Al SR 3R Due to non-controlling
interests 56,275 56,275 - 56,275 -
ERRRRERZER Loan from a controlling
shareholder 4,686 4,686 - 4,686 -
1,309,148 1,314,313 1,064,830 239,297 10,136

N
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.4 Liquidity risk (continued)

The table that follows summarises the maturity
analysis of bank loans with a repayment on demand
clause based on agreed scheduled repayments set
out in the loan agreements. The amounts include
interest payments computed using contractual rates.
Taking into account the Group's financial position,
the directors do not consider that it is probable that
the bank and lender will exercise its discretion to
demand immediate repayment. The directors believe
that such bank loans will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements.

AR
REREEXAHEIMEREXEIRLRITER
Maturity analysis - Bank loans subject to repayment
on demand clause based on scheduled repayment dates

AHRER Lk —ENE
FOSE RENELE KREXEE BORRE MEME
Total
contractual Within 1 More than 1
Carrying undiscounted  yearoron year butless More than 2
amount cash flow demand  than 2 years years
AT AT AT AT AT
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
RZFZ=ZExAZ1H As at 30 June 2023
RITER Bank loans 1058377  1,145716 169,780 257,967 717,969
RZBZZERAZ+H As at 30 June 2022
RER Bank loans 1,027,421 1,057,532 782,764 222,198 52,570
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.5

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities
into three levels based on the relative reliability of
significant inputs used in measuring the fair value
of these financial assets and liabilities. The fair value
hierarchy has the following levels:

— Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets;

— Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are
observable for the instruments and
derivatives, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices); and

— Level 3: inputs for the instruments that are
not based on observable market
data (unobservable inputs).

N
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O



PPN

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m 4r'5

For the year ended 30 June 2023
BHE_Z_=—F A=1THILFE

PR ERAR FYRE

N
o

m—+/\ -

48.5

M EREER
BREBUR (@)

REFE RN RHER 2
DNFEFTE (&)

TRMEERBEABAZ
NHERBRER  TDER
HRFEAEABERE
EZREERBAEBEEE
EE - REEA MBI R
BAFEMAEZEREE
RBBERAHEREZSD
LCP U

48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.5 Fair value measurements recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position

(continued)

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which

the financial assets and liabilities is categorised in its

entirety is based on the lowest level of input that

is significant to the fair value measurement. The

financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

in the consolidated statement of financial position

are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

218 28 #3E @5t
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FET FET FAET FET
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000
(FizE@) (Pi7E()) (@)
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (c))
KRZEZ=£”"HA=1+H As at 30 June 2023
MWAFEFAEMEANE .  Financial assets at fair value
CREE through other comprehensive
income
—EBRB LT RARE - Listed equity investments in
Hong Kong 18,414 = = 18,414
—EHEM T ETZRARE - Listed equity investments in
elsewhere 1,508 - - 1,508
~HtiFIEETRARE - Unlisted equity investments in
elsewhere - 144 - 144
~EEB LM ER - Listed bonds in Hong Kong 2,266 - = 2,266
~HEM T FhZER - Listed bonds in elsewhere 4,468 - - 4,468
MATEFAERZZEREE  Finandial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
—EEE LWz AR — Listed equity securities in
Hong Kong 2,955 - - 2,955
—EBBZENE — Certificate of deposits in
Hong Kong - 3,899 - 3,899
-EEBREES ~ Investment fund in Hong Kong - 6,039 - 6,039
~EEpH  REES ~ Investment fund in elsewhere = 4,009 = 4,009
NAPEABZZEMEE  Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss
~TESRIA — Derivative financial instruments = (18) = (18)
29,611 14,073 - 43,684
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m+/)\ » BHEREREE 48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
BRER @) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
485 RiFEMERRERERZ 48.5 Fair value measurements recognised in the
AEEEE (&) consolidated statement of financial position
(continued)
$1E %28 F3E @t
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

AT THETL THETL AT
HK$000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS$T000
(K@)  (M&EG) (M)

(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (c))
RZZE-—#5xA=1H As at 30 June 2022
NAFEGAZMEENEE  Finandal assets at fair value
CREE through other comprehensive

income
—EBEB LMz RARE - Listed equity investments in

Hong Kong 19,440 = = 19,440
—EEMT ETZRARE - Listed equity investments in

elsewhere 1,354 - - 1,354
— Ak EMRATRE - Unlisted equity investments in

elsewhere - 144 - 144
~EEB LM ER - Listed bonds in Hong Kong 2,353 - = 2,353
~TEM T FTZER - Listed bonds in elsewhere 11,339 = = 11,339
MATEFFABZZERBEE  Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss
—ERE LWz BAES — Listed equity securities in

Hong Kong 3,864 - - 3,864
—EEBZREES - Investment fund in Hong Kong - 6,992 = 6,992
~EHEM A REES — Investment fund in elsewhere = 3,868 = 3,868
—TEERTA - Derivative financial instruments = 23 = 23

38,350 11,027 - 49,377
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

48.5

Fair value measurements recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position

(continued)

The methods and valuation techniques used for

the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged

compared to the previous reporting periods.

Notes:

(a)

Fair values of listed equity securities and listed
bonds have been determined by reference to their
market prices at the reporting date and have been
translated using the spot foreign currency rates at
the end of the reporting period where appropriate.

The fair value of the unlisted investment fund
is the share of the net assets value of the funds
which has been determined with reference to
the fair value of the underlying financial assets
and liabilities at the end of the reporting period.
The fair value of unlisted equity investments and
derivative financial instruments are determined
directly or indirectly based on valuation techniques
with market observable inputs including
observable market data. The fair value of the
certificate of deposits have been determined by
the quote market prices of the financial institution
at the reporting date.

Financial assets classified in Level 3 use valuation
technique based on significant inputs that are not
based on observable market data. The Group does
not have any financial assets classified in Level 3
during and as at the end of the reporting period.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value

measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no

transfers into or out of Level 3 (2022: Level 3).
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HE_Z-_=F A=1THILFE

M+ - EFEE 49. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
REEEREB HEB R AR The primary objective of the Group’s capital management
REFRECEETREERL is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and
A HHEBRGKRRER healthy ratios in order to support its business and maximise
RAZ&ER- shareholders’ value.
AEETEEHEERER WEE The Group manages its capital structure and makes
AR B ENE TR - BHERE adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
o} AR E AR NEE A AR conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
MR REIRS 2] E - mREE Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
BERNBEITHRGD -RNAFE return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
MBEFE AEEMEESE changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
B BUEREAR T o during the current and previous years.
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m+h - EXERE @

AEBERMEEABL R (AE
TE % RR R DARE 25 SRR AN (B TR OF
B)ERER - BHRFBINERE
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MRS MRS ERE - ARE
SEREEAGBLRERNAIE
KFE-BERS NEERRE
Bz EERBLRERNEHE
KF-RBERMEEREL

49,

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debts divided by total equity plus net debts. Net debts
are calculated as the sum of bank loans less cash and cash
equivalents as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The Group aims to maintain the gearing
ratio at a reasonable level and the directors are of the
opinion that the Group’s gearing ratio was maintained at
reasonable level at the reporting date. The gearing ratios as
at the reporting date were as follows:

KT
2023 2022
F#ET FAET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
N %15 Current liabilities
RITE K Bank loans 854,387 884,621
EARTA Z D IE Due to joint ventures 1,036 1,036
HEAE Lease liabilities 4,179 4,168
&~ BEHSE 2 B 30R Due to related companies 8,859 6,877
Hxﬂxﬁ}mﬁizgﬁ Loan from a controlling shareholder 4,306 =
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
RITERK Bank loans 203,990 142,800
HERG Lease liabilities 12,111 11,550
JE1S BB A A IE Due to related companies 27,987 32,624
FEH#? %‘JTE i Due to non-controlling interests 63,529 56,275
2 R IR BR AR Z% Loan from a controlling shareholder - 4,686
BIRAAE Total debts 1,180,384 1,144,637
BIRERFASFRUR Less: Cash and cash equivalents and time
REEEA=@EAL L deposit with original maturities
Z EHTFR over three months (97,101) (144,008)
BIRFRE Net debts 1,083,283 1,000,629
b Total equity 2,285,933 2,446,366
ERBEERERFR Total equity and net debts 3,369,216 3,446,995
EEERBILE Gearing ratio 32.15% 29.03%
I+ #EMFHRE 50. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL

BE_ZT_=—FAA=THLF
BiFafBHRRen_—T =
FARAZ T+ RBEERIAET

o

STATEMENTS

September 2023.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30
June 2023 were approved for issue by the directors on 26
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FRIERRZME

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

Lyl S 3]
RS it 3 BapRER agEER AR ikt THER Ef
Estimated Attributable
Approximate approximate Stage of interest of
Lot No. Location sitearea  gross floorarea  Use Lease Term completion Completion date the Group
(F548) (F51)
(g ft) sqft)
MNRERBRELI96%A B CRRBE hERDBEEET TA ORIAK 3,240 29147 BEREE ki EETREN 90%
HNEFLEENTHA B CRRBEMUR  Nos.7,7A, 9and 94, Commercial and ~ Medium Fitout works in progress
FNERNEE21987A B CRRH#B Cheung Wah Street, residential
Section A, B, C and the remaining portion of Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon
New Kowloon Inland lot 2196, Section A, B, C
and the remaining portion of New Kowloon
Inland lot 2197, and section A, B, C and the
remaining portion of Inland Lot No. 2198.
NEERIERF20975F HER AR RHE 57 B Bt LR R E7164-164A%: 5,054 5210 f#FE i REETH 100%
(&) Nos 164-164A Boundary Street, Residential Medium Planning in progress
The Remaining Portion of Section H and Sub-section Kowloon City, Kowloon
5 of Section H of Kowloon Inland Lot No. 2097
(the “Lots")
BEEREZYE PROPERTIES HELD FOR INVESTMENT
KK
k=g ik itz RE HEH
Attributable
interest of
Lot No. Location the Group  Use Lease Term
LEDHHER 1205 53689 AB R CEY HATHABIL AR RREEAR 100%  Hi# ]
Section A and section C of Lot no 3689 in D.D. 120 O 1012 - 1142 - 1248 - 1388 - 1588 Rental Medium
1618~ 1712 - 1912 - 201 2118 2218
9/F, 10/F, 11/F, 12/F, 13/F, 15/F, 16/F,
17/F, 19/F, 20/F, 21/F and 22/F,
Glassview Commercial Building,
No. 65 Castle Peak Road,
Yuen Long, New Territories
NEBE MR EBAOFIR K NELRBREE-1ARRREE 100%  ©# F
NERE B BA0RHE S D5 185 sliE Lah O = H1iEP= Rental Medium
Section | of Kowloon Marine lot No. 40 and Unit P 1st Floor, Kaiser Estate 3rd Phase,
sub-section 1 of section H of Kowloon Marine lot No. 40 Nos. 9 - 11A Hok Yuen Street,
No. 18 Man Lok Street,
Hung Hom, Kowloon
NERER 10429 HE - LEEAME NERDEHEE1-23REEEBT 100% 7 ]
F104325 BRER R NEE MR 1043158 A B, AFE RBHAIAR Rental Medium
The remaining portion of Kowloon Inland lot No. 10429, —BAZHRRDE
the remaining portion of Kowloon Inland ot No. 10432 and  Shops A & B on the G/F and
the remaining portion of Kowloon Inland lot No. 10431 Office Ato Hon 1/
Hart Avenue Court,
19-23 Hart Avenue,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon
1B M ER 5 12455 BRER BB ETEFIE232% 75% A =8
The remaining portion of Marine Lot no. 124 232 Wan Chai Road, Wan Chai, Rental Long
Hong Kong
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AEEBEREAPBRFEZFEARE
E - BENIFEHIREHME (RRE1EE
ERMEERMBHRER XEEH (W
MR )EIIT - BRI T EKER
BB M B mR . — &0 e

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-

controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as

extracted from the respective published audited financial statements

and restated as appropriate, is set out as below. This summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

=
E 4 RESULTS
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
FHET FETL FETL FETL FET FET
HKS$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
e Revenue 455,608 603,926 536,267 420,315 440,967 391,882
BRETER AT (E518) /5 F (LossWprofit before income tax (102,908) 18,157 22,310 (13,673) 26,424 429,833
FiEE (%) /Ea Income tax (expense)/credit (12,501) 20,305 11,959 (4,209) 22,188 (75,078)
FR (BR) /5 (Loss)/profit for the year (115,409) 38,462 34,269 (17,882) 48,612 354,755
JEE s Non-controlling interests 17,123 (26,320) (14,384) 2,541 (4,933) 4
AREHE AR Net (loss)/profit attributable to the
(Bi) /WHFE owners of the Company (98,286) 12,142 19,885 (15,341) 43,679 354,759
% = oo =%
EE - AERIEEHERS ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
FHET FATL FATL FATL FATL FETL
HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
BEE Total assets 3724643 3865024 3718277 3456478 3475287 3474725
BafE Total liabilities (1,438,710)  (1,418,658)  (1,271,769)  (1,090,203)  (1,052,856)  (1,230,442)
IR Non-controlling interests (206,196) (223,201) (202,257) (186,692) (183,638) 6,402
2,079,737 2223165 2,244,251 2179583 2238793 2,250,685
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